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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

EREHRE

To Shareholders,

On behalf of Xinyang Maojian Group Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased
to present the annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively,
the “Group”) for the year ended 30 June 2021 (the “Year”).

FINANCIAL RESULTS

During the Year, the Group recorded a loss of approximately HK$460 million.
The Group also recorded a loss attributable to the owners of the Company
of approximately HK$450 million, representing an increase of 27% compared
with that of the last financial year. The increase was due to further provision
for litigation. For the Year, the Group recorded a revenue of approximately
HK$229 million, representing an increase of 18% compared with that of
the last financial year. The increase in revenue was mainly derived from the
increase in revenue of the calcium carbide segment (the “CC segment”).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The calcium carbide production division is in the recovering trend. The
operation of Heihe Longjiang Chemical Company Limited (the “Longjiang
Chemical”) is on the right track. It was believed that the Longjiang Chemical
will become profitable because of increase selling price of calcium carbide
has been outweighed by the increase in its production cost.

In the heat and power division, although the heat supplying areas was
maintained at around 4,000,000 square meters, the profitability of the
heat and power division has been influenced by the costly raw coal price.
Our management will closely review the internal policies to reduce energy
consumption and avoid wastage.

In the construction services division, due to the effect of COVID-19 and the
travelling restriction were imposed in Mudanjiang City, the Group construction
services had been suspended. Our management will closely monitor the
market conditions of the construction services.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
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PROSPECT

Looking forward, our management is closely monitoring the market conditions
and investigating the possibility in the resumption of the lower stream
operation as well as the polyvinyl-chloride and vinyl acetate production lines.
Aiming to improve the profit margin of Longjiang Chemical, the management
is optimizing the internal control, the production lines and the production
procedures.

Our management is seeking for opportunity to carry out new projects
and transactions which could bring economic value and benefit to our
shareholders.

GRATITUDE

On behalf of the Company, | would like to express my sincere gratitude to our
shareholders, the business partners and the management and staff for their
unreserved support and continuing trust to the Group.

By order of the Board

Chan Yuk, Foebe
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, 29 October 2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEREWRDN

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the Year, revenue of the Group amounted to approximately HK$229
million (2020: approximately HK$194 million), representing an increase
of approximately 18% compared with that of the last financial year. Loss
attributable to the owners of the Company amounted to approximately
HK$450 million (2020: approximately HK$355 million), representing an
increase of 27% compared with that of the last financial year.

The increase in the Group’s revenue was mainly derived from the increase in
revenue of the heat and power segment.

The Group’s selling and distribution costs for the Year was approximately
HK$27 million (2020: approximately HK$15 million), representing an increase
of approximately 80% compared with that of the last financial year. The
increase in selling and distribution costs was mainly due to the resumption of
fee collection stations of the heat and power division which was temporary
closed last year as a result of the outbreak of COVID-19.

The Group’s administrative expenses for the Year was approximately HK$107
million (2020: approximately HK$65 million), representing an increase of
approximately 65% compared with that of the last financial year. The increase
in administrative expenses was mainly due to the resumption of calcium
carbide production during the Year.

The Group’s other operating expenses for the Year was approximately
HK$123 million (2020: approximately HK$90 million), representing an
increase of approximately 37% compared with that of the last financial year.
The increase in other operating expenses was due to the further provision for
several litigation claims during the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Heat and power division

During the Year, the heat and power segment recorded a revenue of
approximately HK$198 million (2020: approximately HK$177 million)
from external customers, representing an increase of approximately 12%
compared with that of the last financial year. Income from supply of heat for
the Year was approximately HK$182 million (2020: approximately HK$163
million), representing an increase of approximately 12% when compared with
that of the last financial year. The increase was mainly due to the increase in
exchange rate and slight increase in heat supply area. Segment loss for the
Year was approximately HK$73 million (2020: segment loss of approximately
HK$66 million), representing an increase of approximately 11% compared
with that of the last financial year. The increase in segment loss was mainly
due to further provision for litigation claims.

Apart from the expansion of the residential heat supplying area, the
management of the Group had also closely monitored the operation to
reduce coal and energy consumption and avoid wastage so as to increase
the profit from our heat and power generating facilities.

Coal-related chemical production division

The coal-related chemical production division includes the calcium carbide
segment (the “CC segment”), the polyvinyl-chloride segment and the vinyl
acetate segment.

During the Year, the CC segment recorded a revenue of approximately
HK$23 million (2020: approximately HK$17 million) from external customers,
representing an increase of approximately 35% compared with that of the last
financial year. Despite the suspension of the production line for the production
of calcium carbide, revenue was generated as the production line for the
production of lime powder, a semi-final product of calcium carbide, remained
in operation during the Year.

Construction services division

During the Year, the construction services division did not recorded any
revenue (2020: approximately HK$0.4 million) and a segment loss of
approximately HK$91.9 million (2020: segment loss of approximately HK$61
million), respectively. This business division did not recorded any revenue
and recorded a significant segment loss during the Year was due to (i) the
outbreak of COVID-19, travelling restrictions were imposed in Mudanjiang
City and the Group’s construction services had been suspended; and (ii)
an impairment loss on prepayment to constructor of approximately HK$84
million were provided as a result of the suspension of construction activities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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PROSPECT

Although the COVID-19 pandemic still has impact on the PRC economies
and market price of coal is at its peak, the Board overcome several barriers
to resume the production of calcium carbide in Heihe Longjiang Chemical
Co., Ltd. (“Longjiang Chemical”), a subsidiary of the Company. The Board
believes that Longjiang Chemical would be the growth driver of the Group in
the forthcoming years.

Coal-related chemical production division

During the year, Longjiang Chemical has officially commenced the production
of calcium carbide in late June 2021. Longjiang Chemical has two calcium
carbide production line with a designed annual production capacity of
100,000 tonnes and could achieve 130,000 tonnes under smooth operation.

Research, development, renovation and investment in Longjiang Chemical
over the past few years have made its current production more efficient
with lower energy consumption, which together with the relatively cheap,
yet stable and environmentally-friendly hydropower imported from Russia
that accords with the carbon neutrality related policies the state vigorously
promotes, will give the Company a competitive advantage.

Despite the increase in market selling price of raw coal and other material
cost, the increase in market selling price of calcium carbide has been
outweighed by the increase in its production cost. The current market selling
price of calcium carbide is approximately RMB8,000 per tonne and the
management believes that the current situation is sustainable and is likely to
be improved in the future. Thus, the management expects the profit margin
will reach a record high figure.

The management will closely monitor the situation and will consider to resume
the lower stream operation as well as the polyvinyl-chloride and vinyl acetate
production lines.

Heat and power division

During the Year, the Group’s residential heat supplying area was maintained
at around 4,000,000 square meters. Due to the increasing trend of the raw
coal price recently, the profitability of the heat and power division has been
seriously affected. The management will closely monitor the situation.

Construction services division

Due to the impact of the outbreak of COVID-19, Mudanjiang Jinyang
Municipal Engineering Company Limited (“Jinyang Engineering”) had
suspended all its construction services since last year. As agreed between
Jinyang Engineering and its subcontractors, the construction period for the
heat exchange stations and facilities and pipelines networks will be extended,
and without additional costs incurred by the Group. The management will
closely monitor the situation and will not rule out the possibility to dispose the
construction services division.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Capital Structure, Liquidity and Financial Resources
Capital structure

During the Year, the Group financed its operations and business development
with internally generated resources, non-equity funding and equity funding as
further disclosed below.

Liquidity and financial ratios

As at 30 June 2021, the Group had total assets of approximately HK$2,071
million (2020: approximately HK$1,931 million), which were financed by
current liabilities of approximately HK$1,284 million (2020: approximately
HK$394 million), non-current liabilities of approximately HK$699 million (2020:
approximately HK$1,173 million), non-controlling interests of approximately
HK$59 million (2020: approximately HK$61 million) and shareholders’ equity
of approximately HK$30 million (2020: approximately HK$303 million).

As at 30 June 2021, the current assets of the Group amounted to
approximately HK$326 million (2020: approximately HK$174 million),
comprising inventories of approximately HK$6 million (2020: approximately
HK$8 million), trade receivables of approximately HK$23 million (2020:
approximately HK$27 million), prepayments, deposits and other receivables
of approximately HK$137 million (2020: approximately HK$130 million),
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of approximately HK$1
million (2020: approximately HK$1 million), and cash and cash equivalents
of approximately HK$47 million (2020: approximately HK$8 million). As at 30
June 2021, the Group’s current ratio (current assets/current liabilities), quick
ratio (current assets — inventory)/current liabilities), gearing ratio (total debts/
total assets) and debts to equity ratio (total debts/shareholders’ equity) of
the Group were approximately 0.3 (2020: approximately 0.4), approximately
0.2 (2020: approximately 0.4), approximately 96% (2020: approximately
81%) and approximately 2,235% (2020: approximately 431%), respectively.
The higher gearing ratio was mainly attributable to the depreciation in the
plant and equipment of HLCCL and Jinyang Engineering’s suspension of its
construction services, whilst the total debts of the Group remained stable.
Throughout the Year, the management had taken several measures to
improve the liquidity position and financial position of the Group.

Although the Group was in a net current liabilities position as at 30 June
2021, the management has closely monitored the Group’s liquidity position
and has taken appropriate measures to ensure it had sufficient resources to
meet its financial obligations.

g E) ]

=E:N-
BEAREE
RAFE  AEMBANPELER - FFRAE
ERTE—SRBORARERNGSEREY
BRAHAS -

- RBETRUBER

REESR BB =
RZEZ—FRNA=Z1+H AEBZBEED
B20TMEEBAT(ZZE-ZTF : HN1,9315EH

L) DEARBAEBH1IM4EEE (T T
F 34 EEEIT)  IERBAEL69H BB
T(ZEZZF  H1173EHEBT) » IHERER
HBOEBAEL(ZEZF et a@sm) ki
RESN0EEATL(ZT-ZF : HY303EEH
TO) A -

RTZE-—FEXA=1+H AEEZRHEED
B6EBAT(ZZE_ZF : YH174658ET)

BREGFENEEAET(ZT 24 : {18aEA
TL) BB SRIAN2EEE (T -TF ¢
#2TAEEIL) - ANFIA - 72 MEMERIE

HI7TEBEBAT(ZE 25 - %’71305%,‘%7&
BAVEFABG ERMEEMNMBESL(Z
CEF A EEBT)ANESRESE @IEE
WATEBEL(ZZEZF : YI8HEBTT) - BR=
T —EXA=1A AEEZRBLRGRSE
E/nBAaE)  RBLR(RBEE-TE),/ R
HEE)  EEABLR(RER REE)RED
Eﬂ%ﬁétb%(,w1ﬁk/ﬂx%zé‘ VA B B#0.3(=

—ZE 40.4)  HI02(ZFE-FTF  40.4)
’]96%( TR TE  H81%) B #)2,235% (= F
ZTF  9431%) © é?ﬁﬁtb%ﬁﬁﬂig%
AR BT THRE KR EEERSBTIER

HEERERY  MASENQESERET -
REEAEER  SBECKRNZEERANS
REE 7 REE AR R BN

EEKE@F\—%_*E/\H +E|J€'EA//H;EE\
BRI - HEREE B ERANEEN RS
Bain WA BEEEAERAEEES -2
WERABITEM B EAL -



10

Xinyang Maojian Group Limited Annual Report 2021

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Capital Structure, Liquidity and Financial Resources
(Continued)

Non-equity funding

Bank loans

As at 30 June 2021, the bank loans of the Group amounted to approximately
HK$59 million (2020: approximately HK$67 million). Based on the agreed
repayment schedule set out in the loan agreements, bank loans of
approximately HK$43 million (2020: approximately HK$49 million) were
repayable within 12 months, of which HK$3 million was denominated in Hong
Kong dollars and approximately HK$40 million was denominated in RMB
(2020: approximately HK$3 million was denominated in Hong Kong dollars
and approximately HK$46 million was denominated in RMB, respectively).

Bonds

As at 30 June 2021, the aggregate amount of bonds payable was
approximately HK$1,086 million (2020: approximately HK$988 million). The
net proceeds raised from the placing of bonds were applied to enhance the
working capital of the Group.

Equity funding

On 13 November 2020, the Company completed the issue of the
zero-coupon convertible bond due 2023 in the principal amount of
HK$100,000,000 (the “Convertible Bonds”) to six individual and corporate
subscribers. The conversion price of the Convertible Bonds is HK$0.4 per
conversion share. The closing price of the shares of the Company (the
“Shares”) on 13 November 2020 was HK$0.36. The Company received
total net proceeds from the issue of the Convertible Bonds of approximately
HK$97,360,000 and intends to use the same as (i) development of new
businesses; (i) repayment of other payables; and (i) general working capital
to strengthen the financial position of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Capital Structure, Liquidity and Financial Resources
(Continued)

Equity funding (Continued)

The identities of the subscribers and their ultimate beneficial owner(s) (where
applicable) are as follows:

1. China Good Fortune Limited (“CGF”), a company incorporated and
registered under the laws of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region,
is an investment holding company and is beneficially owned by Mr.
Ding Fangya. Upon exercise of all the conversion rights attaching to
the Convertible Bonds by CGF in full and on the assumption that there
is no further allotment of Shares from the date of this report other than
the Conversion Shares, CGF will be interested in 5% or more of the
issued shares of the Company as enlarged by the allotment and issue
of the Conversion Shares;

2. Right Time Global Investment SPC, a segregated portfolio company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands;

3. Mr. Chiau Che Kong, a consultant of the Company and has more than
20 years experience in equity investment;

4. Ms. Tang Wing Sum, a senior management of an import and export
trading company;

5. Mr. Wong Chun Kit, a senior management of an import and export
trading company; and

6. Ms. Wong Chui Bing, a merchant principally engaged in local
consumption retail business.

As at the date of this report, the proceeds have been utilised as intended.
Details of the issue of the Convertible Bonds were disclosed in the

announcements of the Company dated 28 October 2020, 4 November 2020
and 13 November 2020.

5t % (20 ()
BARER  RHESRBEER@®

RAREE (&)
REARESZREEHBAER)NEHOT

1. China Good Fortune Limited([ CGF]) * A&
—ﬁ@ﬁéﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁim“
CH AR EERAT KRBT AMEE
ﬁﬁ%ﬁ TECGFAET T AR E S M7
B2 EPIAARAETS - WRER B ANRE B ARkE
BRIRAR AR 19 SN 3t — P BB AR (D - CGFig
ARG D BT (AL RBEITIRAR

f& 3R ) 5%k A _E Ry R

2. BNEMIRERLESPC  KHASHSTMK
MBI EHART

3. BEEmEE - BARARERE  REERES
M A B20F /L5

4, HELzLt A—HELOESRANER
EEAE

5. mE#EEE - A MEEOBSATNSH
EEAE &

6. ERAZL RIBREAMEERTER
TEHIBA ©

MARERE  FASFIADRIEEREHA -
BETAHMBRESOFEREARRBERR T -F

i‘i’ﬂ TN Z2-ZFF+—-AWBAR=F
TE+—A+=BHOAENRE -



12

Xinyang Maojian Group Limited Annual Report 2021

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Capital Structure, Liquidity and Financial Resources
(Continued)

Equity funding (Continued)

On 1 June 2021, Mr. Chan Yuen Tung (“Mr. Chan”) engaged a placing agent
to place 100,000,000 existing Shares at the placing price of HK$0.3 per
placing Share to not less than six placees (the “Placing”). On the same date,
Mr. Chan agreed to, conditional upon completion of the Placing, subscribe for
100,000,000 new Shares at the subscription price of HK$0.3 per subscription
Share (the “Top-up Subscription”). The closing price of the Shares on 1
June 2021 was HK$0.32. The aggregate nominal value of the new Shares
allotted and issued under the Top-up Subscription was HK$10,000,000.
The Placing and the Subscription took place on 3 June 2021 and 10 June
2021, respectively, and the Company received total net proceeds from the
Subscription of approximately HK$29,200,000 and thus, the net price of the
subscription Share was approximately HK$0.292. The Company intends
to use the same for working capital for resumption of production of the
Company.

A total of 100,000,000 Placing Shares have been successfully placed at the
placing price of HK$0.3 per Share to not less than six placees, all of whom/
which are professional, institutional and/or other investors and are third
parties independent from the Company and its connected persons. None of
the placees and their ultimate beneficial owners has become a substantial
shareholder (as defined under the Listing Rules) of the Company upon taking
up the Shares.

As at the date of this report, the proceeds have been utilised as intended.

Details of the Placing and Top-up Subscription were disclosed in the
announcements of the Company dated 1 June 2021 and 11 June 2021.

Significant investment held by the Company

As at 30 June 2021, the Company did not have any significant investments,
except for the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of
approximately HK$0.6 million (2020: approximately HK$0.7 million). During
the Year, the Company had recorded a fair value loss on financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss of approximately HK$3 million (2020: fair value
loss of approximately HK$0.1 million).

Charges on the Group’s assets

As at 30 June 2021, bank loans and other loans of approximately HK$59
million (2020: approximately HK$67 million) and approximately HK$69 million
(2020: approximately HK$66 million), respectively, were secured by charges
over the Group’s certain fixed assets and right-of-use assets.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS
OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

Discloseable transaction in relation to the disposal of
40% equity interests in a subsidiary

On 4 September 2020, Mudanjiang Longtuo New Energy Co., Ltd.
(“Mudanjiang New Energy”, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company) entered into an equity transfer agreement (the “Equity Transfer
Agreement”) with Mr. Lv Wangsheng (“Mr. Lv”), an independent third party,
to dispose of 40% of the equity interest (the “Disposal”) in Mudanjiang Better-
Day Power Limited (“Mudanjiang BD Power”). Subject to the terms and
conditions of the Equity Transfer Agreement, the consideration of the Disposal
was RMB70 million, which shall be settled as follows: () RMB7 million shall
be paid on the date of signing of the Equity Transfer Agreement (the “First
Payment”); (i) RMB18 million shall be paid on or prior to 14 September 2020;
(i) RMB20 million shall be paid on or prior to 31 December 2020; and (iv) the
remaining RMB25 million shall be paid on or prior to 4 March 2022 (being 18
months after the date of signing of the Equity Transfer Agreement) (the “Final
Payment”).

The Board had considered, among others, the following factors in relation
to the consideration of the Disposal: (1) the profitability of Mudanjiang New
Energy was on a downward trend, given the continuous high market prices of
the raw coal during the past few years; (2) the Disposal would allow the Group
to generate additional cash inflow and improve its liquidity, which will enhance
the Group’s ability to invest in other future potential investment opportunities;
(3) given that the P/E ratio of the Disposal (calculated by dividing the
consideration of the Disposal by the average profit after tax of Mudanjiang
New Energy for the three years ended 30 June 2020) was approximately 9.25,
which was relatively high when compared to other listed companies in similar
industries, the Disposal was made at a premium already; and (4) given that
for the year ended 30 June 2020 (“FY2020”), Mudanjiang New Energy had
purchased approximately 100,000 tonnes of raw coal, the total cost savings
made as a result of the Change in Business Strategy (as defined below) are
estimated to be approximately RMB6.6 million per year going forward.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS
OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES (Continued)

Discloseable transaction in relation to the disposal of
40% equity interests in a subsidiary (Continued)

Despite that the estimated total cost savings based on figures from FY2020
would not outweigh the net loss on the Disposal (being approximately HK$38
million), in view of the fact that, (i) the total cost savings would increase the
profitability of the heat and electricity supply business in the long run; (i) Mr.
Lv would contribute to the operations of Mudanjiang New Energy; and (iii) it
had been very difficult raising additional funds under the current economic
situation, the Directors therefore considered the basis of consideration and
the consideration of RMB70 million in relation to the Disposal to be fair and
reasonable.

Pursuant to the Equity Transfer Agreement, the parties had agreed that during
the period between the First Payment and the Final Payment, Mr. Lv may
divide the transfer of the 40% of the equity interest in Mudanjiang BD Power
into a maximum of three transactions (each a “Transaction”, and collectively,
the “Transactions”), with the percentage of equity interest to be transferred for
each Transaction to be further agreed between the parties. The completion
date of each Transaction shall take place on which the relevant business
registration filing requirements are completed, and the Disposal shall take
place when the Transactions have been completed. Upon completion of the
Disposal, the Group would hold, indirectly through Mudanjiang New Energy,
60% of the equity interest in Mudanjiang BD Power and Mudanjiang BD
Power would remain as a subsidiary of the Company. As at the date of this
report, the Disposal had not been completed yet and the Group had received
RMB25 million from the Purchaser.

The heat and power business, in which Mudanjiang BD Power is the
operating subsidiary, is one of the core businesses of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS
OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES (Continued)

Discloseable transaction in relation to the disposal of
40% equity interests in a subsidiary (Continued)

The Group plans to increase the profitability of the heat and power business
by purchasing raw coal during the summer season, which would be at a
lower cost, instead of during the peak season of the heat supplying period (i.e.
from October to February), which had been the Group’s usual practice (the
“Change in Business Strategy”). Nonetheless, in order to do so, the Group
had to increase its current general working capital, which would be provided
through the Disposal. In light of this, the Disposal would allow the Group
to realise part of its investment in Mudanjiang BD Power and the increase
in profitability of Mudanjiang BD Power as a result of the decrease in coal
costs and the increase in the Group’s general working capital would thereby
enhance the Group’s ability to invest in other future potential investment
opportunities.

The Company was of the view that the arrangement pursuant to the Equity
Transfer Agreement was fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Company and its shareholders as a whole because, among others, (i) the
injection of liquidity into the general working capital of Mudanjiang BD Power
indirectly allowed the Group to purchase raw coal during the low season
instead of the peak season; (i) the injection of liquidity into Mudanjiang
BD Power through equity transfer via a shareholder’s loan extended to
Mudanjiang BD Power, to which Mudanjiang BD Power is obligated to repay
the loan (being the amount of general working capital extended to Mudanjiang
BD Power) to the Group irrespective of the future profitability of Mudanjiang
BD Power, as opposed to the subscription for new equity by Mr. Lv, to which
the subscription proceeds would remain with Mudanjiang BD Power, protects
the interests of the Company and its shareholders; and (i) the appointment of
Mr. Lv as a director of Mudanjiang BD Power is beneficial to the operations of
Mudanjiang BD Power because Mr. Lv is well-connected in Mudanjiang and
would therefore assist in the expansion and profitability of the operations of
Mudanijiang BD Power in Mudanjiang.

Details of the Disposal were disclosed in the announcements of the Company
dated 4 September 2020 and 19 October 2020, respectively.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS
OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES (Continued)

Major transaction in relation to disposal of lands

On 28 December 2020, HLCCL, a company indirectly owned as to 90% by
the Company, entered into an agreement (the “Disposal Agreement”) with
Heihe Longhe Investment Management Limited* (BB AR E IR ERE (T
2 7)), an independent third party, pursuant to which HLCCL had agreed to
transfer the land use rights of certain lands (the “LLands”) located in the PRC at
an aggregate consideration of RMB156,440,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$185,500,000), comprising RMB139,440,000 with land compensation of
RMB17,000,000 (the “Land Disposal”).

As the Lands had been left idle by the Group for a long time and in view of
the consideration to be received from the Land Disposal by the Group, the
Directors considered that the Land Disposal was a good opportunity for the
Group to generate cash inflow, improve its liquidity and reduce the carrying
cost of the idle lands.

The gross consideration generated from the Land Disposal would be
RMB156,440,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$185,500,000) and the
Company intended to use the proceeds for, among others, (i) repayment
of debts; (i) tax payment in relation to the Land Disposal; and (i) general
working capital of the Group.

As at the date of this report, the Land Disposal had not been completed.
Details of the Land Disposal were disclosed in the announcements of the

Company dated 28 December 2020, 19 January 2021 and 22 March 2021
and the circular of the Company dated 25 February 2021.

* For identification purpose only
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS
OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES (Continued)

Proposed discloseable transaction in relation to

the acquisition of Beijing Wine and the subsequent
termination of the acquisition

On 2 February 2021, Mudanjiang Longjin Wine Co., Ltd.* (HFfH IS EE A
R 2 7)) (an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) (“Mudanjiang
Wine”) and three individuals who are independent third parties (the “Vendors”)
entered into an agreement (the “Acquisition Agreement”), pursuant to which
Mudanjiang Wine agreed to purchase the entire equity interest in Beijing
Yaolai Longwei Wine Co., Ltd.* (b RRHBERUBZE B R A R)) (‘Beiing Wine”)
for a consideration of HK$80 million. Upon completion, the consideration shall
be settled as to (i) HK$5 million payable in cash; and (i) the remaining balance
of HK$75 million by the issue of a promissory note in the principal amount of
HK$75 million by the Company to the Vendors.

On 18 May 2021, as a result of the anticipated difficulty in fulfilling all of
the conditions precedent to the Acquisition Agreement, the Acquisition
Agreement was terminated according to its terms and none of the parties to
the Acquisition Agreement shall have any claim against the others for costs,
damages, compensation or otherwise.

Details of the proposed acquisition of Beijing Wine and the subsequent

termination of the Acquisition Agreement were disclosed in the
announcements of the Company dated 2 February 2021 and 18 May 2021.

* For identification purpose only
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in note 46 of the financial statements, the Group also had
the following significant event after June 2021.

Disposal of Shares by the Single Largest Shareholder

in August 2021

The Company was informed by Mr. Chan, the single largest shareholder of
the Company, and Beijing Gaoya Investment Management Limited* (1t 2 &
R EEE AR QD) (“‘Gaoya Investment”) that on 31 August 2021, Mr.
Chan as the vendor and Gaoya Investment as the purchaser entered into a
memorandum of understanding (the “MOU”), pursuant to which Mr. Chan
intended to sell and Gaoya Investment intended to purchase 382,000,000
shares in the Company (“Shares”), representing approximately 23.82% and
21.54% of the total issued share capital of the Company as at the date of the
MOU and this report, respectively, at a preliminary selling price of HK$0.81
per share (the “Disposal”). Both parties agreed to sign a definitive subscription
agreement within 60 days of the execution of the MOU and the terms and
conditions of the Subscription Shares shall be subject to the terms of the
definitive subscription agreement.

Details of the Disposal were disclosed in the announcement of the Company
dated 31 August 2021.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 30 June 2021, save as disclosed in note 42 of the financial statements,
the Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Although most of the Group’s operations were carried out in the PRC in
which transactions were denominated in RMB, the Directors consider that the
Group has no significant exposure to foreign exchange fluctuations, despite
of the devaluation of RMB during the Year. The Directors also consider that
there will be sufficient cash resources denominated in Hong Kong dollars
for the repayment of borrowings and future dividends. During the Year, the
Group did not use any financial instrument for hedging purposes and the
Group did not have any hedging instrument as at 30 June 2021.

In face of currency market instability, the Group will make use of hedging
instruments to mitigate the exchange rate risk as and when appropriate.

* For identification purpose only
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PROPOSED CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME

On 5 July 2021, the Board proposed to change the English name of the
Company to “China Zenith Chemical Group Limited” from “Xinyang Maojian
Group Limited” and the Chinese secondary name of the Company to “Ff
KM EIEBEER AT from “(F5ELEEBR AT (the “Proposed Name
Change”). Details of the Proposed Name Change were disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 5 July 2021.

NUMBER AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 30 June 2021, the Group had 632 full time employees in the PRC and
Hong Kong. The Group recognises the importance of human resources to its
success. Remuneration is maintained at competitive levels with discretionary
bonuses payable on a merit basis and in line with industry practice. Other
staff benefits provided by the Group include mandatory provident fund,
insurance schemes and performance-related commissions.

The Company also operated a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the
purpose of providing incentives or rewards to eligible participants for their
contribution to the Group. The Scheme was proposed by the Board on 29
November 2012 and approved by its shareholders on 20 December 2012.
As at 30 June 2021, there were 171,500,000 Share options outstanding.
These comprise of 55,000,000 Share options with exercisable period up
to 23 December 2021 at the exercise price of HK$0.325 per Share and
116,500,000 Share options with exercisable period up to 2 November 2023
at the exercise price of HK$0.38 per Share.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SREARE

This report describes the Group’s corporate governance practices applied
throughout the year ended 30 June 2021 (the “Year”).

The Group is committed to achieving high standards of corporate governance
to safeguard the interests of shareholders and to enhance corporate value
and accountability.

The Company has, throughout the Year, complied with the Corporate
Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report (the “Code”), except
for a certain deviation which is summarised below:

DISTINCTIVE ROLES OF CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision A.2.1

Paragraph A.2.1 of the Code provides that the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. The division of responsibilities between the chairman and chief
executive should be clearly established and set out in writing.

Throughout the Year, the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
were performed by the same individual, Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe, and were
not separated. The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) meets
regularly to consider issues related to corporate matters affecting operations
of the Group and considers that this deviation will not impair the balance
of power and authority of the Board and the Company’s management and
thus, the Board believes the current structure will enable effective planning
and implementation of corporate strategies and decisions of the Group.
Notwithstanding the above, the Board will review the current structure from
time to time and shall make necessary amendments at the appropriate time.
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EEERHE (F)

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition and practices

The Board is responsible for overseeing the Group’s strategic planning and
development, and for determining the objectives, strategic and policies
of the Group while delegating day-to-day operations of the Group to the
management. Besides, each member of the Board is expected to make a full
and active contribution to the Board’s affairs and ensure that the Board acts
in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole. The
Board regularly reviews the contribution required from a director to perform
his or her responsibilities to the Company, and whether he or she is spending
sufficient time performing them.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprised seven members, namely,
Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe as the chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”) and
the Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Gao Ran, Mr. Law Tze Ping Eric and Mr. Yu
Defa as executive Directors and Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan, Mr. Tam Ching
Ho and Mr. Hau Chi Kit as independent non-executive Directors. Details of
their respective experience and qualification are set out in the “Biographical
Details of Directors and Senior Management” section of this annual report.
An updated list of Directors and their respective roles and functions has been
maintained on the websites of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) and the Company.

The Board has maintained a balance of skills and experience appropriate for
the requirements of the businesses of the Group. Its composition represents
a mixture of management, accounting and finance, marketing, manufacturing
and procurement with comprehensive experience in and exposure to
diversified businesses. It is the opinion of the Directors that the Board has the
necessary skills and experience appropriate for discharging their duties as
Directors in the best interests of the Company.

Besides, to the best knowledge of the Company, there is no material/relevant
relationship, whether financial, operational, business, family, etc, among
members of the Board.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Composition and practices (Continued)

The Company had received confirmation from the independent non-executive
Directors that they complied with the guidelines on independence set out
under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and had not violated any provision
thereunder throughout the Year. Amongst them, Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan,
Mr. Tam Ching Ho and Mr. Hau Chi Kit have the appropriate professional
qualifications and accounting and related financial management expertise
required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

Appropriate liability insurance for Directors has been arranged for indemnifying
their liabilities arising out of corporate activities. This insurance coverage is
reviewed on an annual basis.

Training and support for directors

Directors must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities. Each newly-
appointed Director would receive an induction package covering the Group’s
businesses and the statutory and regulatory obligations of a director of
a listed company. To comply with code provision A.6.5 of the Code, all
Directors during the Year, namely Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe, Mr Gao Ran, Mr.
Law Tze Ping Eric, Mr. Yu Defa, Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan, Mr. Tam Ching Ho
and Mr. Hau Chi Kit have participated in the Group briefings and other training
provided by the Group to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
Group continuously updates Directors on the latest developments regarding
the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure
compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate governance
practices. Circulars or guidance notes were issued to Directors and senior
management, where appropriate, to ensure awareness of best corporate
governance practices.

During the Year, the Directors also read various literature on directors’
obligations and responsibilities. A record of the training received from each
of the Directors are kept and updated by the company secretary of the
Company (the “Company Secretary”).
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TEERHRE(E)
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) BEEgw
The Board meeting - full directors’ board meeting EEeed THREEZEER

f; @

The Board meets regularly at least four times a year at quarterly intervals and ~Z =& Hﬁ;ﬁ%ﬁtiﬂ* R EEGH - I
holds additional meetings as and when the Board thinks appropriate. EEEERASERBHABEIINGE -

During the Year, 6 Board meetings were held for discussion of the Company’s MR AEEE i wm AR EEET AN EEE S
matters. The attendance of each Director, on a named basis and by category, & o AN FEE RN - IZUZ LIERIFTE D BREEH
at the Board meetings during the Year is set out below: FESESLHINEEINAT

Number of meetings

attended/Number of
Board meetings held
HESERE
Directors Bx BERETARE
Executive directors HiITEE
Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe [ 2 2214 6/6
Mr. Gao Ran (Note (i) =35 A4 (HFE() 0/6
Mr. Law Tze Ping Eric O 6/6
Mr. Yu Defa FrEsks 0/6
Mr. Chen Lei (Note (ii)) PR ot A (BRE()) 0/6
Mr. Lin Bitian (Note (i) RS 4 A (BT REGil)) 0/0
Independent non-executive directors BUHNTESE
Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan FREm & 6/6
Mr. Tam Ching Ho BERZLE 6/6
Mr. Hau Chi Kit EEAEE 6/6
Notes: PEE -
(i) Mr. Gao Ran was appointed as an executive Director on 23 July 2020. 0] EETERZZ_TF LA+ =—HEZTAEH

TESE -
(ii) Mr. Chen Lei has resigned as an executive Director on 3 May 2021. (ii) HELRERN T _—FRA=ZHEIRITES -

(i)~ Mr. Lin Bitian was appointed as an executive Director on 12 March 2020, and (i) FMUEEER - -_ZHE=A+-"AEZTAH
had then resigned on 10 July 2020. TEE HER —Z-_THF+LHA+ABRE-
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EEERHE (F)

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Board meeting - executive Directors’ board
meeting

In addition, during the Year, 32 executive Directors’ board meetings were held
to deal with the compliance of legal and administrative procedures, including
internal corporate re-structuring and company secretarial matters.

To handle the above-mentioned matters, at least two executive Directors
were required to form a quorum.

The attendance of each Director, on a named basis and by category, at the
executive Directors’ Board meeting during the Year is set out below:

BEE2mWm)
EEeeR-YTEEeY

=111

%

BEAN - RAFE G LR B RETIAE RITHRE
FEERIIRANTEZESER  BREAMEE
EERATWEFH -

BREFIEE BFELLHRIEATARARD
MBMITES ©

REERN  BUERRERIREDBRESHEN
TREEERZRBEIINT

Number of meetings
attended/Number of
executive Directors’
board meetings held

HESRRE,
BITEESE

Directors BE BRETRE
Executive Directors HiTER
Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe PRS2+ 32/32
Mr. Gao Ran (Note (i) =35 A4 (FE() 0/32
Mr. Law Tze Ping Eric BTV EAE 32/32
Mr. Yu Defa FirEsks 0/32
Mr. Chen Lei (Note (ii)) PR ot A (BRE () 0/27
Mr. Lin Bitian (Note (iii)) R HE 5 A (PR R Gil)) 0/0
Independent non-executive Directors B TEE
Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan FHEm & N/A 7~
Mr. Tam Ching Ho BERHLE N/A N3
Mr. Hau Chi Kit A E N/A “INiiE A
Notes: MI3E

(i) Mr. Gao Ran was appointed as an executive Director on 23 July 2020.

(ii) Mr, Chen Lei has resigned as an executive Director on 3 May 2021.

(iii) Mr. Lin Bitian was appointed as an executive Director on 12 March 2020, and
had then resigned on 10 July 2020.

0} BEEER-_Z_EFLA-+=-AEZTAH
TEE -

(i) RELER S —FAA=HFINTES -

iy MBEEER_ZT_ZTF=-AT_ABZTAH
TEE HER-_Z-_TF A +HEHT -
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Board meeting - committee meeting

During the Year, 9 Board committee meetings were held. The attendance
of each Director, on a named basis and by category, at Board committee
meetings during the Year is set out below:

EEEwW
EEXZeeE—ZE22E
NAFERBRATNREEEERGS - AEE

N RUERRESIMBDBREFHFESEE
BERIRBEIMT

Number of meetings attended/
Number of meetings held

HESBERY FHRETAH

Remuneration Audit Nomination
Committee Committee Committee
Directors BE FHEES EREEY REEZEE
Executive Directors HITEE
Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe R 2204 N/A N3 N/A “NiE A 3/3
Mr. Gao Ran (Note (i) = 5T A (ERE() N/A i N/A e A N/A 3 A
Mr. Law Tze Ping Eric BTFRE N/A i A N/A “NiE N/A “~iE A
Mr. Yu Defa FEEE N/A i A N/A i A N/A i A
Mr. Chen Lei (Note (ii)) PR 5 A (B (i) N/A i A N/A e A N/A 38 A
Mr. Lin Bitian (Note (i) RS R 5 A (BRREGi)) N/A i A N/A iE A N/A i A
Independent non-executive Directors BUHRTEE
Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan FBERIRSE 3/3 3/3 3/3
Mr. Tam Ching Ho B EEL 3/3 3/3 3/3
Mr. Hau Chi Kit BEAEE 3/3 3/3 3/3
Notes: I5E -
(i) Mr. Gao Ran was appointed as an executive Director on 23 July 2020. () SHEEERZEEFELAT=HEZEAH
TES -

(ii) Mr. Chen Lei has resigned as an executive Director on 3 May 2021 (ii) REXENR T —FRA=-ABINTES -
(i) Mr. Lin Bitian was appointed as an executive Director on 12 March 2020, and (i) MUHEEER T -_TF=-A+-_AEZTAH

had then resigned on 10 July 2020.

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws, meetings or extraordinary
meetings of the Board may be convened by means of telephone or similar
telecommunication facilities. Regular meetings of the Board were held during
the Year. Extra meetings were also held to cater for important matters
arising from time to time. Notices of regular Board meetings are served
to all Directors at least 14 days before the meetings. For other Board and
committee meetings, reasonable notice is generally given. Board papers
together with all appropriate, complete and reliable information are sent to
all Directors/committee members at least three days before each meeting to
keep the Directors appraised of the latest developments and financial position
of the Company to enable them to make informed decisions.
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EEERHE (F)

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Board meeting - committee meeting (Continued)
Minutes of Board/committee meetings would be kept by the Company
Secretary and shall be open for inspection by Directors. Where Directors have
a material or conflict of interests in any transaction discussed in the Board/
committee meetings, such a transaction will not be dealt with by way of
written resolutions unless clear declaration of interest is made by the relevant
Directors. The Directors concerned could express their views on the matter
but would not be counted as part of the quorum and shall abstain from voting
on the relevant resolutions.

In addition, to facilitate the decision-making process, the Directors have free
access to the management for enquiries and to obtain further information,
when required. The Directors can also seek independent professional advice,
in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense in discharging
their duties to the Company. All Directors have unrestricted access to the
Company Secretary who is responsible for ensuring that the Board/committee
procedures are complied with and for advising the Board/committee on
compliance matters.

Non-executive Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
should attend Board, committee and general meetings and contribute to the
Company’s strategy and policies.

Appointment and re-election of directors
The Company has established formal, considered and transparent
procedures for the appointment and succession plan of directors.

All independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a specific term.
The term of office for Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan is two years with effect from 1
April 2021. The term of office for Mr. Tam Ching Ho is two years with effect
from 7 December 2019. The term of office for Mr. Hau Chi Kit is two years
with effect from 18 December 2019.

In accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws, all Directors are subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years and any new Director
appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall submit
himself/herself for re-election by shareholders at the first general meeting after
appointment.

The Board as a whole, with the nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”), is responsible for reviewing the Board composition, developing
and formulating the relevant procedures for nomination and appointment of
Directors, monitoring the appointment and succession plan of directors and
assessing the independence of independent non-executive Directors.
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EEERHE (F)

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities transactions
by the Directors. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, the Board
confirmed that all the Directors had complied with the required standard of
dealings set out in the Model Code throughout the Year. No incidents of non-
compliance of such guidelines was noted by the Company during the Year.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board committees, namely the remuneration
committee (the “Remuneration Committee”), the audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) and the Nomination Committee for overseeing particular aspects
of affairs of the Company. These committees have been established with
defined written terms of reference, as approved by the Board, which set out
the committee’s major duties.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties and upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the expense of the
Company.

Audit committee

The Company set up the Audit Committee on 8 April 2001, with written
terms of reference, for the purposes of reviewing and providing supervision
over the Group’s financial reporting process and internal control systems. In
accordance with the requirements of the Code, the terms of reference of the
Audit Committee were revised on 21 October 2006, 21 March 2012 and 31
December 2018, respectively, in terms substantially the same as the code
provisions set out in the Code.

As at 30 June 2021, the Audit Committee comprises three independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan (chairman), Mr. Tam
Ching Ho and Mr. Hau Chi Kit, all of whom are not involved in the day-to-day
management of the Company.
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EEERHE (F)

BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Audit committee (Continued)

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise
the Company’s financial reporting process. The Audit Committee is also
responsible for reviewing the auditor’s appointment, the auditor’s remuneration
and any matters relating to the termination of, the appointment of and the
resignation of the auditor. In addition, the Audit Committee also examines the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls and risk management, which
involve regular reviews of the internal controls of various corporate structure
and business processes on a continuous basis, and take into account their
respective potential risk and urgency, to ensure the effectiveness of the
Company’s business operations, risk management system and the realisation
of its corporate objectives and strategies. The scope of such examinations
and reviews include finance, operations, regulatory compliance and risk
management. Each member of the Audit Committee has unrestricted access
to the external auditor and all senior management of the Group in order to
discharge its responsibilities. Save as disclosed above, during the Year, the
Audit Committee reviewed the audited financial statements of the Company
for the Year and the unaudited financial statements of the Company for the
six months ended 31 December 2020. It also reviewed the system of internal
control and risk management of the Company.

During the Year, the Audit Committee met twice with the external auditor.
Please refer to the table set out in the section “The Board Meeting —
Committee Meeting” of this report for the attendance record of individual
Audit Committee members. The Audit Committee met with the external
auditors and management to discuss and review, among others, (i) the
scope of work, timetable and auditors’ fee; (ii) the auditors’ disclaimer of
opinion set out in the financial statements for the Year; (i) interim results for
the six months ended 31 December 2020; (iv) the adequacy and quality of
accounting and financial reporting staff; and (v) risk management and the
internal control systems of the Group. The Audit Committee reviewed and
confirmed the external auditors’ independence and objectivity and to evaluate
the effectiveness of the internal control systems, together with the scope of
audit services and fees in connection therewith.

The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board that Elite Partners CPA
Limited, be nominated for re-appointment as auditor of the Company at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Remuneration committee

The Remuneration Committee was established on 1 July 2005 with its specific
written terms of reference revised on 21 March 2012 and 31 December
2018, respectively, in compliance with the code provisions of the Code. As
at 30 June 2021, the Remuneration Committee comprises three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan (chairman), Mr. Tam
Ching Ho and Mr. Hau Chi Kit.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for, inter alia, advising the
Board on the remuneration policy and structure for all remuneration of the
Directors and senior management of the Company, as well as reviewing
and either determining with delegated responsibility the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management or
making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management in accordance with
code provision B.1.2(c)(ii) of the Code; making recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration of non-executive Directors, and approving the
compensation to executive Directors and senior management for any loss
or termination of their office or appointment, and reviewing and approving
compensation relating to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct.
No Director was involved in deciding his/her own remuneration.

Remuneration of directors and senior management
Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the Code, the remuneration of the
members of the senior management by band for the Year is set out below:
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Number of individuals

Remuneration band (HK$) g E (BT) A
Nil to 1,000,000 £ 21,000,000 3
1,500,000 to 2,000,000 1,500,000%2,000,000 3
2,000,001 to 2,500,000 2,000,00122,500,000 3

Further particulars regarding Directors’ emoluments and the five highest paid
employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 to the Listing
Rules are set out in note 15 to the financial statements.

The Remuneration Committee meets at least once a year. During the Year,
the Remuneration Committee met four times, during which it assessed the
performance of the executive Directors. The attendance of each member
of the Remuneration Committee, on a named basis and by category, at the
committee meetings during the Year is set out in the section “The Board
Meeting — Committee Meeting” of this report.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Nomination committee

The Nomination Committee was established on 2 November 2007, with
its specific written terms of reference revised on 21 March 2012 and 31
December 2018, respectively, in compliance with the code provisions of
the Code. As at 30 June 2021, the Nomination Committee comprised one
executive Director, namely Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe (chairman), and three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan, Mr.
Tam Ching Ho and Mr. Hau Chi Kit.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for, inter alia, the following:

(@  to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

(b)  to identify individuals suitably qualified to become members of the
Board and select or make recommendations to the Board on the
selection of, individuals nominated for directorships;

(c)  toassess the independence of independent non-executive Directors;

(d)  to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors, in
particular the chairman and the chief executive officer;

(e)  to do any such things to enable the Committee to discharge its powers
and functions conferred on it by the Board;

4] to conform to any requirement, direction, and regulation that may from
time to time be prescribed by the Board or contained in the constitution
of the Company or imposed by the Listing Rules or applicable laws;
and

(@  to ensure the chairman of the Committee, or in the absence of the
chairman, another member of the Committee or failing this his duly
appointed delegate, be available to answer questions at the annual
general meeting of the Company.

The Nomination Committee would review the composition of the Board from
time to time where Board diversity would be considered from a number of
aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and education
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length
of services.
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EEERHE (F)

BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Nomination committee (Continued)

The Nomination Committee adopted the board diversity policy on 31
December 2018. The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of
having a diverse composition of the Board, gender and other qualities will
be considered in determining the optimum Board composition. The ultimate
decision will be based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates
are likely to bring to the Board.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee met four times during which
discussed and reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board.
Please refer to the table set out in the section “The Board Meeting —
Committee Meeting” of this report for the attendance record of individual
Nomination Committee members.

Corporate governance functions

During the Year, the Board determined the policy for the corporate
governance of the Company, and performed, inter alia, the following duties: (a)
developed and reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance and made recommendations to the Board; (b) reviewed and
monitored the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements; (c) developed, reviewed and monitored the
code of conduct applicable to employees and Directors; (d) reviewed the
Company’s compliance with the Code and disclosure in the Corporate
Governance Report; and (e) reviewed and monitored the training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior management.

Company secretary

Mr. Ma Kin Ling was appointed as the Company Secretary since May 2016.
Mr. Ma has confirmed that he has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training during the Year. The Company is of the view that Mr. Ma
has complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for (i) overseeing the
preparation of the financial statements of the Group with a view to ensuring
such financial statements are in accordance with statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards; and (ii) selecting suitable accounting policies
and applying them consistently with the support of reasonable and prudent
judgments and estimates.

The independent auditor’s report of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements of the Group is set
out on pages 60 to 65 of this annual report.
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EEERHE (F)

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDITOR’S
REMUNERATION

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment of annual and interim reports, price-sensitive announcements
and other disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other regulatory
requirements. The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the Year.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about their
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the “Independent
Auditor’s Report” section of this annual report.

Save as disclosed in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” section of this annual
report, there are no material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern. The Board has not taken any different view from that of the Audit
Committee in respect of the selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal
of external auditor.

The remuneration paid to Elite Partners CPA Limited, the external auditor of
the Company, and the nature of services are set out as follows:

LEREISER T

EFSRARUFERTHRE  REGRAMIMN
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RmROE - BMRAE 2 EEHAREY
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BEEBE R BHERERRSTEZ RFEE
BLREE—H -

RARBSNEZBEFRATERETMEHEMER
RAXNN 2 ME RREEEHIIAT

Type of services provided by Fee paid/payable
the external auditor SNEEAZ B AT IR R AR AS S B Bt EAER
HK$’000
FAT
Audit services: BHER -
Audit of annual financial statements BEZEFYHRE 1,200
Non-audit services: FEZERT -
Reviewing the Group’s interim results for the EHAEFEEE T -_EF+-_A=1+—HIt
six months ended 31 December 2020 NMEA Z AR 70

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control
and risk management systems. The internal control and risk management
systems are designed to meet the Group’s particular needs and the risks to
which it is exposed, and by their nature can only provide reasonable, but not
absolute assurance against misstatement or loss.

Procedures have been set up to safeguard assets against unauthorised
use or disposition, control capital expenditure, maintain proper accounting
records and ensure the reliability of financial information used for business
and publication. Qualified management throughout the Group maintains and
monitors the internal control systems on an ongoing basis.
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EEERHE (F)

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

The internal audit department was set up on 15 May 2006, under the
supervision of the Board. During the Year, the Board reviewed the
effectiveness of the internal control and risk management systems of the
Group on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls
and risk management. The review covers aspects relating to financial and
compliance controls of the major subsidiaries of the Company. Moreover,
operation professionals had been appointed to perform reviews on the new
information systems and operations. These reviews included operational
workflow and risk management controls over new manufacturing functions
of the Company. It was also the Board’s review to consider the adequacy
of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and
budget of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function.

The Board is satisfied that the systems of risk management and internal
control in place for the year under review and up to the date of issuance of
the annual report and accounts are reasonably effective and adequate.

UNCERTAINTIES RELATING TO GOING
CONCERN AND DECONSOLIDATION OF A
SUBSIDIARY

According to the independent auditor’s report on pages 60 to 65 of this
annual report, the Company’s auditors expressed a disclaimer of opinion on
the consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended 30
June 2021 regarding:

(@  Uncertainties relating to going concern; and
(b)  Deconsolidation of a subsidiary.
The followings are further information regarding the above matters:

(@) Uncertainties relating to going concern
The management’s position and basis (the “Going Concern Basis”) on
the going concern assumption has been referred to in note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2021 in
this Report (2021 Financial Statements”) dated 29 October 2021.

Referring to independent auditor’s report on pages 60 to 65 of this
annual report, the management of the Company noted that the
Company’s auditors (the “Auditors”) considered the following:

1. The going concern basis of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements had been adequately disclosed in the
consolidated financial statements;
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UNCERTAINTIES RELATING TO GOING
CONCERN AND DECONSOLIDATION OF A
SUBSIDIARY (Continued)

(@) Uncertainties relating to going concern (Continued)

2. The Group incurred net loss of approximately HK$459.6
million for the year ended 30 June 2021 and, as of that date,
the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by
approximately HK$958.4 million. As at 30 June 2021, the Group
had bank loans and bonds payable amounted to approximately
HK$59.2 million and HK$1,085.8 million respectively, out
of which approximately HK$32.9 million and HK$8.8 million
respectively had been overdue and had not been settled by the
Group. No waiver was granted by the respective lenders during
the year and up to the date when 2021 Financial Statements
were authorized for issue;

3. Up to the date of the report, no agreement has been reached
with bondholders for the bonds in the amount of HK$100 million;

4. Up to the date of this report, the sales of land use rights of
certain lands in the PRC had not been completed;

5. Up to the date of this report, no agreement has been reached
with the counterparty in a litigation case in the amount of HK$71
million.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that the Group has
sufficient working capital for its present requirements, that is for 18
months ending 31 December 2022, on the assumption that the
Company would (i) reach an extension agreement regarding the bonds
of HK$100 million due to the bondholders; (i) complete the sales
of land use rights of certain lands in the PRC shortly; (iii) reach an
extension or waiver agreement regarding the HK$71 million provision
for a litigation case; and (iv) successfully implement the cost cutting
measures to reduce administrative expenses and cash outflows
(collectively the “Going Concern Measures”). However, as the Auditors
were unable to obtain sufficient evidence from the management for the
above underlying assumptions on going concern, the Auditors issued a
disclaimer of opinion in relation to limitation of scope of the adoption of
going concern basis in preparing the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2021.
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UNCERTAINTIES RELATING TO GOING
CONCERN AND DECONSOLIDATION OF A
SUBSIDIARY (Continued)

(@) Uncertainties relating to going concern (Continued) (a)

EBRFELE 2 THBAEZ @)

The Company considers it necessary to implement the Going Concern
Measures for addressing the audit qualification made for the year
ended 30 June 2021.

The Company is currently working on possible action plans (the “Action
Plans”) to address the audit qualification regarding going concern
assumption for the subsequent financial years, including negotiation
and conclusion for a longer term of renewal of existing borrowings and
other liabilities (the “Debts”) and possible ways for repayment of the
Debts.

The Company would strive to finalise and implement the Action Plans
which should address the audit qualification regarding going concern
assumption for the financial year ending 30 June 2022.

The Auditors considered that, in respect of the going concern
assumption as set out in note 2 to the 2021 Financial Statements, the
audit modification on going concern would be removed in the next
year’s auditor report if:

1. The Company can successfully obtain extension of the bond
payable in the mount of HK$100 million;

2. The Company can complete the sale of land use rights of certain
lands in the PRC;

3. The Company can successfully reach an extension or waiver
agreement regarding a provision of HK$71 million in a litigation
case; and

4. The Company can successfully implement cost cutting measures.

The audit committee has discussed with the Company, reviewed the
2021 Financial Statements, and agreed with the going concern basis
of preparation of the consolidated financial statements as well as the
necessity to implement the Going Concern Measures and to finalise
and implement the Action Plans for addressing the audit qualification.

The audit committee has also discussed with the Auditors and reviewed
the audit qualification and basis of the qualification.
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UNCERTAINTIES RELATING TO GOING
CONCERN AND DECONSOLIDATION OF A
SUBSIDIARY (Continued)

(b) Deconsolidation of a subsidiary

The Company and the audit committee is of the view that the issues
giving rise to the Deconsolidation would have effect on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2022 as
the disposal of Deconsolidated Subsidiary is expected to be completed
in December 2021. A qualified opinion regarding the corresponding
figures and consequential effect arising from the Deconsolidation will
be contained in the consolidated financial statements of the Company
for the year ending 30 June 2022 if the disposal of the Deconsolidated
Subsidiary is completed in the financial year ending 30 June 2022.

The Board has obtained the understanding with the auditor of the
Company that the Company considers itself to have addressed the
issues giving rise to the disclaimer of opinion in the consolidated
financial statement for the year ended 30 June 2021 and barring
unforeseen circumstances, a disclaimer of opinion in respect of
the same issues should no longer be required to be included in the
consolidated financial statements for the year ending 30 June 2022.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS

The Company encourages two-way communications with both institutional
and private investors. Extensive information about the Company’s activities
is provided in its annual reports and interim reports, which are sent to
shareholders of the Company.

Designated executive Directors and senior management maintain regular
dialogue with institutional investors and analysts to keep them abreast of
the Company’s developments. Enquiries from investors are dealt with in an
informative and timely manner. Investors may write directly to the Company at
its principal place of business in Hong Kong for any inquiries.
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EEERHE (F)

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS (Continued)

At general meetings, the Chairman of the meetings raises separate resolutions
for each effectively independent matter. The general meetings of the Company
provide an opportunity for communication between the shareholders and
the Board. The Chairman and the chairman of the Board committees, or in
their absence, other members of the respective committees, must attend
the annual general meeting to address shareholders’ queries. The external
auditor is also invited to attend the Company’s annual general meetings and
is available to assist the Directors in addressing queries from shareholders
relating to the conduct of the audit and the preparation and content of its
auditor’s report.

Shareholder(s) holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting at
general meetings can make a requisition to convene an extraordinary general
meeting pursuant to article 62 of the Company’s Bye-laws. The procedures
for shareholders to put forward proposals at general meetings are stated as
follows:

(@  The written requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, and
must be signed by all the shareholders concerned and may consist
of several documents in like form each signed by one or more
shareholders concerned.

(b)  The written requisition must be stated with the head office of the
Company at Room 4007, 40/F., China Resources Building, 26 Harbour
Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong, for the attention of the Directors or the
Company Secretary.

(c)  The written requisition will be verified with the Company’s branch share
registrar and upon their confirmation that the request is proper and in
order, the Company Secretary will ask the Board to include the relevant
resolution in the agenda for such general meeting. Such general
meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition.

(d) If within 21 days of such deposit, the Directors fail to proceed
to convene such a general meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may themselves convene a meeting, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Directors to do so shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.
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EEERHE (F)

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND INVESTOR

RELATIONS (Continued)

During the Year, two general meetings were held. The 2020 annual general
meeting was held on 9 December 2020 and a special general meeting was
held on 22 March 2021. The attendance record of each Director, on a named
basis and by category, at the general meetings held during the Year under

review is set out below:

BREREFMRIREEBZR@

RAFE  ERITMABRERE - —Z-TFK
RBFRER_Z_ZF+ _ANASRTRER
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BR - REBRERMEIDBREEHERRA
BZRBREFEIIIT

Number of general
meetings attended/
Number of general
meetings held

HERRKERE

Directors BE BRAGRITRIH

Executive Directors HiTEF

Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe BRE 2+ 2/2

Mr. Gao Ran (Note (i) = 5 A (BHEE()) 0/2

Mr. Law Tze Ping Eric ETTRE 0/2

Mr. Yu Defa FrEsks 0/2

Mr. Chen Lei (Note (ii)) PR o A (BRE()) 0/2

Mr. Lin Bitian (Note (i) R B 5 A (PR R Gil)) 0/0

Independent non-executive Directors BIHHTEE

Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan BEEMSEE 0/2

Mr. Tam Ching Ho BERHEE 0/2

Mr. Hau Chi Kit EEALE 0/2

Notes: MIE

(i) Mr. Gao Ran was appointed as an executive Director on 23 July 2020. () SHEERZEEFELAT=HEZEAH
TE= -

(i)~ Mr. Chen Lei has resigned as an executive Director on 3 May 2021. (i REXENR_E_—FRA=ZHBHEIRTES -

(iii) Mr. Lin Bitian was appointed as an executive Director on 12 March 2020, and

had then resigned on 10 July 2020.

No amendments were made to the Company’s Bye-laws during the Year.
The Company’s Bye-laws is available on both the websites of HKEx and the

Company.

(i) MYBEER-Z_TF=A+-_AEZETAH
TEE  HER-Z-ZTFLA+HEE -

AEERN » ARAZAAARILEELIERT - &
it

RNA]Z AR RIAES A BT R AN A Bl AT B R



FEEREERRAT

T FFR

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

EEERHE (F)

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS (Continued)

Shareholder services

Any matter in relation to the transfer of shares, change of name or address, or
loss of share certificates should be addressed to the Company’s Hong Kong
branch share registrar and transfer office as follows:

Tricor Tengis Limited

54/F, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong
Tel: 2980 1888

Fax: 2861 0285

Shareholders’ enquiries to the Board

Shareholders of the Company may send their enquiries to the Board in writing
with contact details (including registered name, address, telephone number
and email address) to the Company Secretary as follows:

Address:  Room 4007, 40/F., China Resources Building,
26 Harbour Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong
Telephone: 2845 3131

Fax: 2845 3535

Email: info@xinyangmaojian.com.hk
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe (Ff £), aged 52, is the chairman (the “Chairman”) and
chief executive officer of the Group and joined the Group as an executive
Director in January 2004. Ms. Chan is responsible for the overall management
and business development of the Group. Ms. Chan holds a bachelor’s degree
in Accountancy from the Queensland University of Technology in Australia. Ms.
Chan has more than 10 years of experience in the areas of corporate finance
and management. Save as disclosed herein, Ms. Chan did not hold any other
directorships in listed public companies in the last three years. Ms. Chan was
appointed as the Chairman and a member of nomination committee of the
Company (the “Nomination Committee”) with effect from 2 February 2012.

Mr. Gao Ran (5 ), aged 30, is an executive Director and vice-chairman.
He is currently the chairman of Shenzhen Global Fund Management Co.,
Ltds (I 2 ERE S EE B R A A]). He was the non-executive director
of Lapco Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8472), a company listed on GEM
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) until
20 November 2020. He has extensive experience in fund investment and
asset management, corporate strategy, corporate finance and business
development and management. Mr. Gao was appointed as an executive
Director with effect from 23 July 2020.

From June 2013 to September 2015, he was the chairman of Changchun
Houde Real Estate Brokerage Co., Ltd.* (R&ETEEEELLER A F).
He also served as the chairman of Changchun Haizhong Real Estate
Brokerage Co., Ltd.* (K& M /857 i E £ 42 A R 2 7)) from October 2011 to
May 2012.

Mr. Gao was recognized as “Top Ten Leaders in China’s Financial Industry”
(FELFITE T EEEAY), “Outstanding Leader of Jilin Province™ (Z#4&
#EHSBE AY) and “Top Ten Outstanding Youth in Jilin Province™ (& #54& +
A EEH FF) and “First Person in Venture Capital after 90s™ (9078 &l 1% &
% — A) by Beiing General Evaluation and Certification Center* (1t /L 2218 &
FE2RFEH D) and Beijing Evaluation and Assessment Center for Enterprise
Creditability* (It REFFEZE R FEEMFFMEF D), in 2017, 2018 and 2019
respectively.

Mr. Gao is currently pursuing an executive master of business administration
degree with The PBC School of Finance of Tsinghua University (&% A2
BH D RIEM).
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Mr. Law Tze Ping Eric (), aged 41, is an executive Director. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Law worked as a business consultant and provided
consultancy services for listed and non-listed companies in Hong Kong.
Save as disclosed herein, Mr. Law did not hold any other directorships in
listed public companies in the last three years. Mr. Law was appointed as an
executive Director with effect from 3 March 2015.

Mr. Yu Defa ( F & 2 ), aged 54, is an executive Director. He is currently
the chief operation director of Heihe Longjiang Chemical Limited* (“Heihe
Longjiang”), a subsidiary of the Company. Mr. Yu had been the sales and
operating general manager of medium-sized enterprises with more than ten
years of extensive experiences in sales operation and management.

He joined the Group in October 2011 and was promoted as the deputy
general manager of Heihe Longjiang in October 2013. Mr. Yu majored in civil
work engineering in Harbin University of Science and Technology from 1988
to 1990. Save as disclosed herein, Mr. Yu did not hold any other directorships
in listed public companies in the last three years. Mr. Yu was appointed as an
executive Director with effect from 5 May 2014.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan (F52fi%), aged 56, is an independent non-executive
Director and is also the chairman of the audit committee of the Company (the
“Audit Committee”) and a member of each of the remuneration committee
of the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”) and the Nomination
Committee. Mr. Ma is the finance director of Union Sun International Group
Limited, a non-listed company with affiliates dealing in property development
in the PRC. He was an independent director of Celestial Nutrifoods Limited
(the shares of which are listed on the main board of Singapore Exchange
Securities Trade Limited (the “Singapore Exchange”)) until 18 July 2011.
He has approximately 20 years of experience in the areas of audit, financial
management and operational management. Mr. Ma is an associate member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Ma was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director in February 2001.

BYVPRE M5 MTES - RMBEAKE
Al - BAEESEECEBER  UREELHRIE
LT RABHREERRSS - RAFRPIWEESIN
BAENBE=F AU BT LT RRQ B HEM
HpEERA - BELEZEAWTES B
T-HFE=ZA=ZBREM -

TRBEL 545 BITES  BHLELRF
MEARRBRIICIARAR (BRI Z
BERE TRECHEZHETLMERETHER

I

<
v

REmEE  rHEKEREE T AERATF

BER_F——F+ANALEER  R-F—=F
TRAERARBAEIZEIEKRE - ThAER
—HNEFE-NNETFERBEE T ABEE
TETERE - RAFHRABEEIN  TRER
BEZFUEEEETARDANEAEMES
BAL - TEARZERWITEST BT MF
TARBRER -

BIFHTES

BEMELE - 5657 BUINTESRARAE
ZEZEg([BEREZEEEE AARFMES
e((FMEEG ) RIREEZEGNE - HEER
3F_E A AlUnion Sun International Group Limited
2B EE  RARBEO X HMENRBIREEYE
BE - WERREEEEEAR QA (ERMRH
IEFEEZSAARAR (R ERET)Z
BUESE HEE-_ZT——FtA+\BAL- %
PIZE - BISEIE R EEEIE S EEHBL20F K
B BAERBAGHMAGEE - HBEERS
TE—F - ABZEARERRRBIIFNITES -

41



42

Xinyang Maojian Group Limited Annual Report 2021

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
EERERERASHN(H)

Mr. Tam Ching Ho (FE B %), aged 50, appointed on 30 June 2007, is an
independent non-executive Director and is also a member of each of
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee. Mr. Tam is a certified public accountant (practising) registered
with the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”).
He has worked in a reputable international accounting firm for about eight
years and specialised in providing assurance services for pre-listing, listed
and multinational companies. He has also held senior positions in several
companies, including as a financial controller of a company listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange and another company listed on the main board
of the Singapore Exchange for a total of about seven years. Mr. Tam has
accumulated extensive experiences in corporate finance and administration,
listing compliance, investor relations, accounting and auditing. Mr. Tam
holds a bachelor’'s degree of arts with honors in accountancy. He is an
associate member of the HKICPA and a fellow member of The Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Tam is also currently an independent
non-executive director of Chaoda Modern Agriculture (Holdings) Limited
(Stock Code: 682), the shares of which are listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange. Save as disclosed herein, Mr. Tam did not hold any other
directorships in listed companies in the last three years.

Mr. Hau Chi Kit (&% #), aged 50, appointed on 18 December 2013, is an
independent non-executive Director and also a member of each of the Audit
committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee.
He was a barrister-at-law in private practice in Hong Kong from 2001 to
2008. Prior to becoming a barrister, he worked at the Securities and Futures
Commission. Mr. Hau is currently a solicitor and is an independent non-
executive director of Zhongzheng International Company Limited (formerly
known as “e-Force Holdings Limited”) (Stock Code: 943), a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and hmvod Limited (formerly
known as “Trillion Grand Corporate Company Limited”) (Stock Code: 8103),
a company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange, respectively. Mr. Hau was
an independent non-executive director of Code Agriculture (Holdings) Limited
(currently known as “Farnova Group Holdings Limited”), a company listed on
GEM of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 8153) until 18 July 2019. Save
as disclosed herein, Mr. Hau did not hold any other directorships in listed
companies in the last three years.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Ma Kin Ling ( 5 # % ), aged 39, is the chief financial officer and the
company secretary of the Group. Mr. Ma is responsible for the financial
reporting and company’s secretarial functions of the Group. Mr. Ma
graduated from City University of Hong Kong with a bachelor’s degree
in Accountancy and Law. Mr. Ma joined the Group in May 2016. Prior to
joining the Group, he worked in a reputable international accounting firm and
has over 10 years of professional experience in accounting, auditing and
financial management. Mr. Ma is a member of the HKICPA. Mr. Ma is also an
independent non-executive director of SunCorp Technologies Limited (Stock
Code: 1063) and Wisdom Wealth Resources Investment Holding Group
Limited (formerly known as “Hong Kong Finance Investment Holding Group
Limited”) (Stock Code: 7), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange, respectively. Save as disclosed herein, Mr. Ma did not
hold any other directorships in listed companies in the last three years.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT REMUNERATION
SYSTEM

The remuneration system of the senior management of the Group is a
combination of the economic benefit of the senior management (including
executive directors) and the operational results and share performance of the
Group. Most of the members of the senior management have signed result
examination contracts’ with the Company. In this system, the remuneration of
the senior management comprises three parts, namely, basic salary, bonus
and share options. The floating remuneration of the senior management
represents approximately 70% to 75% of their total potential remuneration,
which includes result bonuses and share options representing approximately
15% to 25% and 50% to 60% respectively of their total potential
remuneration. Floating remuneration is linked with the specific business
performance indicators, for example, the net profit, capital return and cost
reduction indicator.

* For identification purpose only
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EEEHRE

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) present their report and the
audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2021 (the
“Year”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the
principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 23 to the financial
statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the Year by business segments is

set out in note 11 to the financial statements and in the section “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s loss for the Year and the state of affairs of the Company and of
the Group as at that date are set out in the financial statements on pages 67
to 72 of this annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of dividend for the Year.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following is a summary of the published consolidated results and of the

ARAEZE([EF ) EURE2AKEHE_F
TFRNAZTREFRE(ARFEDZEZER
EFRBERIHRE

FEEHR

ARBZ EBEBR/REER - MBARZER
EBFHBER B REM T3 -

REBNAFERERD BB D 2 FE DTN
MEHBRMENRAFREEETRBEIIT]—

i e

FEARKRE

AEEARFE 2 BEBRARARBEAEBERNZA
ZEBIRR - MR ANFHRECTET2E 2]

*xo

EETHBRNAFEZRES

B ERSE
LT ARS A EBRIEHRERNEEER TS

assets, liabilities and equity of the Group for the last five financial years, as %Il 2 N5 B &3 AR B S 2 T3 A 348
extracted from the audited financial statements and restated as appropriate: BEERGENARERIHE -
Results E 4
Year ended 30 June
BEAA=THLEE
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
—EC-F ZE-THF ZE-NEF ZE-NFE ZE—+F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FHT FHT FAT FHT
REVENUE Wz 229,021 194,337 323,048 367,632 186,110
LOSS FROM OPERATIONS KEER (332,575)  (254,861)  (606,188) (143,287 (91,744)
Finance costs SRR (126,121) (110,944 (92,627) (82,594) (60,078)
LOSS BEFORE TAX BB ATEE (458,696)  (365,805)  (698,815)  (225,881) (151,822
Income tax credit (expenses) FTEREe (Fx) (890) - 1,233 7,267 20,945
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR A& #F],/ (F518) (459,586)  (365,805) (697,582) (218,614) 61,318
Attributable to: FE1G
Owners of the Company RARER A (450,353) (354,886) (667,369) (199,324) 68,481
Non-controlling interests FEERER (9,233) (10,919) (30,213) (19,290) (7,163)
(459,586) (365,805) (697,582) (218,614) 61,318
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Continued)

Assets, liabilities and equity

EEeRE(E)

BRERE @

aE  BEKkER

At 30 June

RARA=+H
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
—E--& —T-%F —_TNEF —TN\F —TtF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FET FHT FET FET
Non-current assets ETBEE 1,745,820 1,757,042 1,930,613 2,819,057 2,919,362
Current assets FEEE 325,533 173,941 252,313 357,732 231,442
TOTAL ASSETS BEHAE 2,071,353 1,930,983 2,182,926 3,176,789 3,150,804
Non-current liabilities ELTEN=E 698,699 1,173,366 1,125,313 1,113,572 937,770
Current liabilities mEAE 1,283,945 394,071 276,518 386,302 344,750
TOTAL LIABILITIES BEAE 1,982,644 1567437 1,401,831 1,499,874 1,282,520
TOTAL EQUITY RS 88,709 363,546 781,095 1,676,915 1,868,284

Attributable to: JEAG -

Owners of the Company AARHEAA 29,564 302,562 706,827 1,583,802 1,758,756
Non-controlling interests FEE R R 59,145 60,984 74,268 93,113 109,528
88,709 363,546 781,095 1,676,915 1,868,284

Note: The results of the Group for the Year and the assets, liabilities and equity of the

Group as at 30 June 2021 are those set out in the audited financial statements
on pages 66 to 67 and pages 68 to 69 of this annual report, respectively.

The results of the Group for the years ended 30 June 2017, 2018, 2019 and
2020, respectively, have been extracted from the audited financial statements of
the Company for the respective years and have been restated as appropriate.

The assets, liabilities and equity of the Group as at 30 June 2017, 2018,
2019 and 2020, respectively, have been extracted from the audited financial
statements of the Company for the respective years.
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EEEHRE(E)

FIXED ASSETS

Details of movements in the Group’s fixed assets and right-of-use assets are
set out in notes 18 and 19 to the financial statements, respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

The Company’s current share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was proposed
by the Board on 29 November 2012 and approved by its shareholders on
20 December 2012. The purpose of the Scheme is to provide incentives or
rewards to the eligible participants for their contribution to the Group. The
Directors may, at its absolute discretion, offer any employee (whether full time
or part time, including any executive Directors, any non-executive Directors
(including independent non-executive Directors), any person or entity that
provides research, development or other technological support to the Group,
any shareholder of any member of the Group, any adviser (professional
or otherwise) or consultant to the Group and any joint venture partner or
counterparty to business transactions of the Group, to take up share options
(the “Options”) to subscribe for Shares on the terms set out in the Scheme.
Details of the Scheme were provided in the Company’s circulars dated 29
November 2012, 17 February 2017, 14 November 2017, 20 November 2019
and 13 November 2020.

Unless otherwise terminated by the Company’s shareholders at general
meeting in accordance with the terms of the Scheme, the Scheme shall be
valid and effective for a period of 10 years from 20 December 2012, after
which no further Option will be granted or offered, but the provisions of
the Share Option Scheme shall remain in full force and effect to the extent
necessary to give effect to the exercise of any subsisting Option granted
prior to the expiry of this 10-year period or otherwise as may be required
in accordance with the provisions of the Scheme. The remaining life of the
Scheme is two years.
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SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

The maximum number of Shares in respect of which Options may be granted
under the Scheme when aggregated with the maximum number of Shares in
respect of which Options may be granted under any other scheme shall not
exceed 10% of the Company’s issued Shares on the adoption date without
prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. The maximum number
of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding Options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme and any other Options
granted and yet to be exercised under any other scheme shall not exceed
30% of the Company’s issued Shares from time to time. No Option may be
granted to any person such that the total number of Shares issued and to
be issued upon the exercise of Options granted and to be granted to that
person in any 12-month period up to the date of the latest grant exceeds 1%
of the Company’s issued Shares from time to time, unless the approval of the
Company’s shareholders is obtained. As at 12 November 2021, being the
latest practicable date prior to the printing of this annual report (the “Latest
Practicable Date”), the Scheme mandate limit was 138,720,731 Options,
and the Company may further grant 138,720,731 Options, representing
approximately 7.82% of the issued Shares of the Company as at the Latest
Practicable Date.

The period within which the Options must be exercised will be specified
by the Company at the time of grant, and must expire no later than 10
years from the date of grant of the Option (being the date on which the
Board makes a written offer of grant of the Option to the relevant proposed
beneficiary) unless the Company obtains separate shareholders’ approval in
relation to such grant.

An Option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Scheme
at any time during a period to be determined and notified by the Directors
to each grantee, which period may commence on a day after the date upon
which the offer for the grant of Options is made but shall end in any event
not later than 10 years from the date of grant of the Option subject to the
provisions for early termination thereof. Unless otherwise determined by the
Directors and stated in the offer of the grant of Options to a grantee, there is
no minimum period required under the Scheme for the holding of an Option
before it can be exercised.
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SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

The subscription price for Shares under the Scheme shall be a price
determined by the Directors, but shall not be less than the highest of (i) the
closing price of Shares as stated in The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited’s (the “Stock Exchange”) daily quotations sheet on the date of the
offer of grant, which must be a business day; (i) the average closing price of
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of the offer of grant; and (iii)
the nominal value of the Shares. A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable
on acceptance of the grant of an Option within such time as may be specified
in the offer (which shall not be later than 21 days from the offer date).
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Details of the movement of the Options pursuant to the Scheme during the ~ BEIER AR EZRIFZTE 2 ESFBEHRTH
Year are set out in note 29 of the financial statements and are included in the — FR&XMF29 * ZIATEK :
table as follows:
Options Options
granted exercised Options Options Options Date of Date of Exercise
Number of Options held during the during the cancelled lapsed held at grant of expiry of price of
category of at 30 June Year Year  during the during the 30 June Options Options Options
participants 2020 (Note iii) (Note i) Year Year 2021 (Note i) (Note i) per Share
R-ZZE2F KEEREN FAFEF R-B=-F EkRE B =1
SEEEH ~A=ZTA AR WERE AEEFH AEEAXR  AA=1A REAH &% A & R
R¥E BENBRE (B &) (Fzzi) MR R MEBRE BENERE () (PrzEi) @
Directors
4
Chan Yuk Foebe 10,780,000 - - - (10,780,000) - 26/07/2017  25/07/2020 HK$0.345
35 0.34578 7T
- 183,000,000 - - - 13,000,000 3/11/2020  2/11/2023 HK$0.38
0.38/87T
Law Tsz Ping Eric 10,780,000 - - - (10,780,000) - 17/07/2017  16/07/2020 HK$0.31
BYY 0.3187L
- 13,000,000 - - - 13,000,000 3/11/2020  2/11/2023 HK$0.38
0.387% 7L
Yu Defa - 13,000,000 - - - 13,000,000 3/11/2020  2/11/2023 HK$0.38
TiEE 0.38%7T
Hau Chi Kit - 8,500,000 - - - 8,500,000 3/11/2020  2/11/2023 HK$0.38
s 0.38% 7T
Ma Wing Yun Bryan - 8,500,000 - - - 8,500,000 3/11/2020  2/11/2023 HK$0.38
HRM 0.38/ 7T
Tam Ching Ho - 8,500,000 - - - 8,500,000 3/11/2020  2/11/2023 HK$0.38
BHE 0.38%7T
Other Employees 41,120,000 - (10,780,000) - (30,340,000) - 26/07/2017  25/07/2020 HK$0.345
H8T 0.345%7T
102,500,000 - (47,500,000 - - 55,000,000 24/12/2018  23/12/2021 HK$0.325
0.325%7T
- 65,000,000  (13,000,000) - - 52,000,000 3/11/2020  2/11/2023 HK$0.38
0.38/87L
Total 165,180,000 129,500,000 (71,280,000 - (51,900,000) 171,500,000
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SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

Notes:

0] The vesting period and exercise period of the Options are both the period
between the date of grant of Options and date of expiry of Options.

(ii) The weighted average closing price of the Shares immediately before the dates
on which the Options were exercised was approximately HK$0.362.

(iii) The closing price of the Shares immediately before the dates on which the
Options were granted was approximately HK$0.38.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Bye-laws
and there was no restrictions against such rights under the laws of Bermuda,
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
the existing shareholders.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan, Mr. Tam
Ching Ho and Mr. Hau Chi Kit an annual confirmation of their independence
pursuant to the Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company are of the
view that all independent non-executive directors of the Company have met
the independent guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and
considers that they are independent.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or
sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and of the Company
during the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
on page 70 of this annual report and note 30(b) to the financial statements as
set out on page 164 of this annual report, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

As at 30 June 2021, no Company’s reserves are available for distribution to
the Shareholders (2020: Nil).
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted
for approximately 25% of the Group’s total sales for the year and the sales to
the largest customer included therein amounted to approximately 9%.

Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 71% of the Group’s total purchases for the year and purchases
from the largest supplier included therein amounted to approximately 32%.

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any shareholders (which,
to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest
customers or suppliers.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions of the Group as set out in note 45 to the
financial statements constituted fully exempted connected transactions
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Save as disclosed in this annual
report, there was no other transaction which would need to be disclosed as
connected transactions in compliance with the disclosure requirements in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report are as follows:

Executive Directors:

Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe

Mr. Gao Ran (appointed on 23 July 2020)
Mr. Law Tze Ping Eric

Mr. Yu Defa

Mr. Lin Bitian (resigned on 10 July 2020)
Mr. Chen Lei (resigned on 3 May 2021)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan

Mr. Tam Ching Ho

Mr. Hau Chi Kit

In accordance with clauses 99 and 102 of the Company’s Bye-laws, Ms.
Chan Yuk Foebe, Mr. Gao Ran, Mr. Hau Chi Kit and Mr. Ma Wing Yun
Bryan will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting (the “AGM”).
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DIRECTORS (cContinued)

Pursuant to code provision A.4.3 of the Corporate Governance Code
contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, if an independent non-
executive director serves more than nine years, his further appointment
should be subject to a separate resolution to be approved by shareholders.
Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director in February 2001 and therefore would have served for more than
9 years as at the date of the AGM. Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan has confirmed
his independence with reference to the factors as set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. Notwithstanding his years of service as an independent
non-executive Director, (i) the Board has assessed and reviewed the annual
confirmation of independence based on the criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and affirmed that Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan remains independent;
(ii) the Nomination Committee has assessed and is satisfied of the
independence of Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan; and (jii) the Board is satisfied that
through exercising scrutinising and monitoring functions as an independent
non-executive Director, Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan has continued to provide
independent and objective judgement and advice to the Board to safeguard
the interests of the Group and the Shareholders. As such, the Board believes
that Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan has the character, integrity, independence
and expertise to continue to fulfil his role as an independent non-executive
Director effectively and will continue to bring valuable experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board and would recommend Mr. Ma Wing Yun
Bryan for re-election as an independent non-executive Director at the AGM.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the Group are
set out on pages 40 to 43 of this annual report.

CHANGES OF INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS
UNDER RULE 13.51B(1) OF LISTING RULES

No information was required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of
the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe has entered into a service contract with the Company
commencing from 22 November 2004, which shall, subject to the
re-appointment as a director of the Company in accordance with the
Company’s Bye-laws, continue until terminated by either party giving not less
than three months’ notice in writing to the other. Mr. Gao Ran has entered
into a letter of appointment with the Company for an initial term of one year
commencing from 23 July 2020, which shall, subject to the reappointment
as a Director in accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws, continue until
terminated by either party giving not less than one month’s notice in writing
to the other. Mr. Yu Defa has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for an initial term of two years commencing from 5 May 2014,
which shall, subject to his re-appointment as a director of the Company
in accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws, continue until terminated by
either party giving not less than three months’ notice in writing to the other.
The term of his appointment was since renewed for a further term of two
years commencing from 5 May 2018. Mr. Law Tze Ping Eric have entered
into a letter of appointment with the Company for an initial term of two years
commencing from 3 March 2015, which shall, subject to the reappointment
as a director of the Company in accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws,
continue until terminated by either party giving not less than three months’
notice in writing to the other. The term of his appointment was since renewed
for a further term of two years commencing from 3 March 2019.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS (Continued)

Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan was appointed for a term of two years as an
independent non-executive director of the Company commencing from
28 February 2001. The term of his appointment was renewed for a further
two-year term commencing from 28 February 2003. Upon expiry of his
appointment on 27 February 2005, the Company did not renew the service
contract with Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan until 24 March 2006. The Company
renewed the service contract with Mr. Ma Wing Yun, Bryan for a further term
of three years, commencing from 1 April 2006. The term of his appointment
was since renewed for a further term of two years commencing from 1 April
2009, 1 April 2011, 1 April 2013, 1 April 2015, 1 April 2017, 1 April 2019 and
1 April 2021, respectively.

The Company entered into a service contract with Mr. Tam Ching Ho
commencing from 30 June 2007 to the then following annual general meeting
(i.e. 6 December 2007) of the Company. On 7 December 2007, the Company
renewed the service contract with Mr. Tam Ching Ho for a term of two years
as an independent non-executive director of the Company commencing from
7 December 2007. Moreover, the term of his appointment was renewed for a
further term of two years commencing from 7 December 2009, 7 December
2011, 7 December 2013, 7 December 2015, 7 December 2017 and 7
December 2019, respectively.

The Company entered into a service contract with Mr. Hau Chi Kit for a term
of two years commencing from 18 December 2013 as an independent non-
executive director. Moreover, the term of his appointment was renewed
for a further term of two years commencing from 18 December 2015, 18
December 2017 and 18 December 2019, respectively.

Save as disclosed above, no Director proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company
which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No Director had a material interest in any transactions, arrangements or
contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the Year.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance has been entered into between the Company
or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling shareholders or any of its
subsidiaries during the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or in
existence during the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS OR SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 30 June 2021, the interests of the Directors and chief executive of the
Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
and its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO”)),
which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in
the register referred to therein or which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) in the Listing Rules

were as follows:
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Interests in the Shares and Underlying Shares RO REBER G ZER

Number of % of issued Share % of issued

Shares held capital of options capital of

Name of director Type of interest (long position) the Company held the Company

R m A EERRE BT EARRABE BT

BEng &SR (#R) BREBFDL PRSI BREES L

Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe Beneficial interest 2,860,000 0.18 13,000,000 0.81
et Eakn

Mr. Law Tze Ping Eric Beneficial interest 1,400,000 0.09 13,000,000 0.81
BYTHEE EalEn

Mr. Yu Defa Beneficial interest N/A TNE A N/A TNE A 13,000,000 0.81
TEHLE BatEn

Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan Beneficial interest N/A TNEA N/A T A 8,500,000 0.53
BEmEE Eakn

Mr. Tam Ching Ho Beneficial interest N/A i N/A i 8,500,000 0.53
BERREE oy i

Mr. Hau Chi Kit Beneficial interest N/A TNE A N/A TNE A 8,500,000 0.53
EEGELE BantEn

Interest of spouse (note) 2,000,000 0.12 N/A NEHA N/A T

e fBra (Fiat)

Note: Mr. Hau Chi Kit is the spouse of Ms. Angel Luke. Therefore, Mr. Hau Chi Kit is
deemed to be interested in all the Shares that Ms. Angel Luke is interested in for
the purpose of the SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS OR SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES (continued)

Interests in the Shares and Underlying Shares (Continued)
Save as disclosed herein, as at 30 June 2021, none of the Directors and
chief executives of the Company and their respective associates had or was
deemed to have any interests or short positions in any Shares, underlying
Shares or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they are deemed or
taken to have under provisions of the SFO) or which were required, pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register maintained by the
Company, or which were required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the Year were rights to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
granted to any director or their respective spouse or children under 18 years
of age, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company or
any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the directors to
acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

INTERESTS OF SHAREHOLDERS DISCLOSEABLE
UNDER THE SFO

As far as the Directors are aware and the disclosure information published on
the Stock Exchange’s website, as at 30 June 2021, the following persons,
other than a Director or chief executive of the Company, had an interest
or a short position in the shares and underlying shares in the Company as
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.
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Capacity Approximate
Name Number of Ordinary shares (subject to the notes below) percentage interest
®E ZEREE B4 (Z T XHERR) BORET DL
Mr. Chan Yuen Tung Long position Beneficial owner
PREER A e ERHEBA
382,000,000 23.82%




FEEREERRAT

57

T FFR

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

EEEHRE(E)

INTERESTS OF SHAREHOLDERS DISCLOSEABLE
UNDER THE SFO (Continued)

Save as disclosed above, as far as the Directors are aware, as at 30 June
2021, no other person had an interest or a short position in the shares and
underlying shares in the Company as recorded in the register required to be
kept under section 336 of the SFO.

EMOLUMENT POLICY AND LONG-TERM
INCENTIVE SCHEME OF THE GROUP

As at 30 June 2021, the Group had 632 full time employees in the PRC and
Hong Kong. The Group recognises the importance of human resources to its
success. Compensation for the Group is made in reference to the prevailing
market conditions, individual performance, contributions as well as duties and
responsibilities.

The Scheme is in place to provide appropriate long-term incentive to key staff
of the Group including executive Directors. Details of the Scheme are set out
in section “Share Options Scheme” of this report and note 29 to the financial
statements in this annual report.

BASIS OF DETERMINING EMOLUMENT TO
DIRECTORS

The same remuneration philosophy is applicable to the Directors. Apart from
benchmarking against the prevailing market condition, the Company will
assess individual performance, contributions, duties and responsibilities in
determining the remuneration for each Director.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual report, there
is sufficient public float of more than 25% of the Shares in the market as
required under the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the Year and up to the date of this annual report, no Director is
considered to have an interest in a business which competes or is likely
to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group,
pursuant to the Listing Rules, other than those businesses of which the
Directors were appointed as directors to represent the interests of the
Company and/or the Group.

INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

The Company has maintained appropriate directors and officers liability
insurance and such permitted indemnity provision (as defined in section 469
of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for the
benefit of the Directors is currently in force and was in force throughout the
Year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are set out in
the “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE REVIEW

The audit committee of the Company has reviewed the audited consolidated
results of the Group for the Year.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON THE
COMPANY’S CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR

As disclosed in sections headed “Disclaimer of Opinion” and “Basis for
Disclaimer of Opinion” in the independent auditors’ report of the Annual
Report, the auditors of the Company, Elite Partners CPA Limited (“Elite
Partners”) did not express an audit opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the Year as a result of certain matters.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

EEEHRE(E)

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities transactions
by the Directors. Having made specific enquiries to all the Directors, all the
Directors confirmed that they have complied with the code provisions in the
Model Code during the Year.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Save as disclosed under the paragraph headed “Events after the reporting
period” in this annual report, the Group had no significant events after 30
June 2021.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

AUDITOR

A resolution to re-appoint the retiring auditor, Elite Partners, will be put to a
vote at the forthcoming AGM.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Chan Yuk Foebe
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong
29 October 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
DR TR

elite
= partners

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

TO THE MEMBERS OF XINYANG MAOJIAN GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda with limited
liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of Xinyang
Maojian Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 66 to 180, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2021, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and the notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
a summary of significant accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group. Because of the significance of the matter described in the Basis for
Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we have not been able to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion
on these consolidated financial statements. In all other respects, in our
opinion the consolidated financial statements have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

BAZBE®RE ()

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

(@) Uncertainties relating to going concern

As described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group incurred a net loss of approximately HK$459.6 million for the
year ended 30 June 2021 and, as of that date, the Group’s current
liabilities exceeded its current assets by approximately HK$958.4
million. As at 30 June 2021, the Group’s bank loans and bonds payable
amounted to approximately HK$59.2 million and HK$1,085.8 million
respectively, out of which approximately HK$32.9 million and HK$8.8
million respectively had been overdue and had not been settled by the
Group. No waiver was granted by the respective lenders during the
year and up to the date when these consolidated financial statements
were authorised for issue.

Notwithstanding the abovementioned, the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, the validity
of which depends upon the Group’s ability to repay, renew or extend
existing borrowings and other liabilities upon their maturities, through
cash flows from operations and continuing support from the Group’s
finance providers and creditors. The appropriateness of preparation
of the consolidated financial statements on the going concern basis
highly depends on whether the assumptions taken into account
by the directors of the Company in the going concern assessment
as disclosed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements are
reasonable and whether the plans and measures can be implemented
successfully. Up to the date of this report, we were unable to obtain
sufficient supporting bases from the management for their underlying
assumptions on going concern as set out in Note 2 to the consolidated
financial statements to satisfy ourselves that they were reasonable and
supportable. Hence we were unable to assess the appropriateness
or reasonableness of the use of the going concern assumption in the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements.

Because of the significance of the matters above, we are unable to
form an opinion as to whether the use of going concern assumption in
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements is appropriate.
Should the Group fails to achieve the intended effects resulting from
the plans and measures as mentioned in Note 2 to the consolidated
financial statements, it might not be able to operate as a going concern,
and adjustments would have to be made to write down the carrying
amounts of the Group’s assets to their net realisable value, to provide
for any further liabilities that may arise and to reclassify non-current
assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities
respectively. The effects of these adjustments have not been reflected
in the consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

BAZBE®RE ()

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Continued)

(b) Deconsolidation of a subsidiary

During the year ended 30 June 2021, the Group acquired 70% equity
interest in Aevitas Wines Limited (the “Deconsolidated Subsidiary”), a
company incorporated in Hong Kong and principally engaged in trading
and sourcing of wine and related accessories (the “Acquisition”).

Since May 2021, the sole director of the Deconsolidated Subsidiary,
being the vendor of the Acquisition and held 30% equity interest in
the Deconsolidated Subsidiary after the Acquisition, did not cooperate
with the management of the Group to maintain the appropriate
internal control over the Deconsolidated Subsidiary and provide all
books and records of the Deconsolidated Subsidiary. In preparing the
Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June
2021, despite various communications with the sole director of the
Deconsolidated Subsidiary, the directors of the Company was unable
to obtain sufficient and appropriate books and records regarding
to the financial statements of the Deconsolidated Subsidiary. The
directors of the Company considered that the Company was unable to
exercise effective control over the Deconsolidated Subsidiary despite
various efforts made by the directors of the Company to resolve the
matters. Accordingly, the directors of the Company resolved that
it was impracticable to consolidate the financial information of the
Deconsolidated Subsidiary. Under this circumstance, the financial
results, assets and liabilities have been deconsolidated from the
Group with effective from 30 June 2021 (the “Deconsolidation”). The
Deconsolidation had resulted in a loss of approximately HK$4.4 million.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

BAZBE®RE ()

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Continued)

(b) Deconsolidation of a subsidiary (Continued)

Subsequent to 30 June 2021, the Company has entered into the sale

and purchase agreement with the sole director of the Deconsolidated
Subsidiary to dispose of the Deconsolidated Subsidiary with cash
consideration of HK$3.8 million.

Given these circumstances, we have not been provided with sufficient
documentary evidence on the Deconsolidated Subsidiary, accordingly
there were no alternative audit procedures that we could perform to
satisfy ourselves as to whether the Deconsolidation were appropriate
and the Company had lost control of the Deconsolidated Subsidiary
since 30 June 2021. We were also unable to perform satisfactory audit
procedures to assess as to whether the disclosure for the Acquisition
and the recoverability of amount due from the Deconsolidated
Subsidiary in the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 30 June 2021 are free from material misstatement.

Any adjustments that might have been found to be necessary in
respect of the above would have an effect on the Group’s net assets
as at 30 June 2021 and the financial performance and cash flows of
the Group for the year ended 30 June 2021 and may have resulted
in additional information being disclosed in the consolidated financial
statements as to the nature of the transactions and any contingent
liabilities, commitments, related party transactions and significant non-
adjusting subsequent events relating to the Deconsolidated Subsidiary.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

BAZBE®RE ()

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by
the HKICPA and to issue an auditor’s report. We report solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with section 90 of Bermuda Companies Act 1989, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report. However, because
of the matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of
our report, we were not able to form an audit opinion on these consolidated
financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

BAZBE®RE ()

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Leung Man Kin with Practising Certificate number PO7174.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

10/F, 8 Observatory Road
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon

Hong Kong

29 October 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

mEEER

for the year ended 30 June 2021 2 —F ——# NH=+HIFF/Z

2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
Note HK$°000 HK$’'000
FoaE FHET FAT
(Restated)
€ <=27))
Revenue & 9 229,021 194,337
Cost of sales SHERAN (179,127) (184,498)
Gross profit EF 49,894 9,839
Other income and other gains or losses H AU B2 B At Yoz ok s 18 10 (119,129) (92,513)
Losses on fair value of financial assets BAFAEFABR SREE
at fair value through profit or loss, net NHEEEFE (2,988) (65)
Selling and distribution costs SHE &9 SHR A (27,117) (14,866)
Administrative expenses TR (106,509) (65,380)
Other operating expenses H A A (122,598) (89,856)
Share of result of joint ventures DA EDEEE 20 266 (2,020)
Loss on deconsolidation of a subsidiary B A RKRIEGRAE AR ZEE 40 (4,394) =
Loss from operations ReEEE (332,575) (254,861)
Finance costs AR IDWIN 12 (126,121) (110,944)
Loss before tax FREL AT 18 (458,696) (365,805)
Income tax expense FrisBi X 13 (890) =
Loss for the year AEEEE 14 (459,586) (365,805)
Attributable to: FEG -
Owners of the Company NARER A (450,353) (354,886)
Non-controlling interests IR (9,233) (10,919)
(459,586) (365,805)
Loss per share EREE 17
- Basic (HK cents) — EARGEALD (31.35) (26.57)
- Diluted (HK cents) —#5E (Bl (31.35) (26.57)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

mEBERREMEEBAR

for the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z —E——FNA=+HIFFZ

2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FER FAT
(Restated)
(#£=31)
Loss for the year rEEBR (459,586) (365,805)
Other comprehensive income/(expense) BREEEME2EKRA(BX) :
after tax:
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to ~ HE7E A GEEF H 25 HE -
profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating HMEFINETSIE H =5
foreign operations 50,139 (54,087)
Share of other comprehensive income/ DMEALEEREMEEEA(FAX)
(expense) of joint ventures 871 (94)
Other comprehensive income/(expense) AEEHME2EWA (BX)  HIRHE
for the year, net of tax 51,010 (54,181)
Total comprehensive expense for the year ZEE2HEM AL (408,576) (419,986)
Attributable to: 4L -
Owners of the Company ViN/NEIEZEDN (405,020) (406,702)
Non-controlling interests FEPE AR b A (3,556) (13,284)
(408,576) (419,986)

67



68

Xinyang Maojian Group Limited Annual Report 2021

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

at 30 June 2021 R-—ZE—-——#F NH=+H

e MR R

2021 2020 2019
—E-—fF —E-TF —E-hF
Note HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
BRE FET FAT FAT
(Restated) (Restated)
(#&=51) (#&£=31)
Non-current assets FRBEE
Fixed assets EEEE 18 1,455,539 1,450,695 1,615,670
Right-of-use assets EREEE 19 280,173 297,376 -
Prepaid land lease payments TEf A E TR - - 308,288
Investments in joint ventures REEDEZIRE 20 10,108 8,971 2,787
Intangible assets mEE 21 - = 3,868
1,745,820 1,757,042 1,930,613
Current assets REBEE
Inventories T8 23 5,735 7,538 40,485
Trade receivables R E SERIE 24 23,020 27,300 42,862
Prepayments, deposits and other AR -~ F]e REME
receivables WRIE 25 105,096 130,282 161,038
Amount due from the Deconsolidated UK IFER B ABRMTB A
Subsidiary AIFIE 32,000 = =
Financial assets at fair value through BRAFEFTABmZ S
profit or loss =3 45 564 678 743
Bank and cash balances RITRIREET 26 46,775 8,143 7,185
213,190 173,941 252,313
Non-current asset held for sale BEHERIEREEE 27 112,343 - -
325,533 173,941 252,313
Total assets WEE 2,071,353 1,930,983 2,182,926
Capital and reserves EXRf#HE
Share capital %N 28 160,371 133,993 133,243
Reserves ik 31 (130,807) 168,569 573,584
Equity attributable to owners of the RAEIHEE AELERE
Company 29,564 302,562 706,827
Non-controlling interests FEFERR M A 59,145 60,984 74,268
Total equity MR 88,709 363,546 781,095
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

69

memBERRR(E)
at 30 June 2021 R-—ZE—-——#F NH=+H
2021 2020 2019
—E-—fF —E-TF —E-NEF
Note HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
Bt FHET T Tt
(Restated) (Restated)
(g&=E7) (ge&E71)
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Bank loans IRITEK 35 16,281 18,777 21,403
Bonds payable FERHES 36 635,596 975,627 895,111
Convertible bonds AIARE S 38 45,339 - -
Other payables e ATRUE 33 - 175,204 208,799
Lease liabilities HEaE 37 1,483 3,758 -
698,699 1,173,366 1,125,313
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables FERTE 5 ER1E 32 52,077 55,393 58,555
Tax payable FESFIR 878 - -
Other payables and accruals E A SIE R ERHE A 33 666,966 209,819 126,010
Other loans HAER 34 68,676 65,716 28,263
Bank loans IRITER 35 42,885 48,527 52,440
Bonds payable FERHES 36 450,188 12,641 11,250
Lease liabilities HEERE 37 2,275 1,975 -
1,283,945 394,071 276,518
Total liabilities wWaE 1,982,644 1,567,437 1,401,831
Total equity and liabilities HERREE 2,071,353 1,930,983 2,182,926
Net current liabilities RENBEEFE (958,412) (220,130) (24,205)
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBERS 787,408 1,536,912 1,906,408
Net assets EEEE 88,709 363,546 781,095

Approved and authorised for issued by the board of directors on 29 October R=—ZT=——%F+ A -+ H AEESSHE MR
FIBEIW A TATREEE

2021 are signed on its behalf by:

Chan Yuk Foebe
RE

Chairman

e

Law Tze Ping Eric

BT ¥

Executive Director

HITEE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEEEBER

for the year ended 30 June 2021 2 —F ——# NH=+HIFF/Z

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARTHE AR
Convertible Retained
Issued Share bonds profits/ Non-
share Share option Other  Exchange equity  (Accumulated controlling
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve losses) ~ Sub-total  interests Total
BE ) BhRE TEkEE  RERN/ 2R
& ROEE B HibEE  NERE  BERE (2R gt B gt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$1000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000  HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thr T T Thr Thr T TRt  TEn Thn T
At 1 July 2019 (Restated) RZE-NEtA-A
(&@=5]) 133,243 59,121 11,988 87 120,644 - 381,744 706,827 74,268 781,09
Loss for the year TEEFR - - - - - - (354,886)  (354,886) (10919 (365805)
Other comprehensive EH2ERA/

income/(expense): (B%):

- exchange differences -EREH - - - - (51,722) - - B9 (2,365 (54,087)

-Share of other comprehensive  —~EASREEM

expense of joint ventures 2ERR - - - - (o) - - (%4) - (%4)
Total comprehensive income/ ~~ AEERARA/

(expense) for the year (B8 = = = - (51,816) - (354,886)  (406,702) (18,284) (419,986)
Exercise of share options ERE 750 1687 (236) - - - 23 2437 - 2437
Disposal of subsidlaries LENBAF - - - 87) - - 87 - - -
At30June2020and 1duly 2020  R-E-FERA=TAR

3% 133,993 60,808 11,752 - 68,828 - 27,181 302,562 60,984 363,546
Loss for the year KEEER - - - - - - @033 (5035 (0283  (459,586)
Other comprehensive Eth2ERA

income:

- exchange differences -EiES - - - - 44,462 - - 44462 5677 50,139

- Share of other comprehensive  —AEALLEEN

income of oint ventures ZENA - - - - 871 - - 81 - 87
Total comprehensive income/ REERENA/

(expense) for the year (Fx)eE - - - - 45,333 - (450,353)  (405,020) (3,556) (408,576
Acquisition of a subsiciary WEhE AR - - - - - - - - (o7 (om)
Employee share option benefits ~ (ESBRERA) - - 19,505 - - - - 19505 - 19,505
Deconsolidation of asubsidiary K IHEANEHBAT) - - - - - - - - 2,604 2,604
Recognition of equity component of - BRI &0

convertble bonds Eadn - - - - - 34,065 - 3065 - 34,065
Shares issued upon conversion of  EER T R (EAE

convertiole bonds BRA 9,250 28,347 - - - (12,604) - 24,993 - 24,993
Shares issued upon completion of ~ REZREZER(R

placing 10,000 19,362 - - - - - 29,362 - 29,362
Exercise of share options frieEiRE 1,128 21,801 (4832 - - - - u0 - 24,007
Lapse of share options BRERH - - (7,040) - - - 7,040 - - -
At 30 June 2021 R-E_—%rA=1H 160,371 130,318 19,385 - 114,161 21,461 (416,132) 29,564 59,145 88,709




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

EBREXRKEARAE —T-—FFH

GERERER

for the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z —E——FNA=+HIFFZ

7

2021 2020
—EC-—F —E T
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHT FAT
(Restated)
(#==5)
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES KETFHIRERE
Loss before tax BB AT 1 (458,696) (365,805)
Adjustments for: ELL T A%
Finance costs BARS RN 126,121 110,944
Interest income FBUTA (951) (2,044)
Depreciation of fixed assets BEEEENE 72,516 68,818
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREESENE 9,102 8,457
Share of result of joint ventures DIHEEDEEE (266) 2,020
Impairment for prepayment and other receivables, net Y81 R IE K H & U ZOR BB F 48 119,043 13,759
Provision of allowance for trade receivables FHREE 5 R 5,880 =
Written-off of trade receivables FEUCE 5 R TE - 22,050
Provision/written-off of inventories FERE M 171 26,629
Gains on disposal of right-of-use assets I E S AR A B 2 e - (3,871)
Losses on fair value of financial assets BATEFABRZSREE
at fair value through profit or loss, net 2N EEE TR 2,988 =
Equity-settled share-based payments R E B AR BER TR 19,505 -
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEM B ARz EE - 5,505
Impairment/written-off of fixed assets EE & ERE, M 400 62,766
Impairment of right-of-use assets FREEERE 1,522 =
Impairment loss on intangible assets B EEREEE - 3,778
Loss on disposal of a joint venture HE—RagtEZEHE - 2,124
Loss on deconsolidation of a subsidiary R A AR B AR R EsIE 4,394 =
Operating cash flows before working capital BELESEH I ZKERSRE
changes (98,271) (44,870)
Decrease in inventories FERD 2,021 6,348
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables FEWE 5 BRIER A (380) 12,760 (7,051)
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, deposits and TERIE -« 5T REAM
other receivables FEMERIE (3 0n), R A (108,648) 14,756
(Increase)/decrease in financial assets at fair value BRATFESABRZ eREE
through profit or loss (), m (2,874) 65
Decrease in trade payables e B SRR (8,567) (2,693)
Increase in other payables and accruals oA FE A RUIE K FE T RIRLE AN 163,876 52,338
Cash (used in)/generated from operations REXK(A) BEZRE (39,703) 18,893
Interest received B2 HFILE 951 2,044
Interest paid 2RFLE (22,208) (17,787)
Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities 4K &5EE) (FrF )B4 2 IR & %58 (60,960) 3,150
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2021 2020
—E-—F —E T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FAT
(Restated)
(#==5)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REFTHZRERE
Purchases of fixed assets BEETEE (18,767) (19,665)
Proceeds from disposal of right-of-use assets HECAEEE 2 FSHIEA - 4,716
Net cash outflow from business combination, net of ~ EiE&HFAFR S AL - EHG
cash acquired Fri g R & (8,360) =
Net cash outflow from deconsolidation of a subsidiary 48 [F4R& ABRHKTE A =H)FIR & m & (510) =
Investment in a joint venture R—HEEREIRE - (11,085)
Disposal of subsidiaries i EHTE AR - (59)
Net cash used in investing activities BEEBMA RS TR (27,637) (26,093
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES BMEEFHI2RERE
Placing of shares AL E AR 29,362 =
Exercise of share options TR B AR 24,097 2,437
Payment of lease liabilities HEAEMNK (1,975) (745)
Proceed from issue of convertible bonds BT R ES TSR 100,000 =
Redemption of bonds fEE &S (2,000) (11,250)
Repayment of bank loans IRITEFGER (12,297) (4,898)
Proceeds from bank loans RITE RS RIA 6,000 =
Proceeds from other loans HiEAE5IE - 38,433
Repayment of other loans HERER (16,193) =
Net cash generated from financing activities RERBELE RS 35 126,994 23,977
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH ReRREEEER 2B INFHE
EQUIVALENTS 38,397 1,034
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes R B 2 R 235 (76)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING F#R&NRBEESZEEHIER
OF YEAR 8,143 7,185
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END FRESRRESEEER
OF YEAR 46,775 8,143
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS HR&RBESZEER M
Bank and cash balances RITRIR B 4ETF 46,775 8,143
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R AR M

for the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z —ZE_-——F NA=+HIFFZ

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company with limited
liability in the Cayman Islands on 7 December 2000 and continued
in Bermuda on 24 April 2017. The address of its registered office is
Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM10, Bermuda.

The address of its principal place of business is Room 4007, 40th
Floor, China Resources Building, No. 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which
is also the functional currency of the Company.

GOING CONCERN BASIS

As at 30 June 2021, the Group had net current liabilities of
approximately HK$958,412,000 (2020: HK$220,130,000) and incurred
a loss of HK$459,586,000 (2020: HK$365,805,000) for the year then
ended. These conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty
which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. Therefore, the Group may be unable to realise its assets
and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors have
given careful consideration to the current and anticipated future liquidity
of the Group and the ability of the Group to achieve profitable and
positive cash flows from operations in immediate and long terms. The
Directors have prepared cash flow forecasts for the period up to 30
June 2022 after taking into account of the measures below. In order to
strengthen the Group’s capital base and maintain sufficient financing
necessary for future business development, the Directors have taken
the following measures:

- On 5 October 2021, the Board passed resolutions to, inter
alia, extend the maturity date of the 7.5% coupon bonds of the
Company in the aggregate principal amount of approximately
HK$276 million (the “Bonds”); and the Bonds shall bear interest
at the rate of 7.5% per annum from 11 September 2021 to 10
September 2025; and such interest shall accrue and be paid,
together with the principal amount of the Bonds, on the new
maturity date, being 10 September 2025;
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220,130,000 7T) @ WHREZEZH IEFE
4 E518459,586,00078 T ( — T — T4 ¢
365,805,000/ 7T ) © Z FR AN FHEE
ATHHBEE « sk AR E 7 B E R
NEABARER o Bt - REE A EEER

HEREBBETEEEEENFELER

RREURE I B|/ERR - EFEFEEER
SEZAERERRKRDES - URAE
BRI R RAEBEZ RN R EERSRE
ZBeT) c BENEBIAMERE @ EREE
BT CFRA=THIESBZRERE
FER o ZIEoRANER B 2 B AR N 4ERF R A
BN BRERERAFLES EFCHER
VAT HEHE

— RIZEZ—F+AEA EF2RB
RER M EFABR)ERARAIAR
SHRTELKICT6E BB TT 7 SRR S A
H(EHFWEHB « RMEHEH =
T-—FNA+—BEE_T_RHF
AT BR7SENFEREGTE M
R EBEEEARERESFASR
FHEEBMABI=E-RAEALATRH)—
BT

73



74

Xinyang Maojian Group Limited Annual Report 2021
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A ISR R M ()

for the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z —ZE_-——F NA=+HIFFZ

2. GOING CONCERN BASIS (continued)

- Apart from the Bonds, the Company is in the process of
negotiating for a settlement of a bond payable to several
bondholders in the amount of HK$100 million. In the event that a
settlement is reached between the Company and bondholders,
the Company expects the relevant bond payable in the amount
of HK$100 million to be deferred or discounted;

- Other loans of the Company of HK$35 million out of HK$69
million for the year ended 30 June 2021 has been refinanced in
August 2021;

- Included in other payables and accruals, the deposits of HK$30
million was non-refundable and represented the deposit received
from the disposal of 40% equity interest in Mudanjiang Better-
Day Power Limited;

- Heihe Longjiang Chemical Limited (“HLCCL”), a company
indirectly owned as to 90% by the Company, will receive
the gross consideration of approximately HK$186 million in
connection with the sale of land use rights of certain lands in the
PRC held by HLCCL to Heihe Longhe Investment Management
Limited* (B/A3E& & BE AR AL A]), an independent third
party. As at the date of this report, the said sale of land had not
been completed;

= The Company is in the process of negotiating for a settlement
with the counterparty in a litigation case and in the event that
a settlement can be reached between the Company and the
counterparty, there will be an excess in litigation provision of the
Company in the amount of HK$71 million; and

- The Group will apply cost cutting measures to reduce
administrative expenses and cash outflows for the next twelve
months.

Based on the above measures, the Directors are therefore of the
opinion that it is appropriate to prepare the financial statements on
a going concern basis. Should the Group be unable to continue
as a going concern, adjustments would have to be made to the
financial statements to adjust the value of the Group’s assets to their
recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which might
arise and to reclassify non-current assets and liabilities as current assets
and liabilities, respectively.

*  For identification purpose only
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

A ISR R M ()

for the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z —ZE_-——F NA=+HIFFZ

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA”). In addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”) and by the disclosure requirement of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Change in accounting policy for buildings

In accordance with HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment, the
Group’s buildings classified as fixed assets can be accounted for using
either the cost model or the revaluation model as their measurement
basis after their initial recognition. The Group has accounted for these
buildings using the revaluation model in previous years’ consolidated
financial statements.

In the preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the current financial year, the directors of the Company have
reassessed the continuing relevance of the adoption of the revaluation
model as the measurement basis of the buildings for the purposes
of the consolidated financial statements. Taking into consideration
the needs of users of the consolidated financial statements for
comparability of financial information of the Group with those of the
industry peers and the findings of the directors that the cost model is
the commonly adopted measurement basis for buildings classified as
fixed assets in the published consolidated financial statements of listed
companies in Hong Kong engaged in similar industries as the Group,
the directors have determined that the adoption of the cost model as
the measurement basis for the buildings would result in the published
consolidated financial statements of the Group providing more relevant
financial information to users of the consolidated financial statements
of the Group about the effects of transactions, other events and
conditions on the Group’s consolidated financial position and financial
performance.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 3. wmEEXE@m

Change in accounting policy for buildings
(Continued)

In addition, the Group’s buildings classified as fixed assets are not
expected to be sold in the normal course of business, but instead, the
future economic benefits embodied in the properties will be recovered
principally through use in the Group’s operations. Hence in the opinion
of the directors of the Company, the change to the use of the cost
model, from the revaluation model, as the measurement basis for the
buildings will not result in the consolidated financial statements of the
Group providing financial information which is of lesser relevance in this
respect.

Accordingly, the directors have determined to change the Group’s
accounting policy for the measurement basis of its buildings classified as
fixed assets by changing from the revaluation model to the cost model.
With effect from the current financial year, these buildings are stated at
cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses at the
end of each financial reporting period. The change in accounting policy
has been applied retrospectively. As a result, the Group’s buildings
classified as fixed assets are accounted for as if the cost model has
been adopted since their initial recognition. Comparative figures have
been restated accordingly.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

A ISR R M ()

for the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z —E——FNA=+HIFFZ

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 3.

Change in accounting policy for buildings
(Continued)

The effects of change in accounting policy described above on the
Group’s financial performance for the years ended 30 June 2020 and
2021 are as follows:

RBEYE m)
BEFNETBEREE @)
Rt RS AEEEE TS

N —F X XA=ZtTHITFENMBRE
MR ZEMT

2021 2020
—E—F ke e 45
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FAT
Consolidated statement of profit or loss mEBER
Decrease in depreciation wERD 3,621 4,586
Decrease in impairment of fixed assets &€ & E R E R > - 14,234
Decrease in loss for the year FANEER D 3,621 18,820
Decrease in loss for the year attributable to: JEIEFNEER D -
Owners of the Company NARHEB A 3,512 18,285
Non-controlling interests ElS g 109 535
Decrease in loss per share BREERD
- Basic — &R 0.24 cent 1l 1.37 cent 1l
— Diluted —#8 0.24 cent il 1.37 cent 1l
Consolidated statement of profit or loss and Z&EZREM2EIRA R
other comprehensive income
Decrease in loss for the year FAEERD 3,621 18,820
Decrease in gain on property revaluation Y E 2 WaR - (3,929)
Decrease in exchange differences on translating B G INETEIE =R - 3,278
foreign operations
Decrease in total comprehensive expense for the &A% E R L 4258 3,621 18,169
year
Decrease/(increase) in total comprehensive EEFEREEAZ B
expense for the year attributable to: wL(3Ean)
Owners of the Company ViN/NGIET 2SN 3,512 21,384
Non-controlling interests FEEAR A 109 (3,309)

77



Xinyang Maojian Group Limited Annual Report 2021

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
RS B R AR I ()

for the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z —E——FNA=+HIFFZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 3. wmEEXE@m

Change in accounting policy for buildings BFNETBEREE @®)
(Continued)

As originally

stated Adjustments As restated
MR %25 AR rE5
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’000
FHT FAT FAT
Consolidated statement of BE—_E-—=FxA=1H
profit or loss for the year ended I FENESBER
30 June 2020
Depreciation of fixed assets BEEERE (73,404) 4,586 (68,818)
Impairment of fixed assets EE & ERE (77,000) 14,234 (62,766)
Loss for the year FREIE (384,625) 18,820 (365,805)
Loss for the year attributable to: FEAEF AESIE
Owners of the Company VIN/NETEZ =N (373,171) 18,285 (354,886)
Non-controlling interests FEIERR R (11,454) 535 (10,919
Loss per share FREE
- Basic — & (27.94) cents 1l 1.37 cent il (26.57) cents 1l
— Diluted — 8 (27.94) cents Il 1.37 cent il (26.57) cents Ll
Consolidated statement of profit HE_-—ZT-FFHA=+H
or loss and other comprehensive It EENGEEIEEREM
income for the year ended 2EBA XK
30 June 2020
Loss for the year FANEE (384,625) 18,820 (365,805)
Gain on property revaluation b EE G 3,929 (3,929) -
Exchange differences on translating ~ #E/GINEKIE X =5
foreign operations (57,271) 3,184 (54,087)
Total comprehensive expenses FALHEFX AR
for the year (438,061) 18,075 (419,986)
Total comprehensive expenses JEAEF AR A5
for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company ZIN/NEIEZZ SN (428,086) 21,384 (406,702)

Non-controlling interests IR (9,975) (3,309) (13,284)
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Change in accounting policy for buildings

(Continued)

The effects of change in accounting policy described above on the
Group’s financial positions as at 30 June 2020 and 1 July 2019 are as

RBEYE m)
EFENSTBREEH @)

LREFBREBHAKER _FT_FFX
A=+TBR-Z-NFtA—-BNFBRR

follows: 0= 3K
30 June 2020 1 July 2019
b St 553 =E-hEF
AA=TH +tA—H
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FAT FAT
Consolidated statement of financial position 4 & Bk &R
Decrease in fixed assets & E & Rk (65,841) (83,916)
Decrease in deferred tax liabilities BRI R ER D 102 102
Effects on net assets HEEFENTE (65,739) (83,814)
Decrease in reserves R (72,911) (94,295)
Increase in non-controlling interests FEFERR R I N 7172 10,481
Effects on total equity HagEanTE (65,739) (83,814)
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Change in accounting policy for buildings
(Continued)

3. REEEm@m
EFENSTBREEH @)

As originally

stated Adjustments As restated

mELFTZ7 Bk ZEY
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET FAT
Consolidated statement of R-B-ZBFEXNA=1THH
financial position as at mEMBERRR
30 June 2020
Fixed assets BEE&E 1,516,536 (65,841) 1,450,695
Deferred tax liabilities FEEFHBRE (102) 102 -
Effects on net assets HEEFENTE (65,739)
Fixed assets revaluation reserve B EEShHE 13,943 (13,943) -
Exchange reserve bE 5 51,760 17,170 68,930
Retained profits R A 164,025 (76,138) 87,887
Non-controlling interests FEPEAR R A 53,812 7172 60,984
Effects on total equity HiRkEmg 2 (65,739)
Consolidated statement of R-EBE—-NELtBA—HK
financial position as at mEMBERRR
1 July 2019
Fixed assets BEEE 1,699,586 (83,916) 1,615,670
Deferred tax liabilities RERIESE (102) 102 -
Effects on net assets HEEFENTE (83,814)
Fixed assets revaluation reserve B EEEHRFEE 10,562 (10,562) -
Exchange reserve ERR =] 110,056 10,588 120,644
Retained profits REBE 535,186 (94,321) 440,865
Non-controlling interests FEPERR R A 63,787 10,481 74,268

Effects on total equity

U S

(83,814)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

A ISR R M ()

—FNH=THIFFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRSs

New and amended standards adopted by the
Group
The Group has applied the following standards and amendments for
the first time for the annual reporting period commencing on 1 July
2020:
Amendments to Definition of a Business
HKFRS 3
Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8

Definition of Material

Amendments to Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
HKFRS 9, HKAS 39

and HKFRS 7

Amendment to Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
HKFRS 16

Conceptual Framework
for Financial Reporting

2018

Revised Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting

The amendments listed above did not have any material impact on
the amounts recognised in prior periods and are not expected to
significantly affect the current and future periods.
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—FNH=THIFFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRSSs (Continued)

New and amended standards that have been
issued but not yet effective

A number of new and amended standards have been published that
are not mandatory for reporting period beginning on 1 July 2020 and
have not been early adopted by the Group:

HKFRS 17

Amendments to
HKFRS 3

Amendments to
HKFRS 9, HKAS 39,
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4
and HKFRS 16

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendments to
HKFRS 16

Amendments to
HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to
HKAS 8

Amendments to
HKAS 12

Amendments to

HKAS 16
Amendments to

HKAS 37
Amendments to HKFRSs

Insurance Contracts and the related Amendments®
Reference to the Conceptual Framework?

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2'

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint Venture*

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond
30 June 20215

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
and related amendments to Hong Kong

Interpretation 5 (2020)°

Disclosure of Accounting Policies®

Definition of Accounting Estimates®

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising
from a Single Transaction®

Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before
Intended Use?
Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfiling a Contract?

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Standards
2018-2020?

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined
J Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRSs (Continued)

New and amended standards that have been
issued but not yet effective (Continued)

The Company’s directors have performed an assessment on these new
and amended standards and have concluded on a preliminary basis
that the adoption of these new and amended standards is not expected
to have a significant impact on the Group’s financial performance and
position.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments that
are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRS
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in
note 6.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below.

(a) Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the

Company:
° has power over the investee;
° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its

involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(a) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries
is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group’s equity therein, which represent present
ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate
share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result
in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted
for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s
relevant components of equity and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in
the subsidiaries, including re-attribution of relevant reserves
between the Group and the non-controlling interests according
to the Group’s and the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the consideration
paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to
owners of the Company.

When the Group losses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any)
are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
and is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest and (i) the carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to
the owners of the Company. All amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to
profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as
specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when
control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for
subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 or, when applicable, the
cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a
joint venture.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the
sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the
Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related
costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

5. FESHHEE@®

(a)
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 5. FESTTHE®@®
(Continued)
(b) Business combinations (Continued) (b) EKEH@

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes
and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

° liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment at the acquisition date (see the
accounting policy below);

° assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in
accordance with that standard; and

° lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the present
value of the remaining lease payments (as defined in
HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were new leases at
the acquisition date. Right-of-use assets are recognised
and measured at the same amount as the relevant lease
liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable
terms of the lease when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net
amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of
the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the
excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(b) Business combinations (Continued)

—FNH=THIFFE

5. FESHHEE@®

(b)

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially
measured at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets
or at fair value. The choice of measurement basis is made on a
transaction-by-transaction basis.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes a contingent consideration arrangement,
the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-
date fair value and included as part of the consideration
transferred in a business combination. Changes in the fair value
of the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement
period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively. Measurement
period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional
information obtained during the “measurement period” (which
cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts
and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration
that do not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends
on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is
classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured to fair value at
subsequent reporting dates, with the corresponding gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured
to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the
Group obtains control), and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is
recognised in profit or loss or other comprehensive income, as
appropriate. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior
to the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in
other comprehensive income and measured under HKFRS 9
would be accounted for on the same basis as would be required
if the Group had disposed directly of the previously held equity
interest.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
(c) Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business (see the
accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if

any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or group of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, which represent the lowest level at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and not

larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently when there is indication that the
unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition
in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit (or group of
cash-generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of that reporting period.
If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or group

of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any of
the cash-generating unit within the group of cash generating
units, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal. When
the Group disposes of an operation within the cash-generating
unit (or a cash generating unit within a group of cash-generating
units), the amount of goodwill disposed of is measured on
the basis of the relative values of the operation (or the cash-
generating unit) disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit (or the group of cash-generating units) retained.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of a

joint venture is described below.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(d)

Investments in joint ventures

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets
of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed
sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when
decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent
of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of joint ventures are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting, The financial statements of
joint ventures used for equity accounting purposes are prepared
using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for
like transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under
the equity method, an investment in a joint venture is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of
the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the joint
venture. Changes in net assets of the joint venture other than
profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not accounted
for unless such changes resulted in changes in ownership
interest held by the Group. When the Group’s share of losses of
a joint venture exceeds the Group’s interest in that joint venture
(which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form
part of the Group’s net investment in the joint venture), the Group
discontinues recognizing its share of further losses. Additional
losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the joint venture.

An investment in a joint venture is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes a joint
venture. On acquisition of the investment in a joint venture, any
excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of
the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within
the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is
recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.

5. FESHHEE@®

(d)
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(d) Investments in joint ventures (Continued)
The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in a joint venture may be impaired. When
any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of
the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that
forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal
of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS
36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment

subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have joint control over a joint venture,
it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in the
investee with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or
loss. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that
joint venture on the same basis as would be required if that joint
venture had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income by that joint venture would be reclassified
to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities,
the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss
(as a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal of the relevant

joint venture.

When a group entity transacts with a joint venture of the Group,
profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the joint
venture are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the joint venture that

are not related to the Group.

5. FESHHEE@
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e) Foreign currencies

5. FESHHEE@®

(e)

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the
rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions.
At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at
that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a

foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised

in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e.
HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expenses items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during that period, in which case the exchange
rates at the date of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity under the heading of exchange
reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of
the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint
arrangement or an associate that includes a foreign operation
of which the retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of
the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of
that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are

reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation are
treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and
translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in

other comprehensive income.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(f)

Fixed assets

Fixed assets are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost, less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit
or loss during the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of fixed assets is calculated at rates sufficient to
write off their cost less their residual values over the estimated
useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal useful lives are as
follows:

Buildings The shorter of the lease terms
and 30 to 50 years

Leasehold improvements 10 years

Pipelines and trench 30 years

Plant and machinery 10 to 30 years
Furniture, office equipment and 5 to 10 years

motor vehicles

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.

Construction in progress represents buildings under construction
and plant and machinery pending installation, and is stated
at cost less impairment losses. Depreciation begins when the
relevant assets are available for use.

The gain or loss on disposal of fixed assets is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
RS B R AR I ()

for the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z —ZE_-——F NA=+HIFFZ

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

5. FESHHEE@®

(g) Leases

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract For
a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each lease component
on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease
component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components, including contract for acquisition of ownership
interests of a property which includes both leasehold land and
non-lease building components, unless such allocation cannot
be made reliably.

The Group also applies practical expedient not to separate
non-lease components from lease component, and instead
account for the lease component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases of office premises that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option. It also applies the recognition exemption for
lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term leases
and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on
a straight-line basis or another systematic basis over the lease
term.

() HE

& KRS —RERAEHE 1A
BB EEMRER - DAREE - Rl
ZANAHESBEEHEE -

RESEZSVAKENHEEHEE
MR R — TR S RBEIMEE SIF
HEAKINHHAHMS » AREIR
RS AR AR B L E S R IF
HEERE D HIBEREE S L
RESEEREEEKE D - BFEK
BOEMARNAL  EPEEHEE
T R SFEE AR - BRIEA
B L EARISE(EL - BIVERR -

AEBTEARITREETKIEE
BRI AR EAX A AR - T
5 E AR AR R AT AERASEE &R
EERERE —HEEKIHALR -

EHHEREEEEEMHE
REBHN B MG A EEERRS
12BAZATETSBERNPRAE
MEEERMENAERLHER - N
SETHEEEEEREFL M RE
R RHHEHERMEEEEERENHE
ENFIRERESEM RS CEER
HANER S

93



Xinyang Maojian Group Limited Annual Report 2021

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
RS B R AR I ()

for the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z —ZE_-——F NA=+HIFFZ

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 5. FESTTHE®@®

(Continued)

(9) Leases (Continued) (9) HE@)

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received;

° any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

° an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions
of the lease, unless those costs are incurred to produce
inventories.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities other than adjustments to lease
liabilities resulting from Covid-19-related rent concessions in
which the Group applied the practical expedient.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end
of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date
to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
RS B R AR I ()

for the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z —ZE_-——F NA=+HIFFZ

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 5. FESTTHE®@®

(Continued)

(9) HE@)

(g) Leases (Continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS
9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) and initially measured at
fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included in the cost
of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of lease
payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present
value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(h) Research and development expenditure

(i)

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense
in the period in which it is incurred. Development costs are
capitalised only if all of the following conditions are met:

— An asset is created that can be identified (such as new
products);

- It is probable that the asset created will generate future
economic benefits; and

— The development cost of the asset can be measured
reliably.

Deferred development costs are measured initially at cost and
are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives of 5 years.

Other intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
recognised separately from goodwill and are initially recognised
at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as
their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a
business combination with finite useful lives are reported at costs
less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses, being their fair value at the date of the revaluation less
subsequent accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that
are acquired separately.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(i)

)

Other intangible assets (Continued)

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset,
measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or
loss when the asset is derecognised.

()  Technical know-how
Technical know-how is measured initially at purchase cost
and is amortised on a straight-line basis over its estimated
useful life of 10 years.

(i) Trade name and exclusive right
Trade name and exclusive right are measured initially at
purchase cost and are amortised on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives of 25 years.

(iijj Construction contracts
Construction contracts are measured initially at fair value
and are amortised on a straight-line basis over the contract
period of 1-2 years.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the weighted average basis.
The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises
raw materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
all production overhead expenditure. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less
the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(k) Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL”)) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments (including
all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(k) Financial instruments (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of

financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in

the near term; or

° on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a

hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or
fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) as
measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces

an accounting mismatch.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(k) Financial instruments (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of

financial assets (Continued)

(i) Amortised cost and interest income
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on
the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

(i) Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss includes any dividend or interest
earmned on the financial asset and is included in the “other
income and other gains or losses” line item.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 5. FESTTHE®@®

(Continued)

E@MITEum

(k) Financial instruments (Continued) (k)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables, bank and cash
balances) which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9.
The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.
The ECL on these assets are assessed collectively using a
provision matrix based on the ageing profile.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(k) Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

@0

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(k) Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

@0

(ii)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

° an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to
ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past
due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full.

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.

5. FESHHEE@®

(k) £EtTHEu@m)

EEEERE ()
() FEERBRAEZMNE
o  EBHEBAEEEELE
HWRETENEEAE
B RBEIEINRENE
R FAEE R A EE) -

(i)

e bt S AR - i S
AN AR30R - AR E g
REEERER BT HERIAK
BERELA - BRIEAKERE
BERAXFEMER - BIE

Bl

AEBETERERBHNERERR
BEARBIENAARENE X
% YRERIBER MERTRE
VATE [R5 ¥E BE 1E TR IR 180 B AT
BMEE R ARSI

BHZER
RABEERREEMS @ K
SERR  HABHELEH
BARBREZEMBREBA
TRATBEMEBRA(BREARE
B)2RER  RAIREBLEY
=

TE Ll ERIA - REER
B HEREEBNEBO
B RIE#ERLY  RIEAE
BEEAEMAIXIKENEAR
RRLZENEERELSE -

103



104

Xinyang Maojian Group Limited Annual Report 2021

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

A ISR R M ()

for the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z —ZE_-——F NA=+HIFFZ

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(k) Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iii)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(@  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b)  a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(k) Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iv)

v)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over three years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined with
the respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(k) Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are considered
on a collective basis taking into consideration past due
information and relevant credit information such as forward
looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

o Past-due status;

° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

° External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount, with the exception of trade receivables
where the corresponding adjustment is recognised through
a loss allowance account.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(k) Financial instruments (Continued)

—FNH=THIFFE

5. FESHHEE@®

(k)

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset
and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the
Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise
the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing
for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in
profit or loss.

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, convertible
bonds, loans and bonds payable are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 5. FESTTHE®@®

(Continued)

(k) Financial instruments (Continued) (k) £@tTEu@
Convertible bonds AR ES

The component parts of the convertible bonds are classified
separately as financial liability and equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of
a financial liability and an equity instrument. A conversion option
that will be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or
another financial asset for a fixed number of the Company’s own
equity instruments is an equity instrument.

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component
(including any embedded non-equity derivatives features) is
estimated by measuring the fair value of similar liability that does
not have an associated equity component.

A conversion option classified as equity is determined by
deducting the amount of the liability component from the fair
value of the compound instrument as a whole. This is recognised
and included in equity, net of income tax effects, and is not
subsequently remeasured. In addition, the conversion option
classified as equity will remain in equity until the conversion
option is exercised, in which case, the balance recognised
in equity will be transferred to share premium. Where the
conversion option remains unexercised at the maturity date of
the convertible bonds, the balance recognised in equity will be
transferred to accumulated losses. No gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss upon conversion or expiration of the conversion
option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible bonds
are allocated to the liability and equity components in proportion
to the allocation of the gross proceeds. Transaction costs
relating to the equity component are charged directly to equity.
Transaction costs relating to the liability component are included
in the carrying amount of the liability portion and amortised over
the period of the convertible bonds using the effective interest
method.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(k) Financial instruments (Continued)

Convertible bonds (Continued)

5. FESHHEE@®

(k)

At the date of issue, the debt component is recognised at fair
value. In subsequent periods, the liabilities component of the

convertible bonds is carried at amortised cost using the effective

interest method.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible
bonds are allocated to the debt in proportion to their relative fair
values. Transaction costs relating to the liabilities component

are included in the carrying amount of the debt portion and
amortised over the period of the convertible bonds using the

effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only

when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and

payable is recognised in profit or loss.

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and the net
amount presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position when, and only when, the Group currently has a legally
enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts; and intends

either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle

the liability simultaneously.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

() Impairment on fixed assets, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets other than

goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its fixed assets, right-of-use assets and intangible
assets with finite useful lives to determine whether there is any
indication that these assets have suffered an impairment loss.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the

impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of fixed assets, right-of-use assets
and intangible assets are estimated individually. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating

unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate assets are allocated
to the relevant CGU when a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be established, or otherwise they are allocated
to the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be established. The recoverable
amount is determined for the CGU or group of CGUs to which
the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying

amount of the relevant CGU or group of CGUs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a
cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows

have not been adjusted.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

0

(m)

Impairment on fixed assets, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets other than
goodwill (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to
its recoverable amount. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-
rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit
or the group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an
asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs
of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise
have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the
other assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group of cash-
generating units) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
(or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits
held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly
liquid investments with original maturities of three months or
less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and
bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings
in current liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(n) Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to
the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct
goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred
to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed
for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast,
a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

5. FESHHEE@®

(n) Revenue from contracts with customers

(Continued)

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of

the value of the goods or services transferred to the customer
to date relative to the remaining goods or services promised
under the contract, that best depict the Group’s performance in

transferring control of goods or services.

As a practical expedient, if the Group has a right to consideration
in an amount that corresponds directly with the value of the
Group’s performance completed to date, the Group recognises
revenue in the amount to which the Group has the right to

invoice.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services
to a customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its
promise is a performance obligation to provide the specified
goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to arrange
for those goods or services to be provided by the other party (i.e.

the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or service

before that good or service is transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange
for the provision of the specified good or service by another
party. In this case, the Group does not control the specified good
or service provided by another party before that good or service is
transferred to the customer. When the Group acts as an agent,
it recognises revenue in the amount of any fee or commission to
which it expects to be entitled in exchange for arranging for the
specified goods or services to be provided by the other party.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 5. FESTTHE®@®

(Continued)
(o) Employee benefits (o) EERH

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave
and long service leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.

The Group operates the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those
employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong
Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a
defined contribution scheme, the assets of which are held
in separate trustee-administered funds.

Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees
are each required to make contributions to the scheme at
5% of the employees’ relevant income, with the employees’
contributions subject to a cap of monthly relevant income
of HK$30,000. The Group’s contributions to the MPF
Scheme are expensed as incurred. 5% of relevant income
vests immediately upon the completion of service in the
relevant service period, while the remaining portion vests in
accordance with the MPF Scheme’s vesting scales. Where
employees leave the MPF Scheme prior to the full vesting
of the employer’s contributions, the amount of forfeited
contributions is used to reduce the contributions payable
by the Group.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries established in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) are members
of a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. These subsidiaries are required
to contribute certain percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and wages to the central pension scheme to fund
the retirement benefits. The local municipal government
undertakes to assume the retirement benefits obligations
of all existing and future retired employees of these
subsidiaries. The only obligation of these subsidiaries
with respect to the central pension scheme is to meet the
required contributions under the scheme.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 5. FESTTHE®@®

(Continued)

(o) EERF @)

(o) Employee benefits (Continued)

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of termination
benefits.

(p) Share-based payments

Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the
equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of
equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding
increase in equity (share option reserve). At the end of each
reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number
of equity instruments expected to vest based on assessment
of all relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the
revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share option
reserve. For share options that vest immediately at the date of
grant, the fair value of the share options granted is expensed
immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to retained
profits/(accumulated losses). When the share options are forfeited
after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date,
the amount previously recognised in share option reserve will be
transferred to retained profits/(accumulated losses).
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(q) Borrowing costs

(r)

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the related
asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included in the
general borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation rate on
general borrowings. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible
for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

The benefit of a government loan at a below-market rate of
interest is treated as a government grant, measured as the
difference between proceeds received and the fair value of the
loan based on prevailing market interest rates.

Government grants that become receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

Government grants relating to the purchase of assets are
recorded as deferred income and recognised in profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the useful lives of the related assets.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(s)

Taxation
Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred
tax.

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from loss before tax because of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwiill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and interests are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(s) Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available

to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of

the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover
or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same

taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting

for the business combination.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments,
the Group considers whether it is probable that the relevant
tax authority will accept the uncertain tax treatment used, or
proposed to be use by individual group entities in their income
tax filings. If it is probable, the current and deferred taxes are
determined consistently with the tax treatment in the income tax
filings. If it is not probable that the relevant taxation authority will
accept an uncertain tax treatment, the effect of each uncertainty is
reflected by using either the most likely amount or the expected

value.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(t) Related parties
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

A)

A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

@iy  is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or Group’s parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (A).

(vil A person identified in (A)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(viii)  The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or to the Group’s parent.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(t)

Related parties (Continued)
(B) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies: (Continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity
and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

(i) children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

(i) dependents of that person or that person’s spouse
or domestic partner.

(u) Provisions and contingent liabilities

(v)

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is
probable that the Group will be required to settle that obligation,
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of
the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the
end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash
flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material).

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the reporting
period or those that indicate the going concern assumption is
not appropriate are adjusting events and are reflected in the
consolidated financial statements. Events after the reporting
period that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to
the consolidated financial statements when material.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 5, the directors of the Company are required to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgments, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the directors of the Company have made
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
a going concern basis, the validity depends on the Group’s ability
to obtain sufficient future funding which are depends on the
results of the measures undertaking by the Group as described
in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

As stated in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements,
the legal titles of certain buildings were not yet obtained as at 30
June 2021. Despite the fact that the Group has not obtained the
relevant legal titles, the directors have determined to recognise
those buildings as fixed assets on the grounds that they expect
the legal titles should be obtained in future with no major difficulties
and the Group is in substance controlling those buildings.
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6.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed
below.

The Group determines the estimated useful lives, residual values
and related depreciation charges for the Group’s fixed assets.
This estimate is based on the historical experience of the actual
useful lives and residual values of fixed assets of similar nature
and functions. The Group will revise the depreciation charge
where useful lives and residual values are different to those
previously estimated, or it will write-off or write-down technically
obsolete or nonstrategic assets that have been abandoned.

The Group’s management estimates the loss allowance for
trade receivables based on risk of a default and expected loss
rate. The assessment of the credit risk involves high degree of
estimation and uncertainty as the Group’s management estimates
the risk of a default and expected loss rate for applying provision
matrix on debtors based on the Group’s historical information,
existing market conditions as well as forward looking estimates
at the end of each reporting period. Where the expectation is
different from the original estimate, such difference will impact
the carrying amount of trade receivables.

Allowance for slow-moving inventories is made based on the
ageing and estimated net realisable value of inventories. The
assessment of the allowance amount involves judgement and
estimates. Where the actual outcome in future is different from
the original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying
value of inventories and allowance charge/write-back in the
period in which such estimate has been changed.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign
currency risk, price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk.
The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

(a)

(b)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as
most of its business transactions, assets and liabilities are
principally denominated in HK$ and Renminbi (‘RMB”) which are
the functional currencies of the principal operating entities of the
Group. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy in respect of foreign currency transactions,
assets and liabilities. The Group will monitor its foreign currency
exposure closely and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

Price risk

The Group’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Therefore, the Group is exposed to equity security price risk.
The directors manage this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of
investments with different risk profiles.

At 30 June 2021, if the prices of the Group’s investments
increase/decrease by 10%, pre-tax loss for the year would have
been approximately HK$56,000 (2020: HK$68,000) lower/higher.

7.
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(c) Creditrisk

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables and
cash and cash equivalents represent the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk in relation to financial assets. As at 30
June 2021 and 2020, all bank balances were deposited in
reputable financial institutions and were hence without significant
credit risk. Management does not expect any losses from non-
performance by these counterparties. Credit sales are made
to selected customers with good credit history. The Group has
policies in place to ensure that outstanding trade receivables
are collected on a timely basis. Trade receivables are subject
to the expected credit loss model. The Group applies HKFRS 9
simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which
uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receivables
from initial recognition. To measure the expected credit losses,
trade receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due. The expected loss rates
are based on the historical payment profiles of sales and the
corresponding historical credit losses experienced. The historical
loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking
information on factors affecting the ability of the customers to
settle the receivables.

The Group has policies in place to ensure that outstanding other
receivables are collected on a timely basis. Other receivables are
subject to the expected credit loss model. The Group applies
HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit
losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all other
receivables from initial recognition. The expected loss rates are
based on the historical payment profiles and the corresponding
historical credit losses experienced. The historical loss rates
are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information
on factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the
receivables.

7.
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Credit risk (Continued)

The following table provides information about the Group’s
exposure to credit risk and expected credit loss for trade
receivables:

As at 30 June 2021 the Group uses trade receivables’ aging
to assess the impairment for its customers because these
remaining customers consist of a large number of small
customers with common risk characteristics representative of the
customers’ abilities to pay all amounts due in accordance with
the contractual terms. The following table provides information
about the exposure to credit risk for trade receivables which
are assessed based on provision matrix within lifetime ECL (not
credit-impaired).

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the trade
receivables and are adjusted for forward-looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is regularly
reviewed by management to ensure relevant information about
specific trade receivables is updated.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected
liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and longer term.

For term loans which contain a repayment on demand clause
which can be exercised at the banks’ sole discretion, the analysis
shows the cash outflow based on the earliest period in which
the Group can be required to pay, that is if the lenders were to
invoke their unconditional rights to call the loans with immediate
effect. The maturity analysis for other bank loans is prepared
based on the scheduled repayment dates.

7.
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 7. BEERREE@m
(d) Liquidity risk (Continued) (d) REES RS @)
The maturity analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities is as AEESAECHHBEITIT
follows:
On
demand or Between Between Total Total
less than 1and2 2and5 Over 5 undiscounted carrying
1 year years years years cash flows amount
EER AfTERE
PIME 16525 2EF5E BiB5F HEAE FE4E
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TAT TAT AL THT THT
At 30 June 2021 R-B-—§5xA=1H
Bank loans RITER 44,107 3,093 9,280 4,896 61,376 59,166
Trade payables ERESHEA 52,077 - - - 52,077 52,077
Bonds payable FEfIES 487,299 49,950 882,107 30,500 1,449,856 1,085,784
Other payable and accruals  E At 7B R EAT T 645,685 - - - 645,685 645,685
Other loans EHER 69,984 - - - 69,984 68,676
Convertible bonds ARES - - 63,000 - 63,000 45,339
Lease liabilties HEBRE 2,634 1,536 = = 4170 3,758
1,301,786 54,579 954,387 35,39 2,346,148 1,960,485
At 30 June 2020 R-B-Z%£5A=1H
Bank loans RITER 50,286 2,782 8,705 7,684 69,457 67,304
Trade payables ENEGERE 55,393 - - - 55,393 55,393
Bond payables &S 12,641 477,270 715,007 245,550 1,450,468 988,268
Other payable and accruals  E A TR kEA 3R 197,631 175,204 - - 372,835 372,835
Other loans EHER 69,729 - - = 69,729 65,716
Lease liabilties HEBRE 2,634 2,634 1,536 - 6,804 5,733
388,314 657,390 725,248 253,234 2,024,686 1,555,249
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 7.

(e)

(f)

(9)

Interest rate risk

Bonds payable, certain bank loans and other loans were
arranged at fixed interest rates and therefore were subject to fair
value interest rate risk.

Certain bank loans were arranged at floating rates varied with the
then prevailing market condition.

As at 30 June 2021, if interest rates at that date had been 1%
lower/higher with all other variables held constant, consolidated
loss after tax for the year would have been approximately
HK$190,000 (2020: HK$307,000) lower/higher, arising mainly as
a result of lower/higher interest expense on the bank loans.

B 765 o o 5 BB (o)
(e) FI=mEp

EfES B TRITERREMER
THRBEEM KGR - BUERZ AHER
=

ETRITERDVZEERMRNKEZ
FEFIRGTE

R-T——%xA=+RH " e85
KRFE, EFH1% M A H b 2 B
BARE  REERBERSEBER
2/ N%9190,0008 T (Z T ==
£ : 307,0007T) + L HEZHNIR
TER BT T EFATE -

Categories of financial instruments Hh €EMIEZESE
2021 2020
—E-—F ZETF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAT
Financial assets: EWMEE !
Financial assets at fair value through profit BATEFAEZZ
or loss: SREE
Held for trading FHEER 564 678
Amortised cost B HAK AN 130,360 94,962
Financial liabilities: SRBE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost RBERATTEZ SMAR 1,889,321 1,549,616

Fair values of financial assets and financial
liabilities carried at other than fair value
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement of
financial position approximate their respective fair values.

(9)

WHFBAFPEIRZEME
EREMABZAYE
FRAMBRARFARAEESRAE
REBMABZREERESE 2 AT
(=LEE
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8.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date. The following disclosures of fair value
measurements use a fair value hierarchy that categorises into three
levels the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs:

access at the measurement date.

Level 2 inputs:

1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either

directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs:

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out
of any of the three levels as of the date of the event or change in

quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities that the Group can

inputs other than quoted prices included within level

unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

8. AFERTE

ESFIETPN
HUE

EVESETIN
g -

ERTSETN
HE

RNHERTS2RBERFEBRETZERF
RPPHE-REEMBRSEE—HAR
P2 (B1% o AT R EE 2 A FEFTEEM
RFEER - BRNFEQFEZGERN
ZBRABIBD R=/ - FEHBWAT

AREB A EAERRFZHE
FREERBBEERMZZ
HECREHE)

BrEEAARIR(EIASN - F AT
EERIEEREERBCEE
KB RBABE -

BEXBBZEIERHBA
2 -

AEEBRENBRESHERERZFE
MBEERCZH > BREARE L= ERR

circumstances that caused the transfer. Elz— -
(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy (a) 2FEESKEE
At 30 June 2021 R-E-—FAHF=1H
Fair value
measurements
using:
FERUT
EX/ELEZ
DNVEFE
Level 1
Description it FE1R
HK$’000
FET
Recurring fair value measurements: REMAFETE
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:  ZAFEFABRZ SREE ¢
Listed securities in Hong Kong BB LTRSS 564
Total recurring fair value measurements KEMALEFTELE 564
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8. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 8. AYTEFEmW
(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy (a) AV EERFEE@E
(Continued)
At 30 June 2020 R-E—_FEFXNA=1H
Fair value
measurements
using:
FERATR
EMELZ
ATEERE
Level 1
Description it FAR
HK$'000
FHTT
Recurring fair value measurements: REMAFETE
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:  ZAFEFABREZ EREE ¢
Listed securities in Hong Kong BB LMES 678
Total recurring fair value measurements KEMAFEFTELRE 678

During the year, there were no transfers between Level 1 and

Level 2, or transfer into or out of Level 3 (2020: Nil).

9. REVENUE

Revenue represents the net invoiced value of goods sold, after
allowances for returns and trade discounts, and after eliminations of all

FR - BEFIREF2L 2 FrE
B ENEIREARELN (=T
TFE ) o

9. Wz

WatEMAFRHERmZ RRFERMER
ERENESTN  YEHHEERAEE

significant intra-group transactions during the year. ARG e
2021 2020
=F=—F i i S5
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAT
Heat supplying services ZENBe i e AR 75 181,855 163,463
Electricity supplying services B ERRTS 15,755 13,598
Sales of lime powder SHE RN 23,424 16,760
Facilities construction services R AR - 376
Sales of wine SHEBE 7,987 =
Commission income (R ON - 140
229,021 194,337
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9. REVENUE (continued) 9. W@
() Disaggregation of revenue (i) WwE=ER#4H

For the year ended 30 June 2021
BE-_ZE_-—FAA=1THLEE

Heat and Calcium Construction
Power carbide services  Unallocated
Segment i} HERES |47 BERE KA/
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TR FEx FET
Heat supplying services RS 181,855 - - -
Electricity supplying services B HHERE 15,755 - - -
Sales of lime powder SHER KR - 23,424 - -
Sales of wine SHE RS - - - 7,987
Commission income AN - - - -
197,610 23,424 - 7,987

For the year ended 30 June 2020
BEZT_TFA=THLFE

Heat and Calcium  Construction
Power carbide services Unallocated
Segment il =N EW)) Bix{b 85 BiERE AHME
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHIT FHIT FHEIT FHT
Heat supplying services AL IERRTS 163,463 = - -
Electricity supplying services B NHERT 13,598 - - -
Sales of lime powder HERKH - 16,760 - -
Facilities construction services ~ :&iaiE R AR - - 376 -
Commission income LEEAON - - - 140
177,061 16,760 376 140

(ii) All revenue is recognised at a point in time excepted for (i) FrEUkEHE— (ARSI BRER - MR

construction services which is recognised over time. E RIS RER TR o
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10. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAINS OR 10. HR AR Ebm S E 18
LOSSES
2021 2020
—E-F —ECTF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHx FAT
(Restated)
(5&=5))
Conveyance service income (Note (a)) ERARISUA (Bt aE(a)) 2,733 6,469
Gains on disposal of right-of-use assets HEFEREEERNRE - 3,871
Government grants (Note (b)) BT Bh & (M 5E(D)) 3,074 554
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBARZERE - (5,505)
Loss on disposal of a joint venture HE—RegErEZEE - (2,124)
Bank interest income HRITH S UA 7 4
Other interest income E A A S A 944 2,040
Provision of allowance for receivables and FLIEWGRIB AT R Al SR M S TR AT
written off of prepayment, net SRIBFEE
— trade receivables —FEUE ZERR (5,880) =
— prepayment, deposit and other receivables —TERE -~ FIe REMmER
g (119,043) (18,759)
Written-off of trade receivables FEUE 5 AR RS - (22,050)
Written-off of fixed assets B 7E & EMEH (400) (62,766)
Impairment of right-of-use assets EREEERE (1,522) =
Sundry income FEIEWA 958 753
(119,129) (92,513)

Notes:

(@) Conveyance service income represents the income from provision of the
service for connecting the transition of steam to corporate customers.

(b) Government grants for the years were received as incentive for capital
expenditure and subsidy for operating costs. There are no unfulfilled

conditions or contingencies attached to the grants.

BRRBUAESERTPRHESMALE

HRBARRFE PG UL ©

FARDMBFHBE - EFREAFRR 28
B RS EPRA 2 2B o BRAFBY & A
FEAARETZ R RRAEIA -
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11. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group has three reportable segments as follows:

Heat and power
Calcium carbide

— generation and supply of heat and power;

— manufacture and sale of calcium carbide and
lime powder; and

— construction and monitor of public facilities
construction.

Construction
services

The Group’s reportable segments are strategic business units that
offer different products. They are managed separately because each
business unit requires different technology and marketing strategies.

Segment profits or losses do not include fair value losses on fair value
of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, net, share of result
of a joint venture and corporate administrative expenses. Segment
assets do not include bank and cash balances, financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, investments in joint ventures and corporate
assets. Segment liabilities do not include bank loans, bonds payable,
convertible bonds, bonds interest payable, other loans and other
payables and accruals for general administrative use.

11.

7 RPEF

REFBUAT=EATREDED :

HEhEN — HEERMERGELE

il —  BUE R E RS A
A - R

BERY - RBRINRERCRRER

REBE AR

E0 BRI RE R R
HRBEM - BN EBEL TR AT
SHERE TR MBI ERE

D EbE MR A AL A HER AR
ZERMEENFEZATHEBEREER - 21b
—HAEEEXFERARITHAX - D&
EXEFARITERSEF - RAFEFA
BR/EREE N—HEZEEENKRER
RAIAE - HEBELEFARITENR - &
NES - ARES - BAESHE - Hib
B RA R A 5 RIR e —ARAT IR A ik 2 e
HER -



133

FHEEREBRRLAE —T——FFH

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
R E MR R AR A ()

for the year ended 30 June 2021 2 —F ——# NH=+HIFF/Z

11. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

The Group accounts for intersegment sales and transfers as if the sales
or transfers were to third parties, i.e. at current market prices.

11. 2HER @

AEERAE =5 FH 2 HE R BE(BR
BRITHE)FTE D AR HE M

BRTHESHENNEE - &

Information about reportable segment profit or

loss, assets and liabilities

ERERzER

Heat and Calcium  Construction
power carbide services Unallocated Total
HEREN BRiLES BERY RAE EH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FEr FEn TEx TEn FEx
Year ended 30 June 2021 Hz—ZT-—%, A=1H
ILFE
Revenue from external customers shEbR e 197,610 23,424 - 7,987 229,021
Segment loss PEER (73,031) (119,834) (91,851) (14,343) (299,059)
Losses on fair value of financial assets A FET AR £8
at fair value through profit or loss, net ~ BEALEBEFE (2,988)
Corporate administrative expenses ATHTHRZ (157,539)
Consolidated loss for the year EREREBE (459,586)
Bank interest income RITFIBMA - 1 - 6 7
Interest expense MERZ 3,160 1,205 91 121,575 126,121
Depreciation of fixed assets EFBENE 13,876 51,031 - 7,609 72,516
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERESENE 1,543 1,582 - 5,077 9,102
Other material items of income and HtEAWARALIES ¢
expense;
Government grants HiftRBE 2,786 - - 288 3,074
Other material non-cash items: HEEXERLER
Provision/(reversal) of allowance MR /e
for receivables and written off of (BE) R TR
prepayment, net TEFE
— trade receivables B SHRE 8,440 (2,969) 4,693 - 10,164
— prepayment, deposits and other -BAFE - BeR
receivables HinEW IR 14,754 19,641 84,058 (3,694) 114,759
Written-off of inventories WHFE 64 107 - - 1
Written-off of fixed assets WHETEE - 400 - - 400
Impairment of right-of-use assets FREAERNE 1,522 - - - 1,522
Additions to segment non-current assets 3R SIERE B E 16,399 2,368 - - 18,767
As at 30 June 2021 RZB=—F5:A=TH
Consolidated total assets GREERT 742,302 932,436 2 396,613 2,071,353
Consolidated total liabilities GaBBLR 296,830 275,648 44,780 1,365,386 1,982,644
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11. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Information about reportable segment profit or

11. 2HER @
ERATURES RN EE - B

loss, assets and liabilities (Continued) ErRGEz2ER @)
Heat and Calcium Construction
power carbide services Unallocated Total
HERE S Bkft35 BERS AR gt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL TEL TEL T TEx
Year ended 30 June 2020 BE-Z-ZFAA=1H
IFERE
Revenue from external customers IEEPKE 177,061 16,760 376 140 194,337
Segment loss DEERE (52,389) (113,047) (60,961) (7,217) (234,508)
Losses on fair value of financial assets AT EFABEZEBEE
at fair value through profit or loss, net ~ AFEBEFE (69)
Corporate administrative expenses ARITHAY (131,232)
Consolidated loss for the year FREAEE (365,305)
Bank interest income HTFIBHA = 2 = 2 4
Interest expense MEFZ 3,655 1,145 1,659 104,485 110,944
Depreciation of fixed assets BT EENE 12,910 48,211 32 7,665 68,818
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREAENE 1,941 1,968 - 4,548 8,457
Other material items of income and HEEAMARBYER ¢
expense;
Govemment grants e E - 554 - - 554
Other material non-cash items: HEEXEREER
Impairment of intangible assets BVEERE - - 3,778 - 3,778
Written-off of fixed assets WHETEE 62,766 = - - 62,766
Written-off of trade receivables FEME 5 BRI - = 22,050 - 22,050
Provision/(reversal) of allowance for el IER G/ Ble(RE)
receivables, net 38
— trade receivables -ERESER 6,355 = = = 6,355
— prepayment, deposits and other —BAFE - ke k
receivables HivfelsioE - - 14,209 (450) 13,759
Provision/written-off of inventories BFERE/ M = 26,629 = - 26,629
Additions to segment non-current assets SR HIERE BE 18,935 730 = 6,478 26,143
As at 30 June 2020 RZE-TF:A=1H
Consolidated total assets DABERT 669,003 907,862 78,967 275,151 1,930,983
Consolidated total liabilities maBRELE 186,658 210,235 2,122 1,168,422 1,567,437
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

A ISR R M ()

for the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z —E——FNA=+HIFFZ

11.

12.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 11.

Information about reportable segment profit or
loss, assets and liabilities (Continued)

The Group’s majority of revenue and non-current assets are derived
from customers based in PRC and accordingly, no geographical
information is presented.

Information about major customers
No customers of the corresponding years contributing over 10% of the
total sales of the Group.

2 EBE B @)
ERTHRESHBANREE - &
EREEzER@®
AEBAH WS RIFRBEET KA DE
ZEE - Eit - WESTIEER -

BREEEFNEN
AR - BEEF A EERHERE
B10% °

FINANCE COSTS 12, BAFERR A
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHT FHIT
Interest on bank loans IRITERFE 1,825 3,296
Interest on other loans — wholly repayable within HEZRF B —BREERN
five years 2EEE 9,919 8,689
Interest on bonds payable — not wholly repayable  FEfHESFI & — EBRHER
in five years EMER 109,321 98,606
Interest on convertible bonds AMARRESFE 4,397 =
Interest on lease liabilities HEHERNB 659 858

126,121 110,944
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13.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 13. FIEHIREX
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHTT

Current tax BNHRF 18

- PRC Enterprise Income tax — B ZEFTIS R 855 =
— Hong Kong Profits tax —BBNED 35 =
890 -

Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at the rate of
16.5% on the estimated assessable profit for both years.

Tax charge on profits assessable elsewhere has been calculated at
the rates of tax prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates,
based on existing legislation, interpretation and practices in respect
thereof.

Pursuant to the income tax rules and regulations of the PRC, the
subsidiaries in the PRC are liable to PRC enterprise income tax at a
rate of 25% during the year (2020: 25%)).

Pursuant to the Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC approved by
the National People’s Congress on 16 March 2007, from 1 January
2008, non-resident enterprises without an establishment or place
of business in the PRC or which have an establishment or place of
business in the PRC but whose relevant income is not effectively
connected with the establishment or a place of business in the PRC,
will be subject to withholding tax at the rate of 10% (unless reduced
by treaty) on various types of passive income such as dividend derived
from sources within the PRC.

According to the notice Cai Shui [2008] No.1 released by the Ministry
of Finance and the State Administration of Taxation, distributions
of the pre-2008 retained profits of a foreign-invested enterprise to
a foreign investor in 2008 or after are exempt from withholding tax.
Accordingly, the retained profits at 31 December 2007 in the Group’s
foreign-invested enterprises’ books and accounts will not be subject to
withholding tax on dividend on future distribution.

AREE T 1216.5% 1 Kt i B E (A 58
REUENFHRE B NS TR -

HitiR 2 ERBUE TR IR AR B L=
EBFERRZBITRE - RESHBRTE
R RERESIFE -

BIEFEAEHRREER - AFEEFHEN
gﬁﬂmﬁﬁﬁéwa_%:gi:%%%&
MR B EEFTS R o

REZBEARRKERAGR _ZETLF=A
TARBMEZHECEMERE B -FF
NEFE—A—B#E  ERERARERLER
WSS - R EPBIRNR EH
WIS  BRGEZABRAEREERER
AR EBEESIS L BERBE 2 IFE
R% - BARSBHEBKRA (MRS T E
BN Z BB )R E10% (BRIFRTBLU I 7E R
) BRTRFNTIIA -

mﬁwﬁ%&ﬁ%ﬁ% | R 2 B
[2008] 15R:B A - R=—TT)\FH 2 BRI
B EEDRINERECE_ST/\FAIZ
REBIBFIEER CAMTENFTIIE  FH ﬁ%
B2 N E ¥ 2 R AR E Ao R =
THF+_A=+—BAZRERFE MMK
RDIR 2 B BB TR IE -
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for the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z=ZF =

13. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

A ISR R M ()

—FNH=THIFFE

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to loss before tax using
the statutory rate for the countries in which the Company and its
subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax credit at the effective tax rates are

as follows:

13. FIEHiBEX @)

BARRREMBRRTEER EERE
SERTAIERER ZHERX - BIRER
BEFAE AR R 2 HRAT

2021 2020

:g: - fﬁ — 7 —% E

HK$°000 HK$’000

FBT FAT

Loss before tax BRAiRIRS R (458,696) (365,805)

Tax at the statutory tax rate BEEREGTE 2B (100,114) (80,697)

Income not subject to tax BANT 2 WA (66) (968)

Expenses not deductible for tax AR 25,935 46,194

Tax losses not recognised RIERBIEEE 75,135 38,753

Utilisation of unrecognised tax losses R ARTER 2 BT E 18 - (3,382)
Tax expense at the Group’s effective tax rate ERSEERTEGFEZ

BiIRR 2 890 =

At the end of the reporting period, the aggregate amount of temporary RmEREER - BEZETEERELERIE

differences associated with undistributed earnings of subsidiaries for
which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised is approximately
HK$10,762,000 (2020: HK$11,381,000). No deferred tax liabilities have
been recognised in respect of these differences because the Group is
in a position to control the dividend policies of these subsidiaries and it is
probable that such differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

BEZHBA Tﬁk SEEFEE ERE
HHEEL 510,762,000 T (- E-F4F :
11,381,000/ 7T) © BIFAN & B A 5 il 5%
EWB AR ZREEE - BBBAEEIET
SRR A SREE - R ER LS = RERER
RERIERE
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14. LOSS FOR THE YEAR

The Group’s loss for the year is stated after charging the following:

14. REEEE

REERAREE 2 BRI 5% 1E =T
BE :

2021 2020

—EB=-—-F —EFTF

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FET FAT

Auditor’s remuneration IZ RN & 1,200 1,513

Cost of inventories sold B EFEKA 179,127 164,967

Provision of inventories FERE 171 26,629

Depreciation of fixed assets EEEENTE 72,516 68,818

Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 9,102 8,457
Factory overhead incurred during suspension of FEHRHELEZIHAERX

production (note) (BfF=E) 20,220 65,232

Impairment of intangible assets B EERE - 3,778

Staff costs (excluding directors’ emoluments): ETRAN(TBIEEEMNE) :

Wages, salaries and benefits in kind I% - #HeNEYAE 25,667 20,019

Employee share option benefits B TRERERT 9,236 =

Redundancy cost TURRRRZR - 3,363

Retirement benefits scheme contributions RUNERETEIHEER 4,520 5,894

Cost of inventories sold includes staff costs and depreciation
of approximately HK$9,761,000 (2020: HK$9,052,000) and
HK$6,150,000 (2020: HK$6,380,000) respectively, which are included
in the amounts disclosed separately above.

Note: During the years ended 30 June 2021 and 2020, factory overhead
was incurred during the temporary suspension of the production line of
Calcium carbide segment due to a substantial decrease in profit margin.

EEGTERABEE TRARTED BIL
9,761,000 L (= =T F : 9,052,000
B I0) % 6,150,000 T (=T T &
6,380,000/ 7T) * WEFT AR EXEHEE
ZEEEA -

M BT =_—FRER=_T=-_TFA=1H
IEFE - THA SRS DRENEEKE
TR IR IS DB 2 EERE (= A E
Fﬁﬁgi °©
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15. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS

The emoluments of each director were as follows:

15. EEMEREEHMH

BEEEZHEWT

Basic salaries, housing
benefits, other allowances  Retirement benefits

Fees and benefits in kind scheme contributions  Share option benefits Total
B55¢  EERA
he RRRRENHE BIEAR B BREEN EH
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
“E--% ZE-%F C-E--F C-3-%F -E--f —E-%F C-E--F C-3-%F C-E--f %
HK$'000 HK$000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
T THT T T T THT Thn T T T
Executive directors HiTES
Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe RExt - - 120 120 - - 2070 - 2,190 120
Mr. Gao Ran (Note ) BEEE (W) - = - = - = - = - =
Mr. Yu Defa FERLE - - 120 519 - - 2,070 - 2,190 519
Mr, Law Tze Ping Eric Bk - - 300 300 15 15 2,070 - 2,385 315
Mr. Chen Lei (Note i BRE A () - - - 120 - 6 - - - 126
M. Lin Bitian (Note i) RSB (Fii) - = - = - = - = - =
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
directors
Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan SEMEE 180 180 - - - - 1,353 - 1,533 180
Mr. Tam Ching Ho ERETE 180 180 - - - - 1,353 - 1,533 180
Mr. Hau Chi Kit i 180 180 - = - = 1,353 - 1,533 180
540 540 540 1,009 15 2 10,269 - 11,364 1,620
Notes: Ft 3
[0) Mr. Gao Ran was appointed as an executive director on 23 July 2020. [0) BHEER-ZE-_TFLA=-+=-HEZ
ERHITES -
(i) Mr. Chen Lei has resigned as an executive director on 3 May 2021. (ii) BRELXER T _—FHA=HEENT
=
(iii) Mr. Lin Bitian was appointed as an executive director on 12 March 2020. (iii) MYVBEEER_E_EF=A+_HEZ

He was subsequently resigned as an executive director on 10 July 2020.

THEHERTES -

EARTES - FEHEN_FT_FFtA
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15. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’

EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the year included
5 (2020: 1) directors whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis
presented above. The emoluments of the remaining 4 individuals for the
year ended 30 June 2020 are set out below:

15. EEMEREEFHFM @

TR ARELEESFREREEESRA(Z
TE_TFE AREF  FFZMCRE
XE2NZAMRER - T4 RBEBE—F
“EEXAZTHLEFEZME&IINT

2021 2020
—E—f —ETF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAT
Basic salaries, housing benefits, other allowances EA# & - BERA] - Efb)E8E %

and benefits in kind B = N/A & 1,825
Pension scheme RS FE N/A & A 53
N/A R E A 1,878

The emoluments fell within the following bands: BN T A T Sl

Number of individuals

EEAE
2021 2020
—E-—F ZECTF
Nil to HK$1,000,000 L% 1,000,000/ 7T N/A FiE A 4

The Company granted 129,500,000 share options to certain directors
and employees on 3 November 2020. The fair value of share option is
HK$19,505,000 (2020: Nil).

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors or the
five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office in both years and no
directors waived any emolument during the year ended 30 June 2021
(2020: Nil).

The aggregate of contributions to pension schemes for the five highest
paid individuals amounting to HK$15,000 for the year ended 30 June
2021 (2020: HK$53,000).

ARER—_ZE_TF+—A=ZHARETES
& 8 % 11129,500,00010 B AL #E o BE AR AE

Z AF{EA19,505,0008 T( — T =T 4 :
;) o

REZMEFE » NEEBES S ERBES T
HAEES AL R 5 ES AERINE R
S| EMEAAREE 2 BB BB (E A NE
E_T-—FXA=ZTHULEE  BEEE
WEHFN (=T =ZTF : ) -

REBEE-_ZE-_—F~A=1THILEFE A
HREFATHRASHEEEREE
15,0008 (ZZE =ZZ4F : 53,00087T) °
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16.

17.

DIVIDEND

The Directors do not recommend the payment of dividend for the year
ended 30 June 2021 (2020: Nil).

LOSS PER SHARE

Basic loss per share

Calculation of basic loss per share attributable to the owners of the
Company is based on the loss for the year attributable to the owners
of the Company of approximately HK$450,353,000 (2020 (restated):
HK$354,886,000) and the weighted average number of ordinary shares
of 1,436,711,000 (2020: 1,335,781,000) in issue during the year.

Diluted loss per share

The computation of diluted loss per share for the years did not assume
the exercise of outstanding share options and convertible bonds of the
Company since these options and convertible bonds were anti-diluted
during the years ended 30 June 2021 and 2020.

16.

17.

IR =

EEfrESENEE—E-—F<A=1H
EFEZRB(ZE=ZF : &) -

BREE

BREXREE
RGBS AT REREIER TR E A
NElEB AEIE AT EE1E 450,353,000
B (ZTZFF (4L EF) : 354,886,000
B ) RAFEE BT E B INEF
¥ 8 1,436,711,000 %k ( = T = T F
1,335,781,0000% )51 & -

BREEEHE

SRR SRS EER T ERRTEAR
A2 MARITE B R AT E S - REL
ZEBRERATBRRESKNBE-S - —F
M—ZE_ZTHFANA=THIEFEAREER
ﬂg °
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18. FIXED ASSETS 18. BIE&EE
Furniture,
office
equipment Pipelines
Construction Plant and Leasehold and motor and
Buildings in progress machinery  improvements vehicle trench Total
i BAE
BF EEIR BERHEE  RENEEE RERE EERER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
TEr TEr TEr TEr Thr Thr Thr
Cost BE
At 1 July 2019 restated) RZE-NEtA-R
(&5 662,930 429488 1,019,696 4234 21,878 151,135 2,295,361
Addttions AE = 16,708 335 = 1,367 1,265 19,665
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHBAT - - - - (17) - {17
Transfer &5 - (452) - - = 452 =
Exchange difference EiZR (22,028 (14,513 (29.270) - (800) (5,276) (71,887)
At 30 June 2020 RIZZEERA=TRR
and 1 July 2020 “RCRECA-A 640,902 431,031 990,761 4,234 28,428 147,566 2,243,122
Addttions AE - 14792 3197 - 778 - 18,767
Witten off W - - - - (486) - (486)
Transfer fo held-for-sale (note 27) ~ EREHELE(HEE7) (119,897) = = = = = (119,897)
Exchange difference EXES 61,435 41,942 95,546 - 2,38 14807 216,078
At 30 June 2021 RZZ=-5rA=TH 582,440 487,965 1,089,504 4234 31,048 162,393 2,357,584
Accumulated depreciationand ~ ZifiERHE
impairment
At 1 July 2019 (restated) RZZ-NEtA-R
(ame5) 297,263 = 316,087 3910 18,175 44,306 679,691
Charge for the year QR 19,193 - 39,984 34 2,071 7246 68,818
Disposal of subsidiaries L EHBAR - - - - ] - ]
Impairment B - 62,766 - - - - 62,766
Exchange difference EXZE (10,084) (657) (6,059) - (488) (1,587) (18,845)
At 30 June 2020 and RZE-EERA=TAR
1July 2020 “Z-FErR-A 306,372 62,109 349,962 4234 19,755 49995 192,427
Charge for the year ERER 20,282 = 42436 = 2,154 7,644 72,516
Witten off ki - - - - (86) - (86)
Transfer to held-for-sale (note 27) ~ EEZH{ERE(H3227) (35969) - - - - - (35,969)
Exchange difference EiES 29,024 5,084 30,692 - 1537 5,020 73,157
At 30 June 2021 RZE--FrA=1H 320,609 68,093 423,090 4,234 23360 62,659 902,045
Carrying amounts BEE
At 30 June 2021 e e 261,831 419,872 666,414 = 7,688 99,734 1,455,539
At 30 June 2020 (restated) RZB-FE7A=TR
(&5 334,530 369,122 640,799 = 8,673 97,51 1,450,695
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18. FIXED ASSETS (continued)

A ISR R M ()

—FNH=THIFFE

18. BEIE&E @)

As at 30 June 2021, the carrying amount of certain buildings amounted
to approximately HK$84,820,000 (2020 (restated): HK$162,713,000)
for which relevant legal titles have not yet been obtained. At the date of
approval of these consolidated financial statements, the application for
obtaining the aforesaid legal titles is still in progress.

As at 30 June 2021, the carrying amounts of buildings have been
pledged as security for the Group’s bank loans and other loans
amounted to approximately of HK$54,780,000 (2020 (restated):
HK$217,553,000).

During the years ended 30 June 2021 and 2020, the Group carried out
reviews of the recoverable amount of the fixed assets. The review led
to an impairment loss on construction in progress in heat and power
segment of approximately of HK$Nil (2020 (restated): HK$62,109,000)
for the year ended 30 June 2021 that have been recognised in profit or
loss. The recoverable amount of the buildings have been determined
on the depreciated replacement cost basis. For other fixed assets, the
recoverable amounts are based on higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value-in-use calculations. The value-in-use calculations
use cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
management for the purposes of impairment reviews covering a five-
year period.

RZFZ—FNA=1H ' HBETEE#E
RER 2 & TEF 2 RHE{EX A84,820,000
BL(ZZE_ZF(LEF5) : 162,713,000
BIT) o RZFHheMBmERIERR - &
B AU TE S0 2 BB DR AT o

N=ZZT=—FA=1+H  ERAEERT
BERREMEREREASERZEFTZER
B B4 454,780,000/8 70 ( =T — F4F (&
&%) : 217,553,000/ 7C) °

REEZZT——FR=_F_FTFA=1H
IFFE - AEEHEEEENATKRE R
HEITER - %E‘a%@(@i—%ﬁ‘f FNA
=T RIEFERERENEBREETER
@Eﬁ%ﬁ%@%?iﬁﬁ(_g_j (#&&5) :
62,109,00087T) - CRIBEPHER - BT
BRI Bl S TRITERE B R AVEEETE © 5E
HtEEEEMS @ AIRO B HREAT
BREERNAREREETRSENE « £
REEEERENEREERTFIRE
%Eﬁfﬁﬂl/ﬁmEﬁﬁﬁ}ﬁgmiﬁi/mi%ﬁ/ﬁu
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19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 19. EAKEE
Leasehold Leased
land properties Total
HELH HEWE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FAT FAT
As at 30 June 2021 R=ZE=—FA=1+H
Carrying amount EEE 276,754 3,419 280,173
As at 30 June 2020 RZZZZEFRA=1H
Carrying amount BREE 291,798 5,578 297,376
Depreciation charge HERX
For the year ended 30 June 2021  EHZE=—Z=——F<A=+H
IEEFE 6,943 2,159 9,102
For the year ended 30 June 2020 EHZE-—ZE-—ZFXA=1+H
IEFE 7,557 900 8,457
Impairment NENIE]
For the year ended 30 June 2021 BE—_Z—_—F,A=+H
IFFE 1,622 - 1,522
For the year ended 30 June 2020 EHZE=ZT-_TFA=1+H
IEFE - - -
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT FAT
Expense relating to short-term L0 HATH S 4ERE « 2
leases 536 1,633
Total cash outflow for leases HE RS M85 3,170 2,731
Additions to right-of-use assets FREEEZRNE - 6,478

For both years, the Group leases office for its operations. Lease
contracts are entered into for fixed term of three years (2020: three
years). Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain

MEFEA - AREHEERFRIELER
7 e R LHEERNEEFHR=F(=
TTF  =F) - HEHTYRERIELER

different terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and i BE TR R - EEHEER KT

assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies
the definition of a contract and determines the period for which the

contract is enforceable.

AR BEE R B RS - AEBEBA DK
EE - YEEASQATATHHRE -
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19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued) 19. FHAEEE@

In addition, the Group owns several industrial buildings where its
manufacturing facilities are primarily located and office buildings. The
Group is the registered owner of these property interests, including the
underlying leasehold lands. Lump sum payments were made upfront
to acquire these property interests. The leasehold land components of
these owned properties are presented separately only if the payments
made can be allocated reliably.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for motor vehicles,
machinery and equipment. As at 30 June 2021 and 2020, the portfolio
of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to
which the short-term lease expense disclosed above.

Impairment assessment

Management of the Group concluded there was indication for
impairment and conducted impairment assessment on certain
leasehold land and leased properties with carrying amounts of
HK$276,754,000 and HK$3,419,000 respectively.

The recoverable amounts of the leasehold land and leased properties
have been determined based on their fair value less costs of disposal.
The Group uses direct comparison to estimate the fair value less costs
of disposal of the assets which is based on the recent transaction
prices for similar properties adjusted for nature, location and conditions
of the property. The fair value measurement is categorised into Level 3
fair value hierarchy.

The leasehold lands held under medium-term leases are located in
PRC and the leased properties held under long-term leases are located
in Hong Kong.

As at 30 June 2021, leasehold land with carrying amount of
approximately HK$183,927,000 have been pledged to secure banking
facilities and other loan granted to the Group.

UEoh - REE A % (8 ZRUERIEATER
TERNERBANE - ARBRZFYFE
HHZMEEA - BEAEEELH - B4R
RSN —GBRIE - WIEZSMEER - R
BEARNRANAIENERR - Z5CHE
MENEEL AT EEBZS -

ANEBEFHETAE « il KRS 2
E-RZZE-_—FR-ZE-_ZTF A=F
B RHAESAES BN £ EREE
FEMTMEAEHRS -

A AE G
REBEEREGERATLREDNR - WHER
& 5 Bl & 276,754,000 T & 3,419,000
BT A THE i KA EYEETRERT
iy o

HETHRAEMERNTRESBEERNE
DNFERDERSETE - AREERERL
B A AEEEN A TEREERS - K
DBOUMENTRZ ZERAEE - pi%
T -~ B R ARHEL AR - AT ERER
BRESR AT ERER

BE TR P ERBEHPBORSE - MBS
MERFBRIFERPHOFE

R-ZZT-—FEXA=+H EEHEHD
183,927,000/ LM & L B /B - A
MEAEEERNFETHMEMEMENR -
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20. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 20. REELEIKRE
Reconciliations of the Group’s investments in joint ventures accounted AEEFEAEDEARIREEREZRE
for using the equity method are as follows: ZEEROT
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FAT
At 1 July RtA—A 8,971 2787
Additions NE - 11,085
Disposal of a joint venture HE—FHEEhE - (2,787)
Share of post-acquisition profit/(loss) and other — FE{GUSEEL % F, /(B8 ) &
comprehensive income/(expense) Hip 2wk A/ (FX) 266 (2,020)
Exchange realignment bE N A% 871 (94)
At 30 June RANA=+H 10,108 8,971
Details of the Group’s joint ventures: AEBEEPEIFS

Name of joint ventures

Principal activity

Place of incorporation and

principal place of business

Proportion of ownership

interest/voting right
held by the Group

S AR 3 3t B rEBEFEEZ
AELEER FEXK REBEZEBBE Fia# RERELE
2021 2020
—E-—F CZEZZTHF
Mudanjang Xusheng Limited* Manufacture and sales of PRC 50% 50%
chemical products
HATERBRAA HEENMEE(CTER H

*  For identification purpose only
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20. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) 20. RE& ¥ 2R E @)

ABREIMBRRBERATX - TXE
FISME A B EEARIE A -

Summarised financial information of the joint venture is set out below.
The amounts presented below are after adjustments made to equity-
account of the joint venture.

Mudanjang Xusheng Limited

HATHEAEERAA
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FBT FHIT
At 30 June: RANA=+H:
Non-current assets ETMBEE 13,358 25,282
Current assets BN EE 29,121 12,189
Current liabilities mEBE (34,563) (30,499)
Year ended 30 June: HEANA=+THLEFE
Revenue Weas 43,205 4,652
Profit/(loss) for the year RNEEHH, (ER) 532 (4,040)

There are no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s interests in the

joint venture and the entity also had no material contingent liabilities.

BEAMASENG 2 EENER AR

B ZERITEEALAEIE -
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21. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

—FENA=FHIFFE

. Rt B EE

Exclusive Trade Technical Construction
right name know-how contracts Goodwill Total
55K 2 B BEEY [ st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAET AT TET TAT TAT
Cost B
At 1 July 2019 Sy s =] 72,347 33,459 17,364 36,558 699 160,427
Exchange difference EHEE - - (580) (1,221) - (1,801)
At 30 June 2020 and \_—«_—\zi/\ﬂ +H
1 July 2020 “Z-ZF+A—H 72,347 33,459 16,784 88188 699 158,626
Acquisition of subsidlaries MQE%WE AIER))
(note 39) - - - - 10,679 10,679
Deconsolidation of subsidiary BRIHRAE ARIB AR
(note 40) (F33E40) - - - - (10,679) (10,679)
Exchange difference ERER - - 1,617 3,405 = 5,022
At 30 June 2021 RZE-—&XA=1H 72,347 33,459 18,401 38,742 699 163,648
Accumulated amortisation BN RERE
and impairment losses
At 1 July 2019 R-Z-N&FtA—AH 72,347 33,459 17,364 32,690 699 156,559
Impairment loss EEE - - - 3,778 = 3,778
Exchange differences EXZESE - - (580) (1,131) - [1,711)
At 30 June 2020 and \7777%&! 1A
1 July 2020 E=—E-ZFE+A—H 72,347 33,459 16,784 35,337 699 158,626
Exchange differences [N E% - - 1,617 3,405 - 5,022
At 30 June 2021 W-Z-—%:A=1H 72,347 33,459 18,401 38,742 699 163,648

Carrying amount

At 30 June 2021

SREE

RZZZ—45A=TH

At 30 June 2020

\—7—7&/\)51 —I—El




149
EBREXRKEARAE —T-—FFH

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
RS B R AR I ()

for the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z —ZE_-——F NA=+HIFFZ

22. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 22. B ARIER
Place/country of
incorporation/ Percentage of equity
registration and Issued and paid up/ attributable to
Name operation registered capital the Company  Principal activities
HMERL/EHRE BRORMRE/  AREFERE
2B EXhE/HX EfEs [EpilA TEEH
Direct  Indirect
E# 554
Dragon Boom Investments Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary United States 100% - Investment holding
(‘BVI") dollar (US$") $1
ERRERRAT RERAEHS EaRiEn(=n)) REER
((#BRu#EE])
Gold Capture Investments Inc. BVI Ordinary US$1 100% - Investment holding
RERAEHS EERIET REER
Prosper Path Limited BVI Ordinary US$1 100% - Investment holding
RERAEHE LERIZET REER
Quality Gain Investments Ltd. BVI Ordinary US$1 100% - Investment holding
RERAEHE LERIET REER
Better Day Power Ltd. BVI Ordinary US$2 100% - Investment holding
ERRERRAR EERTEE L@k REER
Master King Group Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100% - Inactive
EREEFRAR 3 LRRAT TEE
Daytech Group Limited BVI Ordinary US$2 = 100% Investment holding
RESERR AT EERTES E@EkoxT REER
Powerful Rise Group Limited BVI Ordinary US$1 = 100% Inactive
EERTES LERIET LEE
Racing Dragon Group Limited BVI (Note (a)) Ordinary US$100 = 90% Investment holding
(‘Racing Dragon’)
SEEEERAR(FE]) EREREHS (HHe) E@ER100%TT REER
Mudanjiang Better Day Power Limited”* PRC (Note (b)) RMB110,000,000 - 100% Generation and supply of heat and power
(‘Mudanjiang BD Power”)
HATERRTERAR il (fifzHb) AR%110,000,00070 FEREEREREN

(MEAIERAE])
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22. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

22. B ATE R @)

Place/country of
incorporation/ Percentage of equity
registration and Issued and paid up/ attributable to
Name operation registered capital the Company Principal activities
HMRYL/ R BREIRAR/ KT A
2 S EVLCES ZMER AAtk TEEH
Direct  Indirect
Ei R
Mudanjiang Daytech Chemical Limited* PRC (Note (c)) RMB558,844,178 - 100% Manufacture and sale of calcium carbide
(‘Mudanjiang Daytech Chemical’)
HPIRRCIERAR(MAIRERT])  HE(HFQ) AR¥558,844,1787T ERHERICES
Mudanjiang Dongbei Chemical Engineering PRC (Note (d)) RMB110,910,000 - 63.11% Manufacture and sale of vinyl acetate
Company Limited*
(‘Mudanjiang Dongbei Chemical”)
RATRCTERAR(HATRICT]) B (F) AE#110,910,0007C HERHERRLS
Mudanjiang Dongbei Gaoxin Chemical Co., Ltd.*  PRC (Note () HK$230,000,000 = 100% Manufacture and sale of polyvinyl-chloride
(‘Mudanjiang Dongbei Gaoxin”)
HATRLSMLIERAT el (fizEe) 230,000,000/57% HERHERALR
(MHATRILEA])
Heihe LongJiang Chemical Limited"* PRC (Note (f)) RMB265,000,000 = 90% Manufacture and sale of calcium carbide,
(‘Heine Longdiang Chemical’) polyvinyl-chloride and vinyl acetate
SAELEIERAR(RTEILI) I (fitzE) AR#265,000,0007 BERHERIE  BRLARRERLGE
Mudanjiang Jinyang Municipal Engineering PRC (Note (g)) RMB23,900,000 = 100% Provision of municipal engineering construction
Company Limited* services
("Jinyang Municipal’)
HATeHTRIRERAR([&HME]) i (M) AE#23,900,0007C R TRRERY
China Zenith Construction Materials Limited Cayman Islands Ordinary HK$0.01 = 100% Inactive
FERENBRAR FERS LiRAR0.01ET TEER
Success Eagle Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 = 100%  Provision of administrative and
consultancy services
B EBR AR Bk LRRAT AR TR T s AR 7
Mudanjiang Longtuo New Energy Co., Ltd* PRC (Note (n)) RMB260,000,000 = 100% Investment holding
(‘Mudanjiang New Energy”)
HATERTERERAR(HAIHER])  RE(EEN) AB#260,000,00070 RERK
Mudanjiang Longjin Wine Co., Ltd.* PRC (Note (i) RMB1,000,000 = 100%  Investment holding
(‘Longjin Wine”)
RIS EEERAR ((EEEZ]) ) ARE1,000,00070 RERK

*  For identification purpose only
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22. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Notes:

(@)

The Group acquired further equity interests in the subsidiary on 17 June
2016, and the percentage of equity interests attributable to Company
increased from 67% to 90%.

Mudanjiang BD Power is a wholly foreign-owned enterprise registered
in the PRC for an operating period of 50 years commencing from the
approval date of 9 June 2006.

Mudanjiang Daytech Chemical is a wholly foreign-owned enterprise
registered in the PRC for an operating period of 50 years commencing
from the approval date of 30 December 2006.

Mudanjiang Dongbei Chemical is a sino-foreign equity joint venture
established in the PRC for an operating period of 50 years commencing
from the approval date of 27 May 2004.

Mudanjiang Dongbei Gaoxin is a wholly foreign-owned enterprise
registered in the PRC for an operating period of 50 years commencing
from the approval date of 26 April 2005.

Heihe Longdiang Chemical is a wholly foreign-owned enterprise
established in the PRC for an operating period of 20 years commencing
from the approval date of 5 June 2008.

Jinyang Municipal is a limited liability company established in the PRC
with indefinite operating period.

Mudanjiang New Energy is a limited liability company established in the
PRC with indefinite operating period.

Longjin Wine is a limited liability company established in the PRC with
indefinite operating period.

22. B ATE R @)

Wi

(@

REER T RERNA+EREBEZN
BRAZEZEME  AREEIEHRERD
LE 67 %IE N ZE90% ©

HATERAESNHEEM 2 EEE
tF  REHaHERR_TTRFRA
N H R HIB04F -

HAT REC T AN EEMR 2 B E
X KEHEHERR -_TTRF+=
A=+ Biat RS04 -

HATRIE T ERFRREKL 2 FIEE
AEME QA ibERE-—TTNE
A A=+t BB ABHI504F -

HATIRIEEFART R 2B E
¥ ELHARERB_ETAEMA
ZNHBEHAHS0EF ©

BRI RRPRKZIZIINEGBED
¥ KEHEERR T N\F AL
B st R E20% -

SHETBRANTEKLZBRAR @ WHE
EEREE -

HATHERABNTEKRIZARAT
WEBFEEREH -

BEOXEANTEKLZBRAR @ LHE
EEREE -
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22. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

The following table shows information of subsidiaries that have
non-controlling interests (“NCI”) material to the Group. The summarised
financial information represents amounts before inter-company eliminations.

22, fiB A TE R @)

TRITEEUAEBBEA 2 IR
([FEzltEsm ) 2B AREFR - Atz
FBERERRIFELHATIZ S8R °

Mudanjiang
Dongbei Chemical Racing Dragon
HASTRIEET T
2021 2020 2021 2020
—Eo-F  ZERZRF E--HF ZTEZF
Principal country/place ETEEEER 2
of business/country of D AVACIER PRC/PRC PRC/PRC PRC/BVI PRC/BVI
incorporation HE PR RE PEEE PR HE
BLZHE RS
% of ownership interest/voting  FEIE RS FTHE
rights held by NCI FTa iRz R 36.89% 36.89% 10% 10%
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT FERT FAET
At 30 June: RAB=+H:
Non-current assets JEMENEE 41,378 38,925 787,262 867,958
Current assets MENEE 288,119 221,098 145,174 39,904
Non-current liabilities FEnRBEE - - - (145,860)
Current liabilities mEBE (69,896) (20,967)  (1,298,654)  (1,034,047)
Net assets/(liabilities) B/ (AE)FHE 259,601 239,056 (366,218) (272,045)
Accumulated NCI RET IR Ay 95,767 88,188 (36,622) (27,204)
Year ended 30 June: BEAA=THLEE:
Revenue & - = 23,424 16,760
Loss Eis (2,426) (1,266) (66,210)  (104,516)
Total comprehensive income/ 2@ A (FIs2) 458
(expense) 20,544 (9,555) (94,180) (97,590)
Loss allocated to NCI DL T IEERR MRS 2 B8 (895) (467) (6,621) (10,452)
Total comprehensive income/ 7B F3F% HQTEfmZi@LBZ
(expense) allocated to NCI A/ ()4 7,579 (3,525) (9,418) (9,759)
Dividends paid to NClI S'iﬁ?“éH Hﬂ& = Zﬂx = - = - -
Net cash generated from/ KETEBIRTS(FTA)RE
(used in) operating activities SRR - - 13,339 (1,739)
Net cash used in investing WEEBMTAE 235
activities - - (2,368) (723)
Net cash (used in)/generated BMEES(ATA) 53R
from financing activities R - = (9,851) 1,026
Effect of foreign exchange rate  JNE[&E K& &) » L&
changes - - 6 1)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash R&MIRE&EEHE #1,7
and cash equivalents OB ) F8E - = 1,126 (1,437)
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23.

24.

INVENTORIES 23. 78
2021 2020
= —F—FF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHT FHIT
Raw materials R 9,439 10,917
Less: Provision for impairment loss A ORBESIERE (3,704) (3,379
5,735 7,538

During the year, provision of impairment of slowing moving goods
and written-off of damaged goods of nil (2020: HK$3,415,000) and
HK$171,000 (2020: HK$23,214,000) respectively have been charged
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

FR - OEHEHERNBRERERBERZER
B D R ABZE( T —F4F : 3,415,000
BIL) 1710008 T (Z T = F F
23,214,000/87T) « B BirA Bmibk o

TRADE RECEIVABLES 24. EWE ZERIE
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Trade receivables from contracts with customers 2R B & F & LI EINE 5 BR1E 42,373 39,447
Less: allowance for credit loss B EEEIERHE (19,353) (12,147)
23,020 27,300

The Group’s trading terms with customers are mainly on credit. The
credit terms generally range from 15 to 30 days (2020: 15 to 180
days). The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by the directors.

AEEFEREERKRERPHEITIRS ° &
B RN TF15E308(ZTE_TF : 165
180H) - AEE M A BRBEHH K EERE
WEE - SR hHE S TR -
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24. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

The ageing analysis of trade receivables, based on the invoice date,

24, ERE 5 RE @)

FEWE 5 RIA (IR BB IR B R A 27

and net of allowance, is as follows:

ZIRER DA

2021 2020

—E-—F —ETF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FER FET

Within 30 days 30HA 1,252 396
31 to 60 days 31260H 1,226 194
61 to 90 days 61290H 2,944 556
91 to 120 days 912120H 1,592 793
121 to 150 days 121E150H 1,623 619
151 to 180 days 151£2180H 3,812 568
181 to 365 days 181£365H 10,571 17,834
Over 365 days HB#365H - 6,355
23,020 27,300

The Group’s trade receivables are denominated in RMB.
As at 30 June 2021, an allowance of approximately HK$19,353,000
(2020: HK$12,147,000) was made for estimated irrecoverable trade

receivables.

The reconciliation of allowance for trade receivables is as follows:

REB 7 EWE SRBIAARBHE -
MN-BE-——FxXA=1H  SsEstrak
Bl fE U B 5 AR IE R TR #EE %919,353,00078 7T
(ZE T4 : 12,147,000/67C) °

e S ARIAR 2 SRR T

Lifetime ECL credit impaired

EEREZHAREERFE
2021 2020
—E--F —ETEF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FER FAT
At beginning of year REF] 12,147 12,593
Provision of allowance, net BEERE 5,880 =
Exchange differences PE 5 ZERE 1,326 (446)
At end of year RER 19,353 12,147

As of 30 June 2021, trade receivables of approximately HK$21,768,000
(2020: HK$24,189,000) were past due but not impaired. These mainly
relate to a number of independent customers that are either active and
or have a good track record and established creditworthiness with the
Group for whom there is no recent history of default.

RIB-—FA=1TH  BKREZRELD
21,768,000 7t (=& ZZ F : 24,189,000
AT DARELERE - thEBRZ[EE
B EA RIFEGRCE - WEAKEEY(E
REBL R AR - WS EIERER
FOEE ©
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25. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

25. AARIE - FIE REMEKRR

RECEIVABLES b1 |
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHT FAT
Prepayment SN B 44,531 70,763
Deposits HkA 757 16,400
Other receivables H Ah e FRTE 59,808 43,119
105,096 130,282
26. BANK AND CASH BALANCES 26. RITRBESERF
As at 30 June 2021, the bank and cash balances of the Group RZZEZ—FA=FH  FEBUARK
denominated in RMB amounted to approximately HK$10,134,000 RENLZ RITRIBE T4 /10,134,000
(2020: HK$455,000). Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is TT(ZZT T4 : 455,000/870) - AR,
subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and HONIE T R BICONE B 2R 6151 ) I K A B
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange EIE RATEE IR E RS o
Regulations.
27. NON-CURRENT ASSET HELD FOR SALE 27. FEHENFRBEE

On 28 December 2020, Heihe Longjiang Chemical Limited (“HLCCL”),
a company indirectly owned as to 90% by the Company, entered
into an agreement (the “Disposal Agreement”) with Heihe Longhe
Investment Management Limited* (A& E BB HREMELAR]),
an independent third party, pursuant to which HLCCL had agreed to
transfer the land use rights of certain lands (the “Lands”) located in the
PRC at an aggregate consideration of RMB156,440,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$185,500,000), comprising RMB139,440,000 with
land compensation of RMB17,000,000 (the “Land Disposal”).

As the Lands had been left idle by the Group for a long time and in
view of the consideration to be received from the Land Disposal by the
Group, the directors considered that the Land Disposal was a good
opportunity for the Group to generate cash inflow, improve its liquidity
and reduce the carrying cost of the idle lands.

* For identification purpose only

RZZE-_TF+-_A=+/\B ' AR Tﬁaﬁ
BEHAENNNARBAEI{CIERA
(TZAEET(bT ) BB FE= Eznﬁé/\
REERERET AR L[ HER
&) Bt 2R TcIREEZEGR
HR R e TR ([ 52 ik | ) B9 + Hb 55 A
T BRE A AR 156,440,000 7T (48
B R #185,500,000% L) © BIEARE
139,440,000 A & A B #17,000,000 7T £J
T E (L EESE]) -

HRZFHRERAEE R ERRE —BE
[ - BN AN BRI i H S FIEWERD
RE BERRITHEEFEEBERE - A
FASEELHRDR  NERDESRRL
PR X B IR A AR A AN ©
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27. NON-CURRENT ASSET HELD FOR SALE

28.

(Continued)

The gross consideration generated from the Land Disposal would
be RMB156,440,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$185,500,000)
and the Company intended to use the proceeds for, among others, (i)
repayment of debts; (ii) tax payment in relation to the Land Disposal;

and (jii) general working capital of the Group.

As at the date of this report, the Land Disposal had not been

27. BELHENERBEE@®

THHHEEEEENBREAARYE
156,440,000 7T ( 48 & 1 %Y 185,500,000 /&
TL)  MARRBAGFSREAR(EFE
FE)EBES ()2 HEEBERER
B RiBEREAEE —REBEES -

RARERH - L HEFBEEARTTHK

completed.
The Land Disposal were classified as “non-current asset held for sale” RZZE=—FA=1H  BREFEVER
in accordance with HKFRS 5 as at 30 June 2021. ERBIELN  THHEEESEAIFE
HERIERBEE] -
The following assets were reclassified as held for sale as at 30 June RZZEZ—FA=+H " TIEESER
2021: FHEHE ¢
2021
—E-—F
HK$’000
FET
Non-current assets classified as held for sale DEARBEHENERBEE
Fixed assets BEE&E 83,928
Right-of-use assets EREEE 28,415
112,343
SHARE CAPITAL 28. A
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Authorised: JETE
5,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 5,000,000,0008% &I HE{E
HK$0.10 each 0.10/8 7T 2 Ei@A% 500,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRER
1,603,707,319 (2020: 1,339,927,319) 1,603,707, 319f% (= Z —Z 4 :
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 1,339,927,3190% ) I B
01078 T2 Lk 160,371 133,993
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28. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

28. BRA (@)

Number of
ordinary
shares issued Par value
ERITERE
g E HE
‘000 HK$’'000
A& FAT
At 1 July 2019 —hF+tHA—H 1,332,427 133,243
Exercise of share options (Note (a)) 1TIE AR (I 7E(a)) 7,500 750
At 30 June 2020 and 1 July 2020 RZZE_TFAA=Z+HK
—ZE-TF+HA—H 1,339,927 133,993
Exercise of share options (Note (b)) 1T B AR (I 5E (D)) 71,280 7,128
Conversion of convertible bonds (Note (c)) B AR ES (M) 92,500 9,250
Placing of shares (Note (d)) fid & A% 1 (Ffd7E(d)) 100,000 10,000
At 30 June 2021 R-_ZT-_—FxA=+H 1,603,707 160,371
Notes: Ft3E
(@  On 28 November 2019, 10 March 2020 and 27 April 2020, the (@) —NF+— H *Jr/\El —E-F
subscription rights attaching to 7,500,000 share options issued pursuant ¢ ﬂ +TARZZEZTFNMNA=++tH -
to the share option scheme of the Company were exercised at the REARR Tﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁé 5121317 27,500,00012
subscription price of HK$0.325 per share, resulting in the issue of REARIE M 75 2 SREB R B IRAR(90.3258 7T
7,500,000 shares of HK$0.1 each for the total cash consideration of \E%J\E%E?%ﬁﬁ » EHE1T7,500,0000% &
approximately HK$2.4 million, which was used for general working capital. ROABIT 2D - BIRENREL2488
BTERE—REEES -
(o)  On 26 April 2021, 6 July 2020, 5 August 2020, 26 August 2020, 7 ) K= T*fiwﬂ +8 - ZTZFF
September 2020, 8 October 2020, 8 October 2020 and 10 November +tAXRBE —ZE-_ZEF)\AR EI —Z=
2020, the subscription rights attaching to 71,280,000 share options issued TF J\ )51 ‘f‘ ANH T ? ¢ 7‘L A+t
pursuant to the share option scheme of the Company were exercised at = ¢+ﬁ! NB ZE=TF+
the subscription price of HK$0.325, HK$0.345 and HK$0.38 per shares, ANBRZZ=ZFTF+—A+H  BREX
resulting in the issue of 71,280,000 shares of HK$0.1 each for the total A A AR #E AT £ 3497 2 71,280,00017 i AR
cash consideration of approximately HK$24.1 million, which was used for M 2 BB R T RAR % 0.325 7T
general working capital. 0.3457% 7T 2 0.38 B T RBERI T - &
BE£1771,280,00008 & A0 1B T 2 A5 -
BRRSKRELHAIEEASTERAE—RE
EEd -
() On 23 December 2020 and 16 February 2021, a total of 92,500,000 (c) RZEZTF+_A+=AKR=F=
shares were issued upon conversion of convertible bonds. FZRTRH  RERARRERR T
% #£92,500,0008% &4
(d  On 10 June 2021, a total of 100,000,000 shares were issued under @ KR=-ZTE=_—FX<B+H" ?ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ%:g
general mandate pursuant to the subscription agreement dated 1 June Z—FANA—BNRBHERE— ?QT’EE
2021. The net proceed of approximately HK$29.2 million was used for 774 $£100,000,000 A% §% 15 FfHE' £/

working capital for resumption of production of the Company.

FEA20. 2B B TEREAR TTEEE’]
EERe -
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29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was adopted
on 20 December 2012 for a period of 10 years. The purpose of
the Scheme is to enable the Group to grant options to the eligible
participants as incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Group.
Under the Scheme, the directors may, at their sole discretion, grant
to any eligible participants options to subscribe for ordinary shares of
the Company at the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares of the
Company as stated in the daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange
on the date of the offer of grant, which must be a business day; (ii)
the average closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in
the daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of the offer of grant; and (i) the
nominal value of the shares. The offer for a grant of share options may
be accepted within 21 days from the date of the offer, upon payment of
a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise
period of the share options granted is determinable by the directors
and in any event not later than 10 years from the date of grant of share
options, subject to the provisions for early termination thereof.

The maximum number of shares to be allotted and issued upon the
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Group
must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the relevant class of shares of
the Company in issue from time to time. The total number of shares
which may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the Scheme is an amount equivalent to 10% of the
shares of the Company in issue as at the date of the extraordinary
general meeting held on 20 December 2012.

Share options do not confer rights to the holders to dividends or to
vote at shareholders’ meetings.

20, BRETE

ARRR—F——F+- A=+ RRA/H
106 2 R i =t &8I ([ 4T &1 )) - %etdlz
BRAEAREERSERSEERNER
8 EREEHAEEEL ERNZ R0
o RIFZATE > EEU2EBBERENS
ERSEEROBRE - RO BN
RIRERHERES B (WAREER)EH
R BRERABLRTE ()RR
REEFRERHBREZAMNAEZXAE
B E R RERMBTFHETE - K
BhEE=EFRE2ERRBARA LR
I o BREA R E2 R A BE21AR
B ARARREMARINEH1IELZ
SKEARE - FIREBEEZTEHRES
BEE EABRPRLZATERART - £E
S5 TR th BB i B BT RH10F Ak
R o

TR Bz 8 R A E B R H AR T
BIE B 8 R T 2 AR T T R S T
B RET RO EEEE @ EHTEZRN
A B B B TAERERE BB 2 30% © 1R
BRZET B 2 F7E M AR e 1 T A T A
B NEITZ RN BE - BERERRERRIAR
eAMBHE T ——F+-_A=+HZAR
AIE BTN EE U10% ©

R B TRA A Z R BN ERA
BREZHERN -
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29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 20, MBS RESTE(m)
Details of the specific categories of options are as follows: BRE ZSESEFMRAT
Option A Option B
BREA fBREB
Grant date 24 December 2018 3 November 2020
K AH —E—)\F+-_A=+mH —ZT-ZTF+—H=H
Vesting period 24 December 2018 3 November 2020
(Note (a))
558 B (P E(a)) —E-N\F+-ZA=+WMH —E-TF+—H=H
Exercise period 24 December 2018 to 3 November 2020 to
23 December 2021 2 November 2023
1T —E-N\F+ZAZTHEZE —EZF+—HA=RZE
T —F+-HZ-+=H —E=F+—HA=H
Exercise price at date of grant 0.325 0.380
PR BB ITEE
Price of the Company’s shares at the date of grant 0.325 0.380
(Note (b))

ARARBLRE B #Z B (PR (0))

Notes: BT

(a) The vesting period of the share options is from the date of the grant until (@) B BB ARL BEE/TE A
the commencement of the exercise period. 1HEAR] -

(o)  The price of the Company’s shares disclosed as at the date of the grant (o) ARRRMDRERERL B BREEZ B
of the share options is the higher of the closing price of the shares of the AR TR AL AR E R B 2 i (E
Company on the date of grant of the share options and the average Stock R BB AR B AR A 2 B R
Exchange closing price for the five business days immediately preceding RETREHUTTERE 2R SE

the date of the grant of the share options.
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29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

20, MBS RESTE(m)

At 30 June 2021, 171,500,000 share options (2020: 165,180,000
share options) remains outstanding under the Scheme, representing
11% (2020: 12%) of the ordinary shares of the Company in issue at
that date. The Scheme allows the directors of the Company, when
offering the grant of any option, to impose any condition including any
performance target which must be met before the option shall vest and
become exercisable. The share options granted so far by the Company
have been imposed with just a service condition. The exercise price
is determined by the directors of the Company, and will not be less
than the highest of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares on
the date of grant and (i) the average closing price of the shares for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of grant. HK$1 is
payable by each eligible participant to the Company on acceptance of
an offer of options, to be paid within 1 month from the date of the offer.

The movement of share options granted and
weighted average exercise prices of share
options

M-ZE-——FNA=+8  ZFEE M)
171,500,000 ERRE(ZZT T F
165,180,000 ¥ A% ) i KT - MEER
AARRZBEEITEBRZ 11%(Z2=
TFE 1 12%) - ZRTEINHARRAIEFTHE
B (] BE AR RS BT IRl IR - BIER
BIERE LK ATEREEEERNRE
BiZ - AQ 8 B AR 2 BAEEN N — 18
BRISIEM - ITEBRAARESETE - kA
MERUA T REE AR R RMDNRE D B &
2 YT 1B R (i B AR A BB 3% S B A A {5
¥HZFHRTE - SEERLHEEBERE
MEREZHRAANAR I MBS ITRERE
HBERBET—E AR ©

E % i B IR % B8 IR M 0 #E 7 13
TEEZ22S

Director Employee
= &8
Weighted Weighted
Number of average  Number of average
share exercise share exercise
options price options price
MR g B ¥
#A TEE A TEE
HKS HKS
BT BT
Outstanding at 1 July 2019 R-ZE—NF+B—BEKTE 21,560,000 0.328 151,120,000 0.330
Exercised during the year REFITE = - (7,500,000) 0.325
Outstanding at 30 June 2020 and ~ R=ZE=ZTF X A=1+HEK 21,560,000 0.328 143,620,000 0.330
1 July 2020 ZETHE L A —HRRTE
Granted during the year REEFHRM 64,500,000 0.380 65,000,000 0.380
Exercised during the year REEZITE - - (71,280,000) 0.338
Lapsed during the year REZEY (21,560,000 0.328 (30,340,000 0.345
Outstanding at 30 June 2021 MNZZE-—FNA=TBEATE 64,500,000 0.380 107,000,000 0.352
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29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The share options outstanding at 30 June 2021 have exercise prices
ranging from HK$0.325 to HK$0.380 per option (2020: HK$0.31 to
HK$0.345) and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 1.75

years (2020: 0.94 years).

20, MBS RESTE(m)

REZFZ—FNA=FTHEARTEEREZ
TEEN TS HEARE0.325%5 L £0.380/%
T(ZZE-FF : 0.318LE0.345/TT) &
MEFHHRTENFRRI175F(ZE=F
£ 1 0.94%) o

For share options granted during the year ended 30 June 2021, the RREBEZT_—F A A=THLEFERD

share options were measured at fair value at grant date with reference Zﬁﬁﬂxﬁéﬁ‘ﬂ = Eﬁﬂx@éhﬁiﬂj BHiZ AFE

to a valuation report prepared by Ample Appraisal Limited, calculated FrE ERRXZERFTEERARGBRE M

using Binomial Pricing Model with the following key assumptions: BEREWEA BN EERETE - AT
FRAMBERERNT

24 December 3 November

2018 2020

—E-N\F —EC-EF

+=A=+mWmA +—A=H

Option A Option B

BIRREA BB EB

Share price AR (B 0.325 0.380

Exercise price IE(E 0.325 0.380

Expected volatility (note below) FEERR B (T 3P EE) 85% 65%

Expected options life TEHARE A% o HA 3 years 3% 3 years 34

Expected dividends TEHARR S 0% 0%

Risk-free interest rate (per annum) [R\ & F) R (=4 ) 1.869% 0.155%

Fair value of a share option at grant date BRERE T BB ATE 0.0314  0.1421-0.1592

Note: The expected volatility is based on the historic volatility based on
data available for the past 1.5 years. Changes in the subjective input
assumptions could materially affect the fair value estimates.

The total expense recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 30
June 2021 in respect of the Scheme amounted to HK$19,505,000

(2020: Nil).

Share options were granted with a service condition. This condition has

it - AR B AR BE SFAFEERZE
SERENAERE o BB ABBRKED K
= éTZ\\:’:{E,{éD-I-FEE% e o

BHE_ZT - —F X A=THLFEHZTE
KB = ER 2 S % &19,505,000/% T
(ZFZFF :F) -

R 2 R MRS (R AT - CERIRBR
R BHZ AT ERTERG ARG - Bk

not been taken into account in the grant date fair value measurement of
the services received. There were no market conditions associated with
the share option grants.

R AT TS R
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30. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND  30. XA R ZBBR R T R #IES
MOVEMENT OF RESERVE OF THE COMPANY )

(a) Statement of financial position of the (a) AT ZHMBEAMRE
Company
2021 2020
—E_—F —EFF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5E FET T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KB AR ZIEE 22 17,935 17,935

Current assets

Due from subsidiaries EQ AIFKIE 684,090 610,311

it ek S5
s

Ao = Eﬁ]@l
i

Other receivables H (o el 2018 20,000
Amount due from the nglﬁligltﬁ?é\)\@ﬁﬁ?%
deconsolidated subsidiary B 45 32,000 -

Bank and cash balances 1T RIS 4 7,531 1,854
743,621 612,165

TOTAL ASSETS HEE 761,556 630,100

Capital and reserves BRA R #E

Share capital 7R 28 160,371 133,993

Reserves 1 30(b) (752,039) (715,231)

TOTAL EQUITY RS (591,668) (681,238)

Non-current liabilities FREBEE

Convertible bond AR S5 38 45,339 -

Bonds payable ERHES 36 635,596 975,627
680,935 975,627

Current liabilities DR

Due to subsidiaries BB ARRE | 219,449 219,458

Other payables and accruals HLAth & {5 5K0R e B RO 2,652 3,612

Bonds payable ERES 36 450,188 12,641
672,289 235,711

TOTAL LIABILITIES FER=R 1,353,224 1,211,338

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES #EZKERE 761,556 630,100

NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEERE 71,332 376,454

TOTAL ASSETS LESS BEERRBAR

CURRENT LIABILITIES 89,267 394,389

DEFICIENCY IN CAPITAL B (591,668) (581,238)

Signed on its behalf by: HATATIRAZE

Chan Yuk Foebe Law Tze Ping Eric

RE EBFE

Chairman Execuz‘/ve Director
FE

HITE
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30. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND  30. KA T 2B RER EES

MOVEMENT OF RESERVE OF THE COMPANY E[¢ )
(Continued)
(b) Reserves movement of the Company (b) EARZREEE
Share  Convertible
Share option  bonds equity Other Accumulated
premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total
BRE  TARES
KipaE 53] R ittt ZiER @5t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT THT THL TAL TATL TAT

At July 2019 R-Z-NEt+A-H 59,121 11,088 - 87 (554,316) (483,120)
Loss for the year AEEEE - - - = (233,798) (233,798)
Exercise of share option 17 1,687 (236) - - 236 1,687
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMBAT - - - 87) 87 -
At 30 June 2020 i s
~NAZTHE 60,808 11,752 - - (787,791) (715,231)
Loss for the year TEEER - - - = (142,452) (142,452)
Grant of option RinfE - 19,505 - - - 19,505
Exercise of share option 1TfE R 21,801 (4,832) - = = 16,969
Lapsed of share option RRERY = (7,040) = = 7,040 -
Issue of convertiole bonds ~ B{TATARRES - - 34,085 - = 34,065
Conversion of convertible  EHARIER &
bonds 28,347 - (12,604) - - 15,743
Placing of shares =) 19,362 - - - - 19,362
At 30 June 2021 R-B-—F

~A=1H 130,318 19,385 21,461 = (923,203) (752,039)
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31. RESERVES
(@) Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein
are presented in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income and consolidated statement of changes in equity.

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves of the Group

Share option reserve represents the fair value of the actual
or estimated number of unexercised share options granted
to employees and business associates of the Group
recognised in accordance with the accounting policy
adopted for equity-settled share-based payments in note
5(p) to the financial statements.

Exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with
in accordance with the accounting policies set out in note
5(e) to the financial statements.

Other reserve represents the fair value of the contingent
consideration for acquisition on 100% issued share capital
in Xinyang Maojian International Holding Limited.

Convertible bonds equity reserve represents the value
of unexercised equity component of convertible bonds
issued by the Company recognised in accordance with the
accounting policy adopted for convertible bonds.

31. f#fE

(@) &~K£H
AEBZFESBEREEHNGE S
HRAKR KR EBHKRET)

(b) AEEREZHEER AR

BRERERERELVBERER
B FES () AR A A8 B2 B AR 93K
FRIER TR - HRAKE
BEREBHMEANTERHR
TEBREERKGETHREZ
RNFAE -

SMNERERE S A RREFI
EBMBRRMEL 2 ERZ
B o &I TOAR IR A 7 SRR MY
AE5(e)PTBM SRR IE

H iR WBESRERER
EERBERARZAE HITHRA
HAREZRFE -

Ak ESERREEIARAR
BT AT AR B S R 1T R AR
AREHWEE - ERBEH AR
PRARZFER AR & ST BURFERR ©
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32. TRADE PAYABLES

The Group normally obtains credit terms ranging from 30 to 120 days

33.

(2020: 30 to 120 days) from its suppliers.

The ageing analysis of trade payables, based on the date of receipt of

T FFR

32. BNESZKREA

AEE-REHERNS TIOE120B(=F

—ZT4F : 3021200 ) 2 1E

B 5 RAIRE W E m B B2 2 Rk D

goods, is as follows: Mranr
2021 2020
—E-—fF —ECEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FBT FAT
Within 30 days 30HA 8,264 7,317
31 to 60 days 31Z260H 279 5,640
61 to 90 days 61290H 513 1,395
91 to 120 days 91&2120H 3,910 304
121 to 365 days 121%2365H 5,976 17,165
Over 365 days HB#8365H 33,135 23,572
At end of year FR 52,077 55,393
OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 33. HhEEFIE R EERTFIE
2021 2020
—EB--F —EFTF
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FBT FAT
Other payables H b fEATRIE 558,818 354,813
Accruals FERTFRIE 64,800 18,022
Deposit (note) e (M) 30,067 -
Contract liabilities received from customers EREFPHEHNEE
— Heat and power —HEERE S 9,135 9,136
— Calcium carbide —ix{Ei5 3,267 2,392
— Construction services —BiER 879 660
666,966 385,023
Less: Other payables for repayment more than  J& : BB 121E A M E 0 B FRIBE R
12 months (show under non-current (PIESEREN B 1E)
liabilities) - (175,204)
666,966 209,819

For the contract liabilities at 30 June 2020, the entire balances are
recognised as revenue during the year ended 30 June 2021.

Note: The deposits of HK$30,067,000 was non-refundable and represented the
deposit received from the disposal of 40% equity interest in Mudanjiang

Better-Day Power Limited.

RIB-RFERA=THZEHNEEMS -
PEEBREBE T —FA=1THIEF

Mf3E : 30,067,000/ TR e A AT RE - KF
B EH T ERRE G R A R40%M% 4

PRI S ©
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34. OTHER LOANS 34, HWEF
Contractual Contractual
rate 2021 rate 2020
EHRE —TB-—F BHFE ZZ-TF
% HK$’000 % HK$'000
FHET FAL
Secured HK$ loan HEBETER 18% 35,000 18% 35,000
Secured RMB loan BEBARKER 12%-24% 33,676 12%-24% 30,716
68,676 65,716
As at 30 June 2021, the other loans are secured by the pledge of the RZZEZ—F"A=+H ' HWEFUXE
Group’s fixed assets and right-of-use assets (2020: fixed assets and EEEEERERABEEE(ZZ 224 :
right-of-use assets). Details of which are disclosed in their respective EEEREAREE)EER - FERER
notes. HEBHMEE -
All other loans are repayable within one year from drawdown date. FrEHmEFEMNRIR AR —FREE -
35. BANK LOANS 35. RITER
The Group’s bank loans are repayable as follows: REE ZRITEFRBER N AAREER
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FTHET FAT
Within one year —FR 42,885 48,527
In the second year FF 2,778 2,725
In the third to fifth years inclusive FE=FEZFELF(BEERWF) 8,692 8,526
Atfter five years ik 4,811 7,526
59,166 67,304
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 B 1218 B AZEER 2 58
months (shown under current liabilities) GIERBEE) (42,885) (48,527)

16,281 18,777
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35. BANK LOANS (Continued) 35. SRITER @)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s bank loans are denominated in REERITERZEEABEDNATIER A2

the following currencies:

fir -

2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Hong Kong dollars BT 19,001 21,446
RMB AREE 40,165 45,858
59,166 67,304
2021 2020
—EB-—F ZE-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHx FAT

Analysed as: DA
Secured [EEig 26,217 30,053
Unsecured Figiigti 32,949 37,251
59,166 67,304




168

Xinyang Maojian Group Limited Annual Report 2021

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

for the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z=ZF =

35. BANK LOANS (continued)

Movement of bank loans is as follows:

A ISR R M ()

—FENA=FHIFFE

35. SRITE ()
BARRBHIT :

2021 2020

—E-—fF —ECEF

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FBT FHTT

As at 1 July RntEA—H 67,304 73,843
Repayment =X8] (12,297) (4,898)
Proceeds FrfS5k18 6,000 -
Deconsolidation of subsidiary BIHEE ARIER (6,000) =
Exchange difference ER%%E 4,159 (1,641)
59,166 67,304

As at 30 June 2021, the Group had aggregate outstanding bank loans HA_ T —FA=1H AEENRES
of HK$26,217,000 (2020: $30,053,000) secured by a property of the R1T 478 526,217,000 L ( —Z B =&
Group. & 30,053,000,%7z> IAZRER B 8 — I8 Y)

The Group’s bank loans were at fixed-rate interest ranged from 5.65 to
12% (2020: 5.65 to 12%) and variable-rate interest ranged from Hong
Kong prime rate less 2.9% (2020: Hong Kong prime rate less 2.9%) per

36.

ES (S

AEENRITERTFZRN T5.66E12%H)
BEME(ZE_ZF : 565F12%) K&
B REEMNRF2.I%HFHHER(—E-F

annum. F : BAKEEFERR2.9%)5E ©
Amounts of HK$32,949,000 are matured at 30 June 2021 (2020: nil). 32, 949 OOO/%EB"_E_ FRA=1THE
BONDS PAYABLE 36. EES
The movement of the bonds payable is as follows: JEESH 2 ZEanT ¢
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHT FAT
At beginning of year REA 988,268 906,361
Interest charge for the year FAMEFRX 109,321 98,606
Interest paid for the year FAZRHEFE (9,805) (5,449
Redemption of bonds fEEl &5 (2,000) (11,250)
At the end of year RER 1,085,784 088,268
During the year ended 30 June 2021, the Group and the Company did REE —FXRNA=Z+RHILEFE &%

not issued any corporate bonds (2020: Nil).

l&$ Tjrﬁ?é‘fﬂ%ﬁm%ﬁ%(igi
TE R



FEEREERRAT

T FFR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

A ISR R M ()

for the year ended 30 June 2021 #Z —E——FNA=+HIFFZ

36. BONDS PAYABLE (continued)

The Group’s undiscounted cash flow of outstanding bonds were

36. EHESHum)
AR ER IR Y KBRS /AR T 5 R

repayable as follows: Ep
2021 2020
—E-—F ZETF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHERT FAT
Within one year R—FR 487,299 12,641
In the second to fifth years inclusive FFEFAF(REEEMT) 932,057 1,192,277
After five years hFE 30,500 245,550
1,449,856 1,450,468

The bonds payables are unsecured and interest bearing at coupon

rates ranging from 3% to 12%.

The bonds payable are measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method, and the effective rates are ranging from 2.2% to
18.92% p.a. (2020: 2.2% to 18.92% p.a.) after taking into account the
transaction costs directly attributable to the issuance of the bonds.

Amounts of HK$8,840,000 are matured at 30 June 2021 (2020: nil).

37. LEASE LIABILITIES

EREFREBEERIZREENFIEE2
EEtR -

FEHES AR R ALE R AT E - &
S ERBTESEEEG R ERBEERF
FENFR22EF18.RE (=TT :
FERNRNF22EE18.92F) o

8,840,000 B TR ER T = —F K~ A
=t+HIP(—E_TF : F) -

37. HHESE

2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FHER FAT
Lease liabilities payable: ERNHEEAE
Within one year —FN 2,275 1,975
Within a period of more than one year —F LA LB FRHE N E ) HAfE
but not more than two years 1,483 2,275
Within a period of more than two years RS LA _EB R 3R 1 4 /9 HAA
but not more than five years - 1,483
3,758 5,733
Less: Amount due for settlement with B mBBEBETARRI2EARN
12 months shown under current liabilities EEENSE (2,275) (1,979)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months B A REIE FARMA21E A&
shown under non-current liabilities IEEEN SR 1,483 3,758

The incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities is 15.18%. All
lease obligation that is denominated in functional currency.

HERBRANEEFENER15.18% °
PEHEREREESHE -
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38. CONVERTIBLE BONDS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

38. IEARES

2021
—E-—F
HK$’000
FHET
Liability component =Nis:iba
Liability component of convertible bonds RZZE_ZTF+— A+ = ABITIREHERA
issued on 13 November 2020 measured SRR IRRES G (K@)
at amortised costs (note (a)) 45,339
Total liability component of convertible bonds ARRES BB HERE 45,339
Less: Amounts shown under current liabilities B RBBEMT R -
Amounts shown under non-current liabilities JEmEAEF RS 45,339
Equity component EEED
Equity component of convertible bonds issued RZZZFF+— A+ =AETHAIRRKES
on 13 November 2020 (note (a)) Rz E D (MI3E(a)) 21,461

(@)

Convertible bonds issued on 13 November 2020 containing liability
and equity component (“CB 2021”)

On 13 November 2020, the Company issued CB 2021 with an aggregate
principal amount of HK$100,000,000 with zero coupon rate.

The major terms of CB 2021 are as follows:

)

(i)

The bondholders of CB 2021 have the right to convert all or
any portion of CB 2021 into shares of the Company at the
conversion price of HK$0.4 (subject to anti-dilutive adjustments).
The conversion rights can be exercised at any time on or after
13 November up to five days (excluding a Saturday) on which
banks generally open for normal banking business in Hong Kong
(“Business Days”) prior to the third anniversary of the date of issue.

The Company may at any time from the issue date to the maturity
date, having given not less than 10 Business Days’ notice to the
bondholders, redeem all or some of the convertible bonds on the
day fixed for redemption at such amount equivalent to 100% of the
outstanding principal amount of CB 2021 (“Issuer’s Redemption
Option”).

(a)

REB-2F+-A+T=AR/THTRRK
EHEEARARERERS (-2 =—F7
BB )

RZBZZE+—A+=0 RAARHET
A& 4 F /100,000,000 THERE =

(i)

——FARRESE R

—F AR ES o

fERsRan R

—ZFABRRESNESFE
ABRRIBREBOAETH — T ——
F R AE 5 2 BB S AR AR 2 BB i
RAR BB (AT REEH
) - mlkEAR T —AT=HxX
ZIRBERHTRARE=BFAAA
(REIRBRIN) - ERERTAREH
FIETT —RIRITEBMR T ([=%
H DBERTHE -

ZiN/N ﬂT#%ﬁH%EW%H%ﬁ
FERs BB AERIF A AR LD
10fE2ZBHEM - t@;a%m
AIE Ry 2 Esk 20D AT AR & -
SHEASREREE T ——Fq
HRES A S E8100% ([ 31T AEE
) e
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38. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

THIFE

38. TR ES @)

(a)

Convertible bonds issued on 13 November 2020 containing liability
and equity component (“CB 2021”) (Continued)

The CB 2021 contains two components, the liability and equity
components. The initial fair value of the two components was determined
based on gross proceeds at issuance. The initial fair value of the liability
component was estimated to be HK$65,935,000 as at 13 November
2020 (date of issue) using the residual method, taking into account
the terms and conditions of the CB 2021, based on the valuation
undertaken by an independent professionally qualified valuer. The fair
value of the Issuer’'s Redemption Option on the date of initial recognition
are considered insignificant based on the valuation results. The liability
component is subsequently measured at amortised cost using effective
interest rate method. The effective interest rate of the liability component
of the CB 2020 is 14.90% per annum. The residual amount representing
the value of the equity component of HK$34,065,000, was presented in
equity under the heading “convertible bonds equity reserve”.

(a)

R-ZE_ZF+-A+=BRTWATERR
BHFEsEERERSAI([=S=—F7q

BRES ) (&)
_T_—E—Hﬁ FEZEEMEEDS » B
BERERES - W Z%)Jﬁ”‘if%l‘

E*Eﬁ*ﬁﬂ%ﬁﬁ%%%ﬁémééfzm Rn=

—EF+—A+=A(FTEH) - &H”EE
B EESERHEMETHMHE - KA
BEXTESER T - —FaBRES
ZIERRIGEH - BB D 2B AT ERY
5T 465,935,000/ 7T  RIEGHELR - &
TABRERTZ R A SN AFET T
B BEHDEEFEAERARER
BEERKAGTE - T -TEABKRESA
BH D 2 ERFEFEAE14.90% o FltrEE
%E.f“/\* > 2 {B1{E34,065,0005 7T + T3
EmA TRRESERFEEIT27)

As at 30 June 2021, the outstanding principal amount of CB 2021 was RZZE-_—FA=+H ' —F=_—%F7
HK$63,000,000. % 1E 5 B K (8 18 2N € %8 463,000,00075
ol
The movement of liability component and equity component of CB 2021 HE_T-_—FA=1THILFE =%
for the years ended 30 June 2021 is set out below: = —ETW’ RIEFHEER D EE RIS
B BRI
Liability Equity
Component Component
(At amortised (Residual
cost) amount)
SEHD BB
(RBHRA) (€15 -))
HK$'000 HK$’000
FHETT FHsT
At 13 November 2020 (date of issue) RZZ-TF+—A+=H(FTHH) 65,935 34,065
Interest accrued fE aJrﬂE\ 4,397 =
Convertible bonds exercised BITE TR ES (24,993 (12,604)
At 30 June 2021 RZEZ—FA=+H 45,339 21,461
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39. BUSINESS COMBINATION

Acquisition of Aevitas Wines Limited

On 16 October 2020, Prosper Path Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into a sale and purchase agreement with an
independent third party vendor to acquire 70% entire equity interest
of Aevitas Wines Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong,
at a cash consideration of HK$8,400,000. Aevitas Wines Limited
are principally engaged in trading and sourcing of wine and related
accessories. The acquisition was completed on 19 October 2020.

The non-controlling interests in Aevitas Wines Limited recognised at the
acquisition date was measured with reference to the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the fair value of net assets of Aevitas
Wines Limited at that date.

Since the acquisition, the acquired entity contributed HK$7,987,000 to
the Group’s revenue and HK$5,723,000 to the Group’s loss after tax
for the year ended 30 June 2021.

Had the above business combinations taken place at the beginning
of the year, the Group’s revenue and loss after tax for the year would
have been HK$236,571,000 and HK$460,707,000 respectively.
The proforma information is for illustrative purposes only and is not
necessarily an indication of the total revenue and loss after tax of the
Group that actually would have been achieved had the acquisition
been taken place at the beginning of the year, nor is intended to be a
projection of future results.

30. ¥%56t

W B&Aevitas Wines Limited
MN-ZE-_ZTFE+A+E  ARAIZEHNE
‘A Al Prosper Path Limited 82 — 8 % 37 55 =
FBHIMEE i - WEES SRR
#) A & Aevitas Wines Limited #)70% % 4
15 % (B 48,400,000/ 7T ° Aevitas Wines
Limited E ZHEAMHE ERIKE - BB
RZT=_TF+A+NATK -

T Ug B8 & B #E iR Aevitas Wines Limited # 3E
TREfE S 0 J92%E Aevitas Wines Limited7E
ERHEEFEN QT EMEIEERERAL
BIEtE -

BUER BE-_ZT-_—FA=+H
IEFE BUREEEAAEEFER K&
7,987,000/ 7T + W AN KB RGBT R ES
185,723,000/ 7T °

e L EBEHRFENET A5 E
RZEENREERREBEEED A
236,571,0007% 7T F1460,707,00075 7T © 4
ZERMEHFRACA T —EBTAEEE
FUBETTIE R B E R AR e R TR
BB - NEEERBREETRA -
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39. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued) 39. ¥i& 0t
Acquisition of Aevitas Wines Limited (Continued) U BB Aevitas Wines Limited (&)
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the subsidiaries REBEE_Z-_—FA=Z1THLEE  Frlk
acquired during the year ended 30 June 2021 as at its respective dates BB ARTNAENEERAGBEESR
of acquisition is set out below: W H B A FEHS AT ¢
Aevitas Wines
Limited
HK$’000
FAT
Inventories ZEA=] 582
Trade receivables FEUE SRR 13,020
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FERIFRE -~ 5] REAMEUGRIA 18,239
Bank and cash balances RITRRE T 40
Trade payables FERTE 5 E8RIA (137)
Other loans EMER (35,000)
Total identifiable net liabilities at fair value DAFEF AR FAEETE (3,256)
Goodwill arising on acquisitions WEEEEMmE 10,679
Non-controlling interests FEE IR A 977
Total consideration wRE 8,400
Consideration satisfied by: HUATAXNZARE :
Cash consideration paid BEffRERE 8,400
Net cash outflow arising from the acquisitions: WBEENRSREFE !
Cash consideration paid BEfESNRE (8,400)
Cash and cash equivalent acquired FrEmIR € IR EEY 40

(8,360)
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40. DECONSOLIDATION OF A SUBSIDIARY

During the year ended 30 June 2021, the Group acquired 70% equity
interest in Aevitas Wines Limited (the “Deconsolidated Subsidiary”), a
company incorporated in Hong Kong and principally engaged in trading
and sourcing of wine and related accessories (the “Acquisition”).

Since May 2021, the sole director of the Deconsolidated Subsidiary,
being the vendor of the Acquisition and held 30% equity interest in
the Deconsolidated Subsidiary after the Acquisition, did not cooperate
with the management of the Group to maintain the appropriate
internal control over the Deconsolidated Subsidiary and provide all
books and records of the Deconsolidated Subsidiary. In preparing the
Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June
2021, despite various communications with the sole director of the
Deconsolidated Subsidiary, the directors of the Company was unable
to obtain sufficient and appropriate books and records regarding
to the financial statements of the Deconsolidated Subsidiary. The
directors of the Company considered that the Company was unable to
exercise effective control over the Deconsolidated Subsidiary despite
various efforts made by the directors of the Company to resolve the
matters. Accordingly, the directors of the Company resolved that
it was impracticable to consolidate the financial information of the
Deconsolidated Subsidiary. Under this circumstance, the financial
results, assets and liabilities have been deconsolidated from the
Group with effective from 30 June 2021 (the “Deconsolidation”). The
Deconsolidation had resulted in a loss of approximately HK$4.4 million.

Subsequent to 30 June 2021, the Company has entered into the sale
and purchase agreement with the sole director of the Deconsolidated
Subsidiary to dispose of the Deconsolidated Subsidiary with cash
consideration of HK$3.8 million.

For the preparation of the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 30 June 2021, the Group had consolidated the financial results,
assets and liabilities of the Deconsolidated Subsidiary from the date
of incorporation of the respective Deconsolidated Subsidiary up to 30
June 2021 based on an unaudited management information received.

40. R IEERE ABRME A F

AEBRBE-_E-—&FA=1THIE
E - WEREBFMKY EERBEH
H & KR ) Aevitas Wines Limited ([ 48 1
RE ANRMEB AR ) M70%M#E ([ EE
) e

WHEETRZ - WBETENE TS - BIRILEGRS
ANEMB AR —EEF AR IRA AR
MEARIM30%KE  ME-—T-—Fh
AU - BARARAEEEREAE 18
IHRA ASRME A R E E r N RRERE
TABRER LA ARMBRRMA K
BRREE  RNREAEBEEE_T_—FX
H=TRBLFENFAMBRREM - AR
AIEFE L LR IHRE ARNB AR
ME—EE  ERERK LS ARRKTEA
B TS 3R IS R 59 OB E R E ) A2
8o AREEERR  BERFEZHEA
FORMRE - BARREDAREEH K LRA AR
MERRITEARES MARBESZ
R RIS AR B A R R I B E R
BARTYERT - ERIBERT - ARES
TR FRA=THR - RIEEEBME
B BEMBERAARIRKLESZEAA
fRD) - BRI A ARBBERN448E8E
T o

RZFZ—FNA=1H% ARABHEK
LHREAEHBARMNE—EE L B S
o UHERIEGAARKBAR  Baf
BA3.8EEBT °

MREAEE T —FNA=THLFEZ
REMBHRENS - ASEERIBATWE S
REEZERBERER RS ARMEBA
AIRR IR AE AR B A RS A B
HEE T - —FA=+HIEMNUHKE
1B BERBGBLRAANE -



175
FHEEREBRRLAE —T——FFH

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
RS B R AR I ()

for the year ended 30 June 2021 2 —F ——# NH=+HIFF/Z

40. DECONSOLIDATION OF A SUBSIDIARY 40. & IEZEE ARME 2 T @)

(Continued)
The following is the financial information of the Deconsolidated Likira ARKB A —ZEZ—FRA
Subsidiaries as at 30 June 2021: =+H E!’\JEM%QHZZDT :

HK$’'000

FAT

Goodwill Bk 10,679
Inventories 75 854
Trade receivables FEWE S ERR 1,459
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables AR « e REAERGRIA 45243
Bank and cash balances RIT RIS R 510
Amount due to the Company JE AR R FRIE (32,000)
Other payables and accruals E A RIE R ERTE A (238)
Other loans HEMER (18,807)
Bank loans RITER (6,000)
Net assets of the Deconsolidated Subsidiary LR E ARIEBARNEEFE 1,700
Non-controlling interests FEFE R i A 2,694
Loss on Deconsolidation KRS AR ETE 4,394
Transactions had been carried out by the Deconsolidated Subsidiary BHE_Z-_—FA=THLFERILGE
for the year ended 30 June 2021 are as follow: )\EEM’H% NEFTETR ST ¢

HK$’'000

FAT

Revenue Weas 7,987
Cost of sales SHER AR (2,045)
Gross profit EAH 5,942
Other income and other gains or losses E AU A R E At Y 5 Sk S 1 (4,443)
Selling and distribution costs SHEE K D SHBCA (12)
Administrative expenses TR (7,127)
Loss from operations KB EE (5,640)
Finance costs BTSN (48)
Loss before tax FR7 RIS 1 (5,688)
Income tax expense Fiisfimx (35)

Loss for the year FAEE (6,723)
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41. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

—FENA=FHIFFE

On 12 February 2020, in view of the profit guarantee set out in the
Share Agreement and the supplement agreements entered on 11 June
2018 and 9 October 2019 (together the “Existing Agreements”) was
not met, Prosper Path entered into a termination agreement with the
Vendor, pursuant to which the parties had agreed, among others, to
terminate the Existing Agreements and Prosper Path exercised the put
option in relation to the Sale Share at an exercise price of HK$1. Upon
the exercise of the put option, Xinyang Maojian International Holding
Limited and its subsidiaries ceased to be subsidiaries of the Group and
the Group recorded a loss on disposal of approximately HK$5,505,000

41. HEMBATE

RZFZTF_A+=H ARDRIR=F
—N\EXA+—BE=Z—hE+ANBZ]
SRR D1 R s (AT R A
Fr & 890 A HE (R I R ZAX  Prosper Path £
BRI Bt SETOFRE
(HA 83F) 4R L35 B 3 K Prosper Path
LATTEE 1T T A B S E AR5 B R E EA
BE o TR ERRETE - (EF5ERBIBRIEAR

ERARKEMBARTHANEENWE
AR BT XATR - ASRESBHEER

as below. 495,505,000/ T °
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB AR ZEE
HK$’000
FHTT
Exercise of the put option TR HA =
Wavier of receivables due from the subsidiaries disposed — #A%EUE HEWEB A 7 2 fEWZIE (5,507)
Net liabilities of the subsidiaries disposed ERENBARZBEFE 6,078
Carrying amount of the put option exercised BT EE 2 BREE (6,351)
Release of exchange reserve 1IN E 155 275
(5,505)

* Less than HK$1,000

Details of assets and liabilities of the subsidiaries

disposed at the date of disposal

* AM,000% 7T

REERHEHENBARNE
EREEFE

HK$’'000

FAT

Property, plant and equipment W WE REE 14
Inventories Fe 6
Trade receivable JEUNE 5 8R1E 2,007
Prepayment, deposit and other receivables TEFIE © 512 REMEUEIR 1,637
Bank and cash balances RITRRESET 59
Accounts payable FE5RIE (2,652)
Other payables and accruals L {th FE A< FRE K B AT FRIE (7,149)
Net liabilities disposed HEZEBEFE (6,078)
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42. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

On 19 November 2012, China Electricity Construction Consultant n=
Group Dongbei Electricity Design College (translated from the Chinese

A ISR R M ()

—FNH=THIFFE

42, FREE

ZHF+—A+THhAB  PREHTIRR
EﬁFﬁﬁgiiE% Fatb([REDAPEE

name of FAEIE ) T2 R £ B ER 1L E 1% E1BT) (the “Plaintiff’) filed a EI4eSE AR ([ B IeE AR DIREE

writ (the “Writ”) at the high court of Heilongjiang Province in the PRC (the
“Heilongjiang High Court”) against Mudanjiang BD Power, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

Mudanijiang BD Power had contracted the Plaintiff to construct certain
coal-powered electricity generating facilities at the business address
of Mudanjiang BD Power (the “Contract”). Owing to the alleged delay
in the progress of the construction, the Plaintiff claimed (i) the payment
of the contract sum in the amount of approximately RMB42,700,000
and the interest thereon; (ii) the grant of the first priority right to
receive payment from Mudanjiang BD Power in respect of the subject
construction project under the Contract; (i) damages in the sum of
approximately RMB13,300,000 for alleged termination of the Contract;
and (iv) the legal fees arising from this legal case. The Company has
been seeking legal advice in respect of the Writ on the dispute in the
payment for the Contract since December 2012. According to the

HARFMRE2EMBRRMTERRE
ZZMR(TLH])

H T A2V A A TR RS
R B TR K EERMER TR T
RE(TAR]) - HRIERBERIREREHE
T BEBER()EINEAREBEAESHARE
42,700,0007T R EF B : (i) B FfHTE
BARERARE NEBERARREFUE
BARELE  (\ABEERLEAREESEY
AR %13,300,0007T K (V)4 ERFRE
EZFEER ARRIE_E——F1+_A
B—EREEARNRFERZSHEIAE
Z8 BEHNIERAEEIEE 58
—ETNFRAEIBE BRREAZHEER

management of Mudanjiang BD Power, the construction work had SZAFEERIBNEE  SERIE—HEE
been slowed down because the financial resources available for the 18 o

project development were tied up by unfavourable business operations

since 2009.

During the year ended 30 June 2019, the Heilongjiang High Court had HE_Z-—NFAA=THLFE ES’E/I

adjudged that Mudanjiang BD Power was liable to compensate the
Plaintiff of approximately RMB61,400,000. Upon the end of the year
ended 30 June 2021, Mudanjiang BD Power was negotiating with the
Plaintiff to continue the construction of the coal-powered electricity
generating facilities. Once performance of the Contract was resumed

SEEREHASHATERRERRARER
E#) AR #61,400,0007T - REBIZ T = —
FRAZTHLEFER HATERRER

EEITER - WBERRARBEERE
= ‘—ﬁ‘“fFiJ'r TERABEREETRET

under the mutual agreement between Mudanjiang BD Power and the IW'EJ?’ETT BB A 1L BEE R RE BN IR AN 2
Plaintiff, part of the damages granted may be absorbed in the cost of SRR o
construction.

The management has made sufficient provision for this legal claim and
believes that a favorable settlement could be reached with the Plaintiff.

43. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group’s capital commitments at the end of the reporting period are

EEREERIERRIGHET RS - 14
T B SR A RIS K -

43. BEREIE
RMERBEER @ AEBZEARREM

as follows: T:
2021 2020
—E-—F ZEZTF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FHEIT
Contracted but not provided for BRI 4B AR
Buildings and construction in progress BFERERTRE - 35,553
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44. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES 4. ETBHEE Z2EEEHK
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from TRFNASEREEDEEZABEY
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. (BRASEIIFReEEH) - MEEHELEZ
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows BEAHBESREEK SRR STER
were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated ERAEENLGERESRERADEARE
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities. mEBZREmECBE -
Liability Equity
component component
Other Bank Bonds  of convertible  of convertible Lease
loans loans payable bonds bonds liabilities Total
TERES aRES
HEH RITER Efif% a&ds Eads HEER @t
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thr Thr Thn Thn Thr Thr Thr
At 1 July 2019 RZZ-NEtA-A 28,263 73843 906,361 - - - 1,008,467
New lease entered TUHE - - - - - 6478 6478
Changes from financing cash flows ~ BERETiE 2% 38,433 4,89) (11,250) - - (745) 21,540
Exchange differences EXER (980) (1,641) - - - = (2,621)
Interest expenses fER% - - 98,606 - - 353 98,959
Interest paid classfied as operating ~ HEASERSREY
cash flows BfifIE - - (5,449 - - (353) (5,802)
At 30 June 2020 REB-ZERA=1H 85,716 67,304 968,268 - - 5733 1,127,021
Changes from financing cash flows ~ BRER£7ig 7% (16,193) (6,297) 2,000) 65,935 34,065 (1,975) 7353
Acqisition of a subsidlary WE-HHBAR 35,000 - - - - - 35,000
Deconsolidation RIHGA MR (18,807) 6,000 - - - - (24,807)
Exchange differences EXER 2,960 4,159 - - - - 7,119
Interest expenses HEHx - - 100,321 4,807 - 659 114377
Conversion to ordinary shares BRRLER - - - (24,999) (12,604) = (37,597)
Interest paid classfied as operating ~ SEASERSREY
cash flows BAifIE = - (9,809) - - (659) (10,464)
At 30 June 2021 KB4 A=1A 68,676 59,166 1,085,784 45,339 21,461 3,758 1,284,184
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45. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements,
the Group had the following transactions with related parties:

(a)

(b)

Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of directors and other members of key
management during the year was as follows:

45. BEALTRS

BER B MIEMARPTMEESN - NEE RS
ATHRZIT

(a) FEEEBEBAENFHNSFAE
FRN BEREMBEIBERERKEN
Han T -

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET FHIT
Short-term employee benefits EHEEEF 1,900 2,502
Share option benefits IR R T 10,269 =
Post-employment benefits BEER AT 33 39
12,202 2,541

Balance with related party (b) EEREEATHEER
Name of related party  Relationship Nature of balance 2021 2020
BEALHRE S ey —E-—F —T-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHT FHIT
Aevitas Wines Limited Deconsolidated subsidiary Current account (note) 32,000 =

BRIt ARMBLR  BIEAR(PHRD)

Note: The balance is unsecured, interest-free and recoverable on
demand.

MIGE : MEERREIIR - BRI E R
] o
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Extension of maturity date of the bonds

On 11 September 2013, Anglo Chinese Securities, Limited (the “Placing
Agent”) and the Company entered into a Placing Agreement pursuant
to which the Placing Agent has agreed to endeavour to procure
placees to subscribe for 7.5% coupon prepaid bonds of the Company
in an aggregate principal amount of up to HK$400,000,000 maturing
on 10 September 2021 (the “Bonds”).

Pursuant to the special resolutions of the holders of the Bonds and the
resolutions of the Board, each duly passed on 5 October 2021, the
maturity date of the Bonds was extended from 10 September 2021
to 10 September 2025; and the Bonds shall bear interest at the rate
of 7.5% per annum from 11 September 2021 to 10 September 2025;
and such interest shall accrue and be paid, together with the principal
amount of the Bonds, on the new maturity date, being 10 September
2025.

Placing of shares

On 3 September 2021, a total of 170,000,000 shares were issued
under general mandate pursuant to the subscription agreement dated
24 August 2021. The net proceed of approximately HK$41,000,000 will
be used for repayment of debts and general working capital.

APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the
Board of Directors on 29 October 2021.

46.

47.

BREMREH

ERESEHA
RZZE—=FNA+—H8 ES&ZFERA
AI([ELERE D EARRRI R E R - &
ﬁt EEEREREENREREAREAR
RNAEIMT7S%EETEMNER([EH])  £&
#4585 % /400,000,000 7T © R =
Z—FNAATHEH -

REZER
MEZSF A AR BIRS
BEFMIHEEH —_T_—FhA+BRER
E-RCRAFAATH BHERZT—F
NAT—BEZZ-_RFAA+HRFHNE
7.5%:T 8 A EHRFAEHEHA (BI=
TRFNAATH)  IREREEBEFAE
—HEft e

[ 4w

RZZBE=Z—FNA=H" 4 %170 000,000

BERHERERSHAS -_—F N \A=+TNH
A RIRIE R - LA —MREIERAT - PTISIE

JFREAI41,000,0008 i AR EEEB R —

REEE D ©

—F+HARREENXEB
ZARNEFERER

iyi

BEMBERR

MEBRRER T =
EEHAERRETE -

—FtHAZTNAARE
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